
Please ask for  Democratic Services: Telephone (01362) 656295
e-mail: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee - CABINET
Date & Time - TUESDAY, 21ST MARCH, 2017 AT 9.30 AM

Venue - NORFOLK & DEREHAM ROOMS, THE 
CONFERENCE SUITE, ELIZABETH 
HOUSE, DEREHAM

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 

available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee.

The Cabinet

Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S H Chapman-Allen (Vice-Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mrs A M Webb

PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE 
REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE TELEPHONES

Democratic Services 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Date: Friday, 10 March 2017

Public Document Pack





Cabinet
21 March 2017

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith

1. MINUTES 5 - 11

To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 7 February 2017.

2. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.  

3. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

4. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has 
a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

5. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the meeting.

6. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

7. BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING 
ITEM) 
To consider the grants put forward (if any).  

8. UNSIGHTLY SITES REPORT 12 - 15

Report of Executive Member Place, Paul Claussen.

9. Q3 PERFORMANCE REPORT 16 - 22

Report of Deputy Leader Executive Member Strategy, Governance & 
Transformation, Sam Chapman-Allen.

10. SWAFFHAM AIR QUALITY REPORT 23 - 130

Report of Executive Member People and Information, Alison Webb.

11. PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDERS 131 - 135

Report of Executive Member Place, Paul Claussen.



Cabinet
21 March 2017

12. YAXHAM NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 136 - 139

Report of Executive Member Growth, Gordon Bambridge.

13. NEXT MEETING 
To note that the date of the next meeting of Cabinet will be held on 25 April 
2017 and will be held in the Anglia Room, Elizabeth House, Dereham.

Page(s)
herewith



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

CABINET

Held on Tuesday, 7 February 2017 at 9.30 am in
Norfolk & Dereham Rooms, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S H Chapman-Allen (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr J.P. Cowen

Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou
Mrs A M Webb

Also Present
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mr D M Crawford
Mrs J. Hollis

Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mr J Newton

In Attendance
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & Governance
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 

Officer)
Ralph Burton - Strategic Property Manager (BDC)
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 Officer) 

(BDC)

Action By

15/17 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 3 January were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.

16/17 APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Councillors Bambridge, Claussen and 
Robinson.

17/17 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

18/17 BRECKLAND BRIDGE LTD BUSINESS PLAN 

The Executive Member Growth and Commercialisation presented the report 
to Members.  He explained that the submission of the updated business Plan 
had in part highlighted the need to consider the future direction, scope and 
focus of the partnership.  

5

Agenda Item 1



Cabinet
7 February 2017

2

Following discussion it was agreed that Members approved the Business 
Plan for 2017-2022.  

The Strategic Property Manager explained that previous work undertaken by 
Breckland Bridge had shown how the Council’s assets within Thetford could 
be utilised to revitalise the town moving forward.  Further work would be 
required to investigate this in more detail which was aprt of the 
recommendation to prepare the Thetford Town Asset Plan.

Members were prepared to engage in the discussion to create the Thetford 
Town Asset Plan, but asked to see evidence of the work required before 
releasing the budget

Options

Option 1

1. To approve the updated Breckland Bridge Ltd Business Plan for 2017-
2022 as set out in appendices A to D.

2. To agree the Bridge recommendation to initiate a project to create a 
Thetford Town Asset Plan and in doing so:
a) Provide up to £130,000 (spread over three years).
b) Delegate the release of the funds to the S.151 Officer subject to 

receiving satisfactory information on the project plan, delivery plan 
and expected outputs.

3. To agree in principle the Bridge recommendation to deliver a 
programme of minor development schemes in a 50/50 arrangement 
by:

a) Providing £82,500 as an initial equity share in the required subsidiary 
for the first three sites and £10,000 for legal and tax advice.

b) Agreeing the first three sites as Rougholme Close (Gressenhall), 
Glebe Road (Thetford) and Tottington Road (Thompson).

c) Subject to:
Legal advice confirming such an arrangement can be undertaken and 

if so delegate the release of the funds to the S.151 Officer subject to 
satisfactory receipt of the necessary tax advice and satisfactory returns 
from the first three sites.

Option 2

a) Cabinet does not recommend to Council to approve the updated 
Breckland Bridge Ltd initial Business Plan for 2017-2022 as set out in 
appendices A to D. 

b) Clause 26 of the Shareholders Agreement sets out the implications if 
the Council does not approve the updated Business Plan.  

c) Cabinet does not recommend to Council the initiation of a project to 
create a Thetford Town Plan.

d) Cabinet does not recommend to Council the recommendation to 
deliver a programme of minor development schemes.

Action By

6



Cabinet
7 February 2017

3

Reasons 

Overall performance of activity is good.  The Riverside project is now 
complete having started in 2015 and reaching completion in October 2015.  
Breckland Bridge Ltd successfully delivered this scheme on time and as per 
the authorised budget.  The second project, Mileham is nearing construction 
completion and house sales are progressing well.  The third project in 
Attleborough has been delayed due to the relocation of the adjacent school 
that use the Council’s land for recreation – but is still planned to be delivered 
within the first five year period of the partnership.  All project activity is due to 
complete by 2019 and therefore within the first 5 year period of the 
partnership as planned.

Subject to the risks identified which continue to be monitored the overall 
return to the Council is still positive in terms of regeneration and financial 
outturn.  

The intention of the partnership is to extend it beyond the initial Business 
Plan period and the updated Business Plan presented for approval is building 
the platform for that extension by continuing to prepare sites (where 
approved) for a development pipeline. Therefore there is still potential for 
more delivery and growth in the future.  This opportunity is not reflected in the 
updated Business Plan because outputs are limited to the three projects 
currently.

Members agreed an amendment to recommendation 2 to reflect their 
discussion to read: 

a) allocate the £130,000;
b) delegate the release of the funds to the S.151 Officer in consultation 

with the Leader subject to receiving satisfactory information on the 
project plan, delivery plan and expected outputs.

In addition, Members agreed to defer recommendation 3 as further discussion 
had been planned to discuss the future direction of Breckland Bridge.

Councillor Crawford asked for the recommendation to be amended to reflect 
Glebe Close, not Glebe Road.

RECOMMEND to Council:

1. to approve the updated Breckland Bridge Ltd Business Plan for 2017-
2022 as set out in appendices A to D;

2. to agree the Bridge recommendation to initiate a project to create a 
Thetford Town Asset Plan and in doing so:
a) allocate up to £130,000 (spread over three years); 
b) delegate the release of the funds to the S.151 Officer in 

consultation with the Leader subject to receiving satisfactory 
information on the project plan, delivery plan and expected 
outputs.

3. to defer the Bridge recommendation to deliver a programme of minor 
development schemes in a 50/50 arrangement by:
a) providing £82,500 as an initial equity share in the required 

subsidiary for the first three sites and £10,000 for legal and tax 

Action By

7



Cabinet
7 February 2017

4

advice;
b) agreeing the first three sites as Rougholme Close (Gressenhall), 

Glebe Close (Thetford) and Tottington Road (Thompson);
c) subject to legal advice confirming such an arrangement can be 

undertaken and if so delegate the release of the funds to the 
S.151 Officer subject to satisfactory receipt of the necessary tax 
advice and satisfactory returns from the first three sites.

19/17 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

20/17 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Crawford, M Chapman-Allen, Hollis, Newton and Matthews.

21/17 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

None.
22/17 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS 

 (a) Match Funding - Mattishall Parish Council  

The Executive Director Place presented the report.

Councillor Webb asked who would be responsible for maintaining the 
equipment.  It was confirmed that it would be included in the conditions that 
it would be the responsibility of the applicant to maintain the equipment. 

Options
1. To fully fund the application set out in the report
2. To part fund the application as set out in the report
3. To do nothing

Reasons
The grant application meets the criteria of the scheme.

It was RESOLVED that the Executive Member Place approves £20,000 (or 
26.5% of the project costs, whichever is the lower amount) to Mattishall 
Parish Council towards the cost of a new play area at the Old School site.

23/17 ARTS COUNCIL FUNDING - THE SILVER SOCIAL PROJECT 

The Executive Director Place presented the report informing Members that 
the Council was successful in the application for funding.

Options
1. To agree to receive and spend £185,773 grant funding from Arts 

Council England in accordance with their terms and conditions.
2. To not agree to receive the funding.

Reasons
Breckland has over 39,000 residents over the age of 60 and 17,000 over the 
age of 70 and living on their own.  The Corporate Plan recognises this and 

Action By

8



Cabinet
7 February 2017

5

has an objective to ‘work with partners on supporting older people to remain 
active, participative and live independently within the community.  This project 
will deliver against this corporate objective.

RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL that agreement is given to receive and spend 
grant funding of £185,773 from Arts Council England for deliver of The Silver 
Social project in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the funder.

24/17 BUDGET SETTING, MEDIUM TERM PLAN & CAPITAL STRATEGY 

The Executive Member Finance presented the report.

Councillor M Chapman-Allen asked if Officers could explain the discretionary 
business rate relief for local newspapers.  It was explained that this was a 
government initiative to provide discretionary rate relief to local newspapers 
allowing one allowance per company or property up to £1500.  The Central 
government would reimburse the local authorities for providing this 
discretionary rate relief at 100%, and the relief would be limited for a 2-year 
period only.

Councillor Cowen queried where some of the changes to discretionary 
charges had come from.  Councillor Dimoglou explained that as the new 
Executive Director Commercialisation was now in place, a full review would of 
fees and charges would be undertaken in the coming year.  It was confirmed 
that the fees and charges levels were proposed by the service areas

Councillor S Chapman-Allen felt concerned that the garden waste scheme 
would be increased again for the fourth year and should the Council Tax rise 
this would be a significant increase for residents. The Executive Director 
Place understood the context and added that the Councils’ income had 
improved by using the Book and Pay system, and that the fee suggested did 
not put the council out of kilter alongside other local authorities.

Options
That recommendations 1 to 8 are approved,
That amendments are made before recommendations 1 to 8 are approved.

Reasons
To comply with budgetary and policy framework

The Chairman asked that amendments were made to Recommendation 3 to 
reflect that the Discretionary Rate Relief for newspapers be approved for the 
2-year period only.  In addition, Recommendation 8 should also be in 
conjunction with the Leader and Deputy Leader.

RECOMMEND to Council that:

1) the Breckland revenue estimates and parish special expenses for 
2017-18 and outline position through to 2020-21 (as set out in 
appendix B and E) are approved.

2) the capital estimates and associated funding for 2017-18 and outline 
position through to 2020-21 (as set out in appendix H) are approved.

3) the discretionary business rates relief for local newspapers as detailed 
in appendix I is approved for a two year period only.

4) the fees and charges shown at appendix D and D2, for adoption on 1 

Action By

9



Cabinet
7 February 2017

6

April 2017 are approved.
5) the Council Tax in the medium term plan be set at either:

a) £5.00 increase per year (£78.98 for a Band D property in 2017-18) 
or,

b) 2% increase per year (75.45 for a Band D property in 2017-18, 
and increase of £1.47), or

c) a value between 2% and £5, or a combination of a and b above
6) the financial medium term plan at appendix A is approved
7) the capital strategy at appendix G is approved
8) £100,000 is allocated in the Organisational Development Reserve to 

fund feasibility studies for growth and investment projects which will 
generate a return to the Council.  That release of funding for individual 
feasibility studies be delegated to the S151 Officer in conjunction with 
the Strategic Growth Group and Finance Board and the Leader or 
Deputy Leader.

25/17 QUARTER 3 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 

The Executive Member Finance presented the report.

Councillor Cowen added that the report reflected that the Council was doing 
the right things in the right way and everyone should be commended for this.  
Going forward both Officers and Members should work closely together to put 
the Council in a good position going forward.

It was RESOLVED that:

1) the report and appendix was noted

2) RECOMMEND to FULL COUNCIL that the full year end under spend 
is contributed to the Organisational Development Reserve to fund 
timing delays in the Moving Forward Programme 2017-18.

26/17 ANGLIA REVENUES AND BENEFITS PARTNERSHIP 

Members noted the minutes of the Anglia Revenues and Benefits Joint 
Committee meeting held on 10 January 2017.

27/17 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting held on 21 March 2017at 9.30am in 
the Norfolk Room, Elizabeth House, Dereham, were noted.

28/17 EXCLUSION PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED that under Section 100 (A) of the Local Government Act 1972 
the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the disclosure of exempt 
information  as defined in paragraphs 3 and 4 of Part 1 Schedule 12A to the 
Act.

29/17 BRECKLAND BRIDGE BUSINESS PLAN - APPENDICIES 

Appendices were noted.  This item also referred at 17/17. 

Action By

10



Cabinet
7 February 2017

7

The meeting closed at 11.00 am

CHAIRMAN

Action By

11



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Paul Claussen, Executive Member for Place and Rob Walker, Executive 
Director of Place 

To: Cabinet, 21 March 2017

Author: Rob Walker, Executive Director of Place

Subject: Unsightly and derelict sites and land 

Purpose: To consider future actions regarding unsightly and derelict sites and land in 
the district.

Recommendation(s):

1) That Cabinet agree to undertake a programme of work to address unsightly and 
derelict sites and land in the district.

1.0 BACKGROUND 

1.1 Ensuring our District is clean, safe and well-kept is one of the Council’s key priorities. 
It is important that we do all we can to ensure this priority is met. As a Council we 
have limited direct control over privately owned land. However, we take seriously our 
role as custodian of standards and we have a range of powers and measures at our 
disposal to enforce such standards when the need arises.

1.2 Cabinet are asked to consider whether they want to instigate a programme of work to 
identify and tackle those sites that they deem to be significantly and adversely 
impacting upon the character and appearance of their immediate and wider 
environment or the general well-being of the communities within which they were 
located.   

1.3 Officers from a range of professional disciplines would be involved in delivering this 
programme of work should it be instigated and would consider the detail and 
background of each site before proposing what action should be taken in each 
instance.  

1.4 This report does not detail the specific powers and measures that the Council has at 
its disposal [although some legislative examples are provided below].  The specific 
measures used would be dependent on the circumstances affecting particular sites 
and would be considered / highlighted at that juncture.    

Legislative examples

 Sections 79 and 80 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 
 Sections 76, 77 or 79 of the Building Act 1984 
 Section 29 Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1982 
 Sections 215 or 225-225K of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
 Empty Dwelling Management Orders under Part 4 Housing Act 2004

12

Agenda Item 8



1.5 Should Cabinet approve this programme of work the first task would be to identify 
and agree a series of sites where intervention is appropriate.  

1.6 Members would be invited, either through their own local knowledge or as a 
consequence of engagement with their Wards, to put forward sites for consideration 
and action.  In doing so, Members would be advised that the over-riding objective of 
the exercise would be to take concerted actions against sites that, as a consequence 
of a variety of factors, have a significant deleterious impact on the locations, or 
places, within which they are set.  

1.7 Members would need to be mindful that as a matter of operational routine a wide 
variety of other - generally smaller sites - are routinely monitored through, for 
example, the planning process or are dealt with regularly by, in combination, 
environmental health, environmental services and/or building control.  

1.8 The parameters for the inclusion of sites within the unsightly and derelict sites and 
land initiative need, therefore, to be based on an agreed understanding that 
individual sites are in such a state of unsightliness or dereliction, generally through 
long-term neglect, that they are adversely impacting on their surroundings by reasons 
of either their overall appearance or unmaintained status and are likely to become, or 
have become, unsafe or are attracting anti-social behaviour.  

1.9 The Overview and Scrutiny Commission considered this matter at its meeting on 16 
February 2017 and resolved to recommend to Cabinet that a programme of work is 
undertaken to address unsightly and derelict sites and land in the district.

2.0 OPTIONS 

2.1 Do nothing - This option would result in no, or limited and uncoordinated, action 
being taken on unsightly and derelict sites and land, with these sites therefore 
remaining in a state that continues to significantly and adversely impact on the 
communities within which they are set.  This option is not recommended.  

2.2 Agree the recommendation – This option would enable officers to focus their efforts 
in securing, through a variety of negotiated and punitive measures, significant 
improvements to sites that currently adversely affect the communities within which 
they are set.  

 2.3 In endorsing the recommendation set out at 2.2 Cabinet would need to recognise that 
each site is different and that the actions required have differing consequences, both 
financially and in terms of the timescales within which results are likely to be 
achieved.  It would also be required that Members through their own local knowledge 
or as a consequence of engagement with their Wards put forward sites for 
consideration.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  

3.1 To promote a co-ordinated approach to positive intervention on those sites which 
have a major detrimental effect upon the character, appearance and well-being of the 
communities within which they are set.  

13



4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS  

4.1 A number of tangible and immediate benefits are expected.  These will range from 
significant environmental improvements to the immediate and wider area to reducing 
the likelihood of continuing and ongoing anti-social behaviour.  In some 
circumstances the benefits will range across this spectrum and in others there may 
be an opportunity to actively promote redevelopment in the medium or longer-term to 
the overall benefit of those communities currently adversely impacted upon.

  

5.0 IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues  

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no direct implications on Carbon 
Footprint but that there are likely to be wide-ranging benefits to the environment of 
both the communities within which these sites are located and the wider district.  

5.2 Constitution & Legal  

5.2.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no Constitutional implications 
arising from these actions other than a limited extension to officer delegations but 
that, on an individual case-by-case basis, the Legal Implications will need to be 
understood and regularly reviewed and reported upon.  

5.3 Contracts  

5.3.1 No Contractual implications are anticipated.  

5.4 Corporate Priorities  

5.4.1 The Council’s Corporate Priorities: Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive  

5.5 Crime and Disorder   

5.5.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that, in some instances, positive intervention is 
likely to reduce the likelihood of Crime and Disorder.  

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights  

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no direct implications on either 
Equality and Diversity or Human Rights. However, equality and human rights issues 
will be considered on an individual case-by-case basis before action is taken.

5.7 Financial   

5.7.1 In some instances there are likely to be financial implications as a consequence of 
the actions taken by the Council.  These will be reported on a site-by-site basis as 
and when necessary.  

5.8 Risk Management   

5.8.1 Risk Management is implicit in the team approach.  

5.9 Staffing  

14



5.9.1 There are no immediate staffing implications but there are likely to be future resource 
implications arising from continued actions.  These will be reported when they arise.    

5.10 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales  

5.10.1 Stakeholder Engagement is perhaps key to this initiative and consultation will be 
undertaken, on a site-by-site basis, when either necessary or statutorily required.  
This will include positive engagement with both site owners and, where necessary, 
affected wards.   

5.11 Health & Wellbeing  

5.11.1 There are likely to be benefits arising from this initiative which will have a positive 
effect upon the health and well-being of affected communities.  These will be 
reported on a site-by-site basis.  

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED  

6.1 All

  

7.0 ACRONYMS   

7.1 Not applicable.

Lead Contact Officer Name and Post: Rob Walker, Executive Director of Place 

Telephone Number: 01362 656256  

Email: Robert.walker@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting: Rob Walker, Executive Director of 
Place

Key Decision: No  

Exempt Decision: No  

This report refers to a Discretionary Service  

15



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Deputy Leader Executive Member Strategy, Governance & Transformation 
Sam Chapman-Allen

To: Overview and Scrutiny Commission – 16th February 2017
Cabinet – 21st March 2017

Author: Greg Pearson – Corporate Improvement and Performance Manager

Subject: Performance Overview Report – Quarter 3 2016/17 

Purpose: To provide an update on Council performance for the period 1st October 
2016 to 31st December 2016

Recommendation(s): 

1)  To note the content of the report

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Quarter 3 Performance Report (Appendix A) provides Members and residents with 
information about the Council’s delivery against its Corporate Priorities and on the Council’s 
Corporate Health.  This covering report presents a summary of the status of the Council’s 
key indicators.

1.2 Areas of success, where performance has improved from Quarter 2, are brought to 
Members’ attention, as are areas of concern where performance is below anticipated 
outcomes or is considered to be worsening.  These areas of performance were discussed 
at Performance Board on 26th January 2017.  Actions agreed are included in the summary 
below.

1.3 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

1.4 Current status of key performance indicators (above):  Quarter 3’s performance is 
assessed as ‘fair’ with 11 indicators (64.71%) marked ‘Green’, meaning that performance is 
very good and is meeting or exceeding the achievable standard.  4 indicators (23.%) are 
‘Amber’ meaning performance in these areas is at acceptable levels between the minimum 

16

Agenda Item 9



and achievable standards.  1 indicator (5.88%) is ‘Red’, meaning performance is poor and 
not achieving the minimum standard. 

1.5 Two indicators are classed as unknown as the data was unavailable, this refers to the 
indicator for missed waste collections; the number of bins that were not collected when 
presented by residents. This information is currently unavailable following the 
implementation of new software by Serco. The Environmental Services team are working 
with Serco to ensure this information is provided in the future and is looking to be available 
at the start of the new financial year. The other indicator is the Cases Prevented from 
Homelessness per 1,000 Households; this is due to changes in personnel in the housing 
department and training on the system which provides this data is due to be undertaken in 
February.

1.6 AREAS OF SUCCESS

1.7 Performance in the Customer Contact team has continued to improve over the last quarter 
to reduce both the percentage of calls abandoned and average wait time in seconds value 
for quarter 3 but also Decembers values for both indicators are the best of the financial year 
to date. Percentage of calls abandoned was marginally over the target of 10.1% at 11.2%, 
this is a huge improvement on the 18.6% at Quarter 3 of 2015/16. Average wait time in 
seconds has now reduced to 73.33 seconds for Quarter 3 against a target of 150. Again an 
impressive reduction from the 150 seconds on Quarter 3 of 2015/16.

1.8 Commercial property occupancy rates continue to perform well at 97.67% compared to a 
target of 90%. The high rates of occupancy means will ensure that a good level of rental 
income is being received. 

1.9 The LA error rate is reported as 0.26% for quarter 3 which continues to remain well below 
the threshold that risks financial penalties and is an improvement on the value reported at 
the same point last year. The Council Tax receipts indicator is also performing well, with the 
collection amount slightly above target.

1.10 Indicators for environmental services are performing above target with Percentage of waste 
recycled up and Percentage residual household waste down for Q3.

1.11 AREAS OF CONCERN

1.12 The only indicator which is reported as red this quarter is short term investment forecast. 
This is because the variance from the budget, the forecast income for the year is expected 
to be slightly over budget as a result of higher levels of investments for longer periods than 
budgeted. This will be monitored closely to ensure that we can generate this level of 
income in the current period of market uncertainty and reduced interest rates.

1.13 Two further finance related indicators are reported as amber this quarter where their 
variance from the budget is bigger than targeted. SERCO Net Expenditure is lower than 
expected due to the costs relating to the "price adjustment factor" being agreed at lower 
rates than anticipated, however contamination costs are still to be agreed, so this 
forecast variance could change in future months. CAPITA Net Expenditure is also lower 
due to reduced spend for "Major" applications.

1.14 The remaining amber indicator is the Net Business Rates receipts, which is very slightly 
under target due to large backdated appeals in respect of purpose built Doctors 
surgeries. Provision has been made in the accounts.

2.0 OPTIONS

17



2.1 No recommendations made.  Report for information and to be noted only.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 No recommendations made.  Report for information and to be noted only.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Not applicable.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the 
Report Author that there are no implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 Constitution and Legal Issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report 
Author that there are no implications.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 Contracts implications have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report Author that 
there are no implications.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 The report presents progress monitoring of performance of the corporate priorities.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 Crime and Disorder implications have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report 
Author that there are no implications.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights implications have been considered and it is the 
opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 Financial implications have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report Author that 
there are no implications.

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 Health & Wellbeing implications have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report 
Author that there are no implications.

5.9 Risk Management 

18



5.9.1 Risk implications have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report Author that there 
are no implications.

5.10 Staffing

5.10.1 Staffing implications have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report Author that 
there are no implications.

5.11 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1 Stakeholder / Consultation / Timescale implications have been considered and it is the 
opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 No Wards or Communities are affected

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 EMT – Executive Management Team

Background papers:- None. 

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Greg Pearson – Corporate Improvement & Performance 

Manager
Telephone Number: 01362 656866
Email: greg.pearson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting
Name and Post: Greg Pearson – Corporate Improvement & Performance 

Manager

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Quarter 3 Performance Report

19

mailto:greg.pearson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


1

Q3 2016/17 BDC Overview and Scrutiny Report

Generated on: 02 February 2017

Same time last 
year

Current Performance Q3

Q3 2015/16 Q3 2016/17Portfolio Holder Performance Indicator
Value Value Raw Data 

1
Raw Data 2 Target Status Short Trend

Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen % of Calls Abandoned 18.6% 11.2% 26444 
offered

2972 
abandoned

10.1%

Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen Average Wait Time in 
Seconds

149.33 73.33 150

Cllr Mark Robinson % of Customer 
Complaints Upheld - 
Stage 1

0% 24.59% 15
Upheld

61
Received

50%

Cllr Mark Robinson % of Customer 
Complaints Upheld - 
Stage 2

0% 7.69% 1
Upheld

13
Received

70%

Cllr Lynda Turner % of household waste 
recycled or composted

37.6% 40.09% 4702.30 
recycled/ 
composted

11730.16 
total tonnes

33.58%

Cllr Lynda Turner Missed Waste 
Collections

12.33

Cllr Lynda Turner Residual Waste per 
Household (kg)

42.18 39.68 6534.86 
Residual 

60044 
Properties

43.34

20



2

Same time last 
year

Current Performance Q3

Portfolio Holder Performance Indicator Q3 2015/16 Q3 2016/17
Value Value Raw Data 

1
Raw Data 2 Target Status Short Trend

Waste
Cllr Pablo Dimoglou % Return on Cash 

Investment (Treasury 
Yield)

0.55% 0.74% 0.34%

Cllr Pablo Dimoglou Short term investment 
Income Forecast

-£245,000.00 -£270,640.00 -£258,010.00

Cllr Pablo Dimoglou SERCO Net Expenditure 
Variance

-11,400 -89,622 0

Cllr Pablo Dimoglou Capita Net Expenditure 
Variance

10,362.67 -27,491 0

Cllr Pablo Dimoglou PFI Net Expenditure 
Variance

-18,807.7 -458 0

Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen Staff turnover % 3.16% 1.23% 3.33 
leavers 
per month 
within 
quarter

270 staff 2.5%

Cllr Gordon Bambridge Cases Prevented from 
Homelessness per 1,000 
Households

1.5

Cllr Pablo Dimoglou Housing Benefit LA Error 
Rate

0.29% 0.26% 0.35%

Cllr Pablo Dimoglou Net Business Rates 
receipts

£25,344,144.00 £25,677,489.00 £26,333,246.00

Cllr Pablo Dimoglou Net Council Tax receipts £51,861,643.00 £54,921,742.00 £54,728,653.00

Cllr Philip Cowen Commercial Property 
Occupancy

98.33% 97.67% 90%

21



3

22



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Member People & Information, Alison Webb

To: Cabinet – 21 March 2017

Author: Richard Boole, Environmental Protection Manager

Subject: Air Quality Management Area, Station Street, Swaffham

Purpose: To declare an Air Quality Management Area in Swaffham

Recommendation(s): 

1) That option 1 below be approved and that an Air Quality Management Area be declared for 
the geographical area described in detail in the draft order appended to this report. 

1 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Environment Act 2005 places a duty on local authorities to review and assess air 
quality in their district, against national air quality objectives laid down in the Air Quality 
(England) Regulations 2000.  This process is referred to as Local Air Quality Management 
(LAQM).  The review and assessment process requires an Annual Status Report (ASR).  Air 
quality objectives exist for particulates greater than 10 microns (PM10) and Nitrogen 
Dioxide (NO2).  The objective for NO2 is 200ug/m3 as a 1-hour mean (not to be exceeded 
more than 18 times per year) and 40ug/m3 as an annual mean.  Whilst NO2 is a product of 
combustion, at a local level, NO2 levels are primarily due to road traffic sources and the duty 
extends to locations a) which are situated outside buildings or other natural or man-made 
structures above-ground; and b) where members of the public are regularly present.  

1.2 NO2 is measured using a network of diffusion tubes and fixed air quality monitoring units.  
Tubes are fixed to sensitive receptor buildings and street furniture, are changed on a 
monthly basis and the results calibrated against nationally approved correction factors.  The 
tubes are analysed the results calculated by an independent consultant.  

2 ISSUES

2.1      A specific issue with NO2 levels has been evident in Swaffham, with a tube (S.8) located at 
the town-end of Station Street, just north of the junction with Mangate Street / Lynn Street 
(location map at Figure 1 below).

23

Agenda Item 10



 Figure 1 – Area map showing location of tube S8 

 

2.2      The trend at this location has been for annual mean levels at or above the air quality 
objective for the last 5 years, 2010-2015 inclusive, with the exception of 2012 and 2015 
which were just under. The advice from our consultant is that any figure above 36.5ug/m3 is 
a matter for concern.  Figures for the last 6 years are at table 1. Below.  Whilst on the face 
of it these might seem like a marginal exceedance, DEFRA have advised that it is a clear 
exceedance in the context of the objective.

Table 1.  Figures for the last 5 years at tube location S8:
Year NO2 Annual Mean Figure (Bias 

Adjusted) (ug/m3)
2010 40.03
2011 40.41
2012 38.75
2013 41.63
2014 40.36
2015 37.7
2016 41.9 (provisional*).

*NB: We’re currently awaiting the release of the national bias adjustment figure before this can be 
confirmed as final.  The bias figure for the previous year has been applied and from experience the 
figure is unlikely to change by more than +/- 0.5 when finalised. 

2.3     Where an objective hasn’t been met, local authorities are under a duty to proceed to 
‘detailed assessment’, which as the name suggests is a detailed assessment of the air 
quality in the area of the exceedance of the objective, modelled to determine the extent of 
the exceedance beyond the monitoring point itself. If however the assessment concludes that 
the exceedance of the objective is unlikely to resolve itself without intervention, then the 
recommendation is likely to be that the Council moves to declare an Air Quality Management 
Area (AQMA).  A previous detailed assessment was undertaken and submitted in 2013, 
recommending that the Council maintain a watching brief on air quality at this location, with a 
view to proceeding to an AQMA if needs be in the future.  DEFRA advised that a further 
detailed assessment was necessary and this was finalised in October 2016. Please note that 
the detailed assessment has to be submitted to Defra. 

24



2.4     A copy of the latest detailed assessment is attached at Appendix A.

The recommendations of this detailed assessment are:-

 That an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) be declared in the assessment area, the 
extent of which is proposed in Figure 3.

 Continuation of diffusion tube monitoring in the area of the proposed AQMA, particularly at 
sites S1, S7, S8, S11 and S12 to confirm existing concentrations in the modelled 
exceedance area, and to continue diffusion tube monitoring further south down on London 
Street to assess concentrations south of the recommended AQMA boundary.

 An Air Quality Action Plan is drawn up to determine the best policies and intervention 
measures to put in place in order to reduce local NO2 concentrations.

 Additional traffic surveys are undertaken in the vicinity of the proposed AQMAs. This will 
minimise the manipulation of traffic data inputs required for future dispersion modelling 
studies, thereby reducing the associated uncertainties of model outputs.

 Further assessment of the changes to the road network proposed in the Option 1 scenario 
(specified within Appendix A) in respect to potential queuing traffic. 

NB: this scenario was put forwards by Norfolk County Council (NCC) Highways as the 
‘preferred option’ in a piece of work undertaken in 2015, based on their modelling of air 
quality with different traffic flow scenario’s.  Please note that this option was only developed 
as an engineering study and still requires further work and consultation before it can be 
finalised by NCC.

2.5     A map view showing the location of the tube S8 is provided at Figure 1 above and an extract 
from the most recent detailed assessment showing the modelled exceedance area is 
provided at Figure 2 below.  

Figure 2 – Modelled exceedance area for NO2 against the air quality objective.

2.6    Since 2012 a number of meetings have taken place between representatives of the 
Environmental Protection Team and Norfolk County Council Highways, to look for ways to 
improve air quality in Swaffham.  This resulted in discussions for options for traffic flow 
improvements, including changes to traffic light phasing and junction improvements.  Whilst 
the response from NCC was generally positive, they made it clear that they have to prioritise 
road schemes due to financial constraints and that with other Councils having declared 
AQMA’s, the priority for funding was in those areas.  Additionally they also wanted to wait on 
the opening of the A11 dual carriageway extension and associated signage improvements, to 

Key

36ug/m3

  40ug/m3

Modelled 
Road

25



assess any impact or improvement arising from that scheme, before investigating issues in 
Swaffham further.  Whilst that scheme doesn’t appear to have created any new problems for 
Swaffham, it hasn’t resulted in any noticeable reduction in through traffic heading to north 
Norfolk.

2.7     These discussions, as well as discussions with Planners around conditioning of new 
applications and potential funding opportunities, had been aimed at looking for solutions thus 
avoiding the need to proceed to an AQMA.  Additionally, EMT have previously approved 
funding to enable the Environmental Protection Team to commission Norfolk County Council 
Highways Dept. to undertake a study into traffic management at the junction between Station 
Street and Mangate Street / Lynn Street and advise on schemes to reduce standing traffic / 
improve traffic flow on Station Street.  This work was undertaken in early 2015 and a report 
was submitted to us recommending a preferred scheme to replace the current traffic lights 
with two mini-roundabouts.  The estimated cost of this scheme was £250k plus the cost of 
moving any utility services.  This is the ‘Option 1’ scheme referred to by the consultant in the 
most recent detailed assessment recommendations.

2.8     Local Authorities have a duty under S.83(1) of the Environment Act 1995 to designate those 
areas where the air quality objectives are unlikely to be, or are not being, met as AQMA’s.  
These areas have to be designated officially by means of an order.  At a minimum, the 
AQMA must cover the area where the exceedance exists, where there are relevant 
receptors, but also must take into account the nature and location of relevant sources of 
pollution and other relevant local factors.  In this case, whilst the actual area of the 
exceedance is relatively small, the road network feeding into this junction would need to be 
taken into account.

2.9     The extent of the AQMA proposed in the latest detailed assessment is provided at Figure 3 
below:-

Figure 3 – Proposed AQMA boundary

2.10    Local authority actions may, of necessity, involve planning considerations, both in terms of 
land-use and measures that may be asked of developers to contribute to meeting the air 
quality objectives.

2.11    The Environmental Protection Manager discussed air quality and the need to meet the 
objectives with Ian Withington, Planning Policy Team Leader, in the context of including a 
policy within the revised Local Plan, to ensure that air quality objectives can be considered 
in the future as a material planning consideration.  It is stressed that this isn’t with the 
intention of restricting growth within the district, however as there is a legal duty to manage 

26



air quality there needs to be a recognition of this in the context of land use planning and the 
response to individual planning consultations where this is appropriate, e.g. large scale 
housing developments with the potential to impact adversely on air quality objectives in a 
specific geographical area through additional traffic.

2.12  In terms of planning impacts, an AQMA doesn’t automatically mean restrictions on 
development.  It would however be necessary to require developers for applications in, or 
impacting upon, an AQMA to undertake and submit a more detailed study of the potential 
impact of the development on the AQMA and of mitigation that could be offered to reduce 
this impact.  It would only be in extreme cases, where a proposed development is 
incompatible with the need to meet the air quality objective, that mitigating restrictions might 
need to come into play.  Consultation will take place with relevant planning officers as part 
of the process to develop an action plan, to ensure that any potential impact if any, upon 
the Local Plan, is taken into account.

2.13   It should also be noted that air quality is referred to in a number of paragraphs within the 
National Planning Policy Framework and these have been included in the initial draft of the 
local plan.

3 ACTIONS

3.1     To meet the duty to declare an AQMA, the Council needs to designate the relevant area by 
Order of the Council.  Whilst there’s no set form for an Order, the DEFRA Local Air Quality 
Management Policy Guidance recommends that the following information be included as a 
minimum:

-The date on which the order came (or comes) into force;
- The list of pollutants to which it relates and the relevant objective exceedance;
- Map showing the area to be designated; and
- A description of the area e.g. does it contain certain roads, any physical features such 
as street canyons or particular features of the traffic.

3.2     As a consequence of declaring an AQMA, an air quality action plan must be produced to 
include the following:-

- Quantification of the source contributions to the predicted exceedances of the 
relevant objectives;

- Evidence that all available options have been considered;
- How the authority will use its powers and also work in conjunction with other 

organisations in pursuit of the air quality objectives;
- Clear timescales in which the authority and other organisations / agencies propose 

to implement the measures within the plan;
- Where possible, quantification of the expected impacts of the proposed measures 

and an indication as to whether the measures are likely to result in the air quality 
objective being met; and

- How the authority intend to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of the plan.
The plan must also be published.

An example of an air quality action plan is included at Appendix B.  This example also 
relates to NO2 from road traffic, but in Kings Lynn.  

27



4.0        OPTIONS

1. Declare an AQMA as recommended by Bureau Veritas in the most recent detailed 
assessment and subsequently develop and submit, in consultation, an air quality action 
plan for the AQMA area.  Where a District Council is preparing an action plan, the County 
Council must submit its proposals, together with a statement outlining the timescale, for 
meeting air quality standards and objectives within the designated area.  A further 
assessment will be required 12 months after declaration and the action plan should be 
developed within 12-18 months.  

2. Do nothing.  The Government may use the discretionary power in Part 2 of the Localism 
Act under which the Government could require responsible authorities to pay all or part of 
an infraction fine.  Additionally, levels of Nitrogen Dioxide above the national air quality 
objective will be allowed to exist unchecked, exposing residents to potential risks from such 
exposure.

5.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

5.1      To meet the duty imposed on the Council by S.83 Environment Act to manage air quality 
and ensure that air quality objectives are met, through the declaration of an AQMA, 
development of an action plan and subsequent further assessment; and avoid possible 
action against the authority.

6.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

6.1      Improvement in air quality through delivery of the action plan and consequent reduction on 
the possible impact on human health.  Meeting the legal duty under S.83(1) of the 
Environment Act 2005.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS

7.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

7.1.1   These issues are covered in the body of the report and appendices.

7.2 Constitution & Legal

7.2.1    These matters are an executive function delegated to Cabinet.  The advice from the 
Executive Manager for Governance is “The Local Authorities (Functions and 
Responsibilities) Regulations 2000 (as amended) makes it clear that Councils have a 
choice as to whether air pollution is a Council or Cabinet decision. If you then look at the 
terms of reference in our constitution, this is a function allocated to Cabinet”.

  Additional matters are covered in the body of the report and appendices.  

7.3   Contracts

7.3.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

7.4     Corporate Priorities

7.4.1   Improving air quality links to the corporate priorities:--
- Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive: Work together with partners and local 
communities to make public spaces cleaner, greener and safe; Work with our partners to 
reduce and prevent crime and anti-social behaviour and protect the community and 
environment.

28



- Enabling stronger, more independent communities: Lead and support the Breckland 
Health and Wellbeing Partnership to address key local health, care and wellbeing issues; 
Work with current and new partners to deliver council services which improve the 
opportunities for vulnerable residents and families with complex needs.

NB: ‘vulnerable residents’ in this context would include children, the elderly and those with 
chronic respiratory and circulatory disorders

7.5    Crime and Disorder 

7.5.1   It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

7.6    Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

7.6.1   It is in the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

7.7 Financial 

7.7.1   A provisional costs estimate relating to a revised junction layout is included in the body of the report.  
It is being recommended that members approve additional staffing resources in the form of a 0.5FTE 
post for a 12 month period, at Environmental Protection Officer level (Grade 8), to ensure that 
sufficient resources exist to undertake the development of the action plan.  The alignment of 
resources after this period and therefore any associated costs will depend to a great extent on the 
action plan content itself and it’s not possible to be clear on this content at this stage.

Not declaring an AQMA may put the Council at risk of an unspecified fine being passed down under 
the Localism Act 2011 to local authorities with air quality objective breaches, should the UK 
Government be fined under infraction proceedings.

7.7 Health & Wellbeing

7.8.1    There are proven links between air quality, especially NO2 and particulates less than 2.5 
microns in size (PM2.5), especially for the young, the old and those with chronic respiratory 
and circulatory disorders. PM2.5 is directly linked to road traffic and directly correlates to 
levels of NO2 so and reduction here will also positively impact on levels of PM2.5.  
Improved air quality will therefore have a positive impact human health in this area.

7.8 Risk Management 

7.9.1   - Communications / Media – risk of negative publicity / public perception – Communications 
Plan.

- Buy-in by stakeholders – whilst stakeholders can’t be forced to engage with the process, 
other than the transport authority (Norfolk County Council) which has a duty to engage 
once an AQMA is declared, best efforts will be made to engage as widely as possible with 
stakeholders using a range of approaches.

- Funding for schemes – The action plan will include a range of objectives, many of which 
are purely about education and awareness raising, however some will carry a cost, most 
notably any road layout changes.  Norfolk County Council will be primarily responsible for 
identifying and funding any such work under a declared AQMA and will have a duty to 
report to Defra regarding their proposals.  

- Staffing – Additional staff resources are required as detailed in 7.7.1 above and Proforma 
B (appendix E), with resourcing being reassessed thereafter.  Loss of key staff is a risk, 
however a range of expertise exists within the team to cover any loss in the short term.

- Legal – Declaration of an AQMA removes risks of judicial review and reduces the risk of 
the passing on of UK fines resulting from infraction proceedings where best efforts are 

29



being made to resolve any air quality objective exceedances.

7.9 Safeguarding

7.10.1  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

7.11   Staffing 

7.11.1 Development and delivery of the action plan will become a priority for the EP Team and will 
become the focus of the existing Environmental Protection Officer responsible for air 
quality.  Whilst it’s not proposed to increase staffing, this might result in a reallocation of 
some work and / or a refocus of other priorities.  It should be noted though that other tasks 
normally carried out by this officer (air quality monitoring in the affected area, annual 
reporting to Defra, etc) will become part of this focused project.

7.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

7.12.1 Engagement with Elected Members the Town Councils and wider stakeholders such as 
residents groups and Norfolk County Council, will be required during the development of 
the action plan.  Some work has already been undertaken by Norfolk County Council to 
scope potential road schemes, but further consultation will be required.

8.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

8.1 Swaffham 

9.0 APPENDICES
Appendix A – Detailed Assessment 2016
Appendix B – Example Air Quality Action Plan (Kings Lynn)
Appendix C – Draft Order for declaration of the AQMA
Appendix D – Communications Plan.
Appendix E – Proforma B

Background papers:-

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Richard Boole, Environmental Protection Managerager
Telephone Number: 01775-764667
Email: Richard.boole@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Yes / No

Exempt Decision: Yes / No 

This report refers to a function with statutory powers and duties.

30



 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Breckland District Council  
Swaffham  

Detailed Assessment 
October 2016  

31



 
 

   

 

 

THIS PAGE IS LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY  

 

32



 

Bureau Veritas UK Limited  

Parklands 

825a Wilmslow Road, Didsbury 

M20 2RE 

 Telephone: +44 (0) 207 6610700 

Fax: +44 (0) 207 6610741 

Registered in England 1758622 

www.bureauveritas.co.uk 

 Registered Office 

Suite 308 Fort Dunlop 

Fort Parkway 

Birmingham B24 9FD 

 

Document Control Sheet 

Issue/Revision Issue 1 

Remarks Draft for comment 

Date October 2016 

Submitted to Zandra Waterford 

Prepared by Paul Bentley 

(Assistant Consultant) 

Signature 

 

Approved by Jamie Clayton 

(Senior Consultant) 

Signature 

 

Project number 6355043 

 

Disclaimer 

This Report was completed by Bureau Veritas on the basis of a defined programme of work and terms 
and conditions agreed with the Client. Bureau Veritas confirms that in preparing this Report it has 
exercised all reasonable skill and care taking into accounts the project objectives, the agreed scope of 
works, prevailing site conditions and the degree of manpower and resources allocated to the project. 

Bureau Veritas accepts no responsibility to any parties whatsoever, following the issue of the Report, 
for any matters arising outside the agreed scope of the works. 

This Report is issued in confidence to the Client and Bureau Veritas has no responsibility to any third 
parties to whom this Report may be circulated, in part or in full, and any such parties rely on the 
contents of the report solely at their own risk. 

Unless specifically assigned or transferred within the terms of the agreement, the consultant asserts 
and retains all Copyright, and other Intellectual Property Rights, in and over the Report and its 
contents. 

Any questions or matters arising from this Report should be addressed in the first instance to the 
Project Manager. 

33



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE IS LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 

 

34



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 i 

Table of Contents 

Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................ iii 

1 Introduction .................................................................................................................................. 1 

1.1. Scope of Assessment ............................................................................................................. 1 

2 Air Quality – Legislative Context ................................................................................................. 3 

2.1. Air Quality Strategy ................................................................................................................. 3 

2.2. Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) .................................................................................. 4 

3 Review and Assessment of Air Quality Undertaken by the Council ........................................... 5 

3.1. Local Air Quality Management ................................................................................................ 5 

3.2. Review of Air Quality Monitoring ............................................................................................. 5 

3.2.1 Automatic Monitoring data .................................................................................................. 5 

3.2.2 Nitrogen Dioxide Diffusion Tube Data ................................................................................. 6 

3.3. Background Concentrations used in the Assessment ............................................................ 9 

4 Assessment Methodology ......................................................................................................... 10 

4.1. Traffic Assessment ................................................................................................................ 10 

4.1.1 Model Inputs ...................................................................................................................... 10 

4.1.2 Model Outputs ................................................................................................................... 12 

5 Results ...................................................................................................................................... 16 

6 Conclusions and Recommendations ........................................................................................ 21 

6.1. Predicted Concentrations ...................................................................................................... 21 

6.2. Future Recommendations ..................................................................................................... 22 

Appendices ........................................................................................................................................... 23 

Appendix 1 – Background to Air Quality ............................................................................................... 24 

Appendix 2 – ADMS Model Verification ................................................................................................ 25 

  

35



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 ii  

 

List of Figures 

Figure 1.1 – Modelled Existing Road Network ........................................................................................ 2 

Figure 3.1 – Diffusion Tube Locations within Modelled Road Area ........................................................ 8 

Figure 4.1 – Modelled Receptor Locations – Existing Road Network................................................... 13 

Figure 4.2 – Modelled Receptor Locations – Option 1 Road Network ................................................. 14 

Figure 4.3 – Wind rose for Marham Meteorological Data 2015 ............................................................ 15 

Figure 5.1 – Annual Mean NO2 Concentration Isopleths (µg/m3) Existing Road Network ................... 18 

Figure 5.2 – Annual Mean NO2 Concentration Isopleths (µg/m3) Option 1 Road Network ................. 19 

Figure 5.3 – Proposed AQMA Boundary .............................................................................................. 20 

 
List of Tables 

Table 2.1 – Relevant AQS Objectives in England for the Assessed Pollutants ..................................... 3 

Table 3.1 – Summary of Review and Assessment Undertaken by Breckland District Council .............. 5 

Table 3.2 – Swaffham Continuous Monitor Details ................................................................................. 6 

Table 3.3 – Swaffham Continuous Monitoring Annual Mean Results .................................................... 6 

Table 3.4 – Swaffham Continuous Monitoring Hourly Exceedence Results .......................................... 6 

Table 3.5 – LAQM Diffusion Tube Monitoring undertaken within the modelled area ............................. 7 

Table 3.6 – Background Pollutant Concentrations (Defra Background Maps) ....................................... 9 

Table 4.1 – Traffic Data used in the Detailed Assessment ................................................................... 10 

Table 4.2 – Swaffham Receptor Locations ........................................................................................... 11 

Table 5.1 – Predicted Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations for 2015 ...................................................... 16 

 

36



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 iii  

Executive Summary 

Part IV of the Environment Act 1995 places a statutory duty on local authorities to review and 
assess the air quality within their area. For local authorities that have identified areas where there 
is a potential risk of exceedence of Air Quality Strategy (AQS) objectives, a Detailed Assessment 
(DA) is required. 

Following nitrogen dioxide (NO2) diffusion tube monitoring at site S8 on the A1062 (Station 
Street), Breckland District Council has identified an exceedence of the NO2 objective occurring 
consistently since 2010. The site is representative of relevant exposure being located on a 
residential property and there is further relevant residential exposure along the length of Station 
Street. Slow moving traffic currently passes this location on the lead up to the northern arm of the 
central junction with Lynn Street and Mangate Street. Due to traffic signals being located at this 
junction there are times where traffic backs up and queues are experienced northerly on Station 
Street having a significant impact on pollutant concentrations. 

Bureau Veritas UK Ltd has therefore been commissioned by Breckland District Council to 
undertake the Detailed Assessment for the area of Station Street (A1062) from the junction with 
Sporle Road to the junction with Market Place incorporating the central junction with Lynn Street 
and Mangate Street, to determine existing concentrations at relevant receptors. 

In order to provide consistency with Breckland District Council’s own work on air quality, the 
guiding principles for air quality assessments, as set out in the latest guidance and tools provided 
by Defra for air quality assessment (LAQM.TG(16)1), have been used. 

The area was modelled using the advanced atmospheric dispersion model ADMS-Roads (Version 
4.0.1). Two separate scenarios were modelled; the first based on the existing road layout of the 
A1062 junction, and the second an alternative road layout (Option 1) based upon a study on 
reducing NOx concentrations at the junction completed by Norfolk County Council2. 

Annual mean NO2 concentrations were found to be below the 40µg/m3 annual mean AQS 
objective at all receptors across both modelled scenarios. Three receptors, 21 Station Street, 15 
Station Street and 57 Lynn Street, were within 10% of the objective for the Existing scenario. The 
highest modelled concentration was at receptor 3 – 21 Station Street for both scenarios, with a 
predicted annual mean NO2 concentration of 36.7µg/m3 and 33.9µg/m3. 

On the basis of the model predicted annual mean NO2 concentrations and the published empirical 
relationship with exceedences of the short-term AQS objective limit, it is considered unlikely that 
the short-term hourly mean NO2 AQS objective would be exceeded at any receptors given the 
concentrations modelled. 

The gridded output of the model demonstrates that the geographical extent of the exceedence 
covers the area along the A1062 from south of the junction with Sporle Road, incorporating the 
central junction with Lynn Street and Mangate Street, and reaching south to the junction with 
Market Place. The extent of the exceedence is reduced slightly in the Option 1 scenario compared 
to the Existing scenario where the road layout has been adapted to match studies completed by 
Norfolk County Council2. 

The modelled road layout was amended for the second modelled scenario based on findings 
made by Norfolk County Council2. A reduction was experienced at all modelled receptors for the 
Option 1 scenario, and also the geographical extent of the areas in exceedence of the annual 
mean AQS objective or within 10% of the objective was reduced. 

                                                      
1 Local Air Quality Management Technical Guidance LAQM.TG(16). April 2016. Published by Defra in partnership with the 
Scottish Government, Welsh Assembly Government and Department of the Environment Northern Ireland. 

37



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 iv 

Following the results of the report, the below recommendations are made: 

� That an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) be declared in the assessment area, the 
extent of which is proposed in Figure 5.3. 

� Continuation of diffusion tube monitoring in the area of the proposed AQMA, particularly 
at sites S1, S7, S8, S11 and S12 to confirm existing concentrations in the modelled 
exceedence area, and to continue diffusion tube monitoring further south down on London 
Street to assess concentrations south of the recommended AQMA boundary. 

� An Air Quality Action Plan is drawn up to determine the best policies and intervention 
measures to put in place in order to reduce local NO2 concentrations. 

� Additional traffic surveys are undertaken in the vicinity of the proposed AQMAs. This will 
minimise the manipulation of traffic data inputs required for future dispersion modelling 
studies, thereby reducing the associated uncertainties of model outputs. 

� Further assessment of the changes to the road network proposed in the Option 1 scenario 
in respect to potential queuing traffic. 

 

38



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 1 

1 Introduction 

1.1. Scope of Assessment 

Following NO2 diffusion tube monitoring within Swaffham at site S8 located on Station Street, 
Breckland District Council (the Council) has identified a consistent exceedence of the NO2 
objective since 2010. There is relevant exposure in the form of residential properties on Station 
Street where traffic slows before the junctions with Lynn Street and Mangate Street in the centre 
of Swaffham. 

Bureau Veritas UK Ltd has therefore been commissioned by the Council to undertake a Detailed 
Assessment (DA) for the area of Station Street, Mangate Street and Lynn Street in Swaffham, to 
determine existing concentrations at relevant receptors. The area considered as part of this study 
is illustrated in Figure 1.1.  

It is the general purpose and intent of this assessment to determine, with reasonable certainty, the 
magnitude and geographical extent of any exceedence so that the Council can have confidence in 
the potential declaration of an AQMA.  

The following are the main objectives of the assessment: 

� To assess the air quality at selected locations (“receptors”) at the façades of the 
existing residential units, representative of worst-case exposure, based on modelling 
of emissions from road traffic on the Existing local road network for 2015; 

� To determine the geographical extent of the potential exceedence; 

� To model a second scenario whereby the road layout is changed to reflect Option 1 
outlined in the Technical Note completed in August 20152; and 

� To put forward conclusions and recommendations as to the extent of any proposed 
AQMA and necessary future monitoring. 

The approach adopted in this assessment to assess the impact of road traffic emissions on air 
quality utilised the atmospheric dispersion model ADMS Roads version 4.0.1, focusing on 
emissions of nitrogen oxides (NOx). 

In order to provide consistency with the Council’s own work on air quality, the guiding principles 
for air quality assessments as set out in the latest guidance and tools provided by Defra for air 
quality assessment (LAQM.TG(16)1) have been used. 

                                                      
2 Norfolk County Council (2015). A1065 Swaffham – Option Testing – Traffic and Air Quality Assessment Technical Note – 
August 2015. 

39



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 2 

Figure 1.1 – Modelled Existing Road Network 

 

 

Contains Ordnance Survey Data Crown Copyright 
and Database Right [2016] 

 

Air Quality 
Bureau Veritas 
5th Floor 
66 Prescott Street 
London, E1 8HG 

Location  

Swaffham, Norfolk 

Title  

Modelled Existing Road Network  

By Approved  

PB JC 

Scale Job Ref  

As shown 6355043 

Date Figure No.  

September 2016 1.1 

40



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 3 

2 Air Quality – Legislative Context 

2.1. Air Quality Strategy 

The importance of existing and future pollutant concentrations can be assessed in relation to the 
national air quality standards and objectives established by Government. The Air Quality Strategy3 
(AQS) provides the over-arching strategic framework for air quality management in the UK and 
contains national air quality standards and objectives established by the UK Government and 
Devolved Administrations to protect human health. The air quality objectives incorporated in the 
AQS and the UK Legislation are derived from Limit Values prescribed in the EU Directives 
transposed into national legislation by Member States.  

The CAFE (Clean Air for Europe) programme was initiated in the late 1990s to draw together 
previous directives into a single EU Directive on air quality. The CAFE Directive4 has been 
adopted and replaces all previous air quality Directives, except the 4th Daughter Directive5. The 
Directive introduces new obligatory standards for PM2.5 for Government but places no statutory 
duty on local government to work towards achievement of these standards. 

The Air Quality Standards (England) Regulations6 2010 came into force on 11 June 2010 in order 
to align and bring together in one statutory instrument the Government’s obligations to fulfil the 
requirements of the new CAFE Directive.  

The objectives for ten pollutants – benzene (C6H6), 1,3-butadiene (C4H6), carbon monoxide (CO), 
lead (Pb), nitrogen dioxide (NO2), sulphur dioxide (SO2), particulate matter - PM10 and PM2.5, 
ozone (O3) and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) have been prescribed within the AQS3. 

The EU Limit Values are considered to apply everywhere with the exception of the carriageway 
and central reservation of roads and any location where the public do not have access (e.g. 
industrial sites). The AQS objectives apply at locations outside buildings or other natural or man-
made structures above or below ground, where members of the public are regularly present and 
might reasonably be expected to be exposed to pollutant concentrations over the relevant 
averaging period. Typically these include residential properties and schools/care homes for long-
term (i.e. annual mean) pollutant objectives and high streets for short-term (i.e. 1-hour) pollutant 
objectives. 

This assessment focuses on NO2 as this is the pollutant of most concern within the Council’s 
administrative area. The monitoring concentrations recorded at S8 – Station Street have been 
shown to exceed the annual mean objective for NO2 in 2014 and previous years. Moreover, as a 
result of traffic pollution the UK has failed to meet the EU Limit Values for this pollutant by the 
2010 target date. As a result, the Government has had to submit time extension applications for 
compliance with the EU Limit Values. Continued failure to achieve these limits may lead to EU 
fines. The AQS objectives for these pollutants are presented in Table 2.1. 

Table 2.1 – Relevant AQS Objectives in England for the Assessed Pollutants  

Pollutant AQS Objective Concentration 
Measured as: Date for Achievement 

Nitrogen dioxide 
(NO2) 

200 µg/m³ not to be exceeded 
more than 18 times per year 

1-hour mean 31 December 2005 

40 µg/m³ Annual mean 31 December 2005 

                                                      
3 Defra (2007) The Air Quality Strategy for England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland. 
4 Directive 2008/50/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 21 May 2008 on ambient air quality and cleaner 
air for Europe. 
5 Directive 2004/107/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 December 2004 relating to arsenic, 
cadmium, mercury, nickel and polycyclic hydrocarbons in ambient air. 
6 The Air Quality Standards Regulations (England) 2010, Statutory Instrument No 1001, The Stationary Office Limited. 

41



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 4 

2.2. Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) 

Part IV of the Environment Act 1995 places a statutory duty on local authorities to periodically 
Review and Assess the current and future air quality within their area, and determine whether they 
are likely to meet the AQS objectives set down by Government for a number of pollutants – a 
process known a Local Air Quality Management (LAQM). The AQS objectives that apply to LAQM 
are defined for seven pollutants: benzene, 1,3-butadiene, carbon monoxide, lead, nitrogen 
dioxide, sulphur dioxide and particulate matter. 

Where the results of the Review and Assessment process highlight that problems in the 
attainment of health-based objectives for air quality will arise, the authority is required to declare 
an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) – a geographic area defined by high concentrations of 
pollution and exceedences of health-based standards.  

Where an authority has declared an AQMA, and development is proposed to take place either 
within or near the declared area, further deterioration to air quality resulting from a proposed 
development can be a potential barrier to gaining consent for the development proposal. Similarly, 
where a development would lead to an increase of the population within an AQMA, the protection 
of residents against the adverse long-term impacts of exposure to existing poor air quality can 
provide the barrier to consent. As such, following an increased number of declarations across the 
UK, it has become standard practice for planning authorities to require an air quality assessment 
to be carried out for a proposed development (even where the size and nature of the development 
indicates that a formal Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) is not required. 

One of the objectives of the LAQM regime is for local authorities to enhance integration of air 
quality into the planning process. Current LAQM Policy Guidance7 clearly recognises land-use 
planning as having a significant role in terms of reducing population exposure to elevated pollutant 
concentrations. Generally, the decisions made on land-use allocation can play a major role in 
improving the health of the population, particularly at sensitive locations – such as schools, 
hospitals and dense residential areas. 

  

                                                      
7 Defra (2016). LAQM Policy Guidance LAQM.PG(16). 

42



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 5 

3 Review and Assessment of Air Quality Undertaken b y the 
Council 

3.1. Local Air Quality Management 

Table 3.1 – Summary of Review and Assessment Undert aken by Breckland District Council 

Title Outcome 
Updating and Screening 

Assessment 2003 Exceedence of the objective for PM10 at East Wretham Heath identified. 

Detailed Assessment 2004 Declaration of an AQMA for PM10 at East Wretham Heath in 2005 

Further Assessment 2006 No exceedences of any objectives likely and no more than the permitted 
number of exceedences for AQMA (PM10)  

Progress Report 2007 No exceedences of any objectives recorded. 

Progress Report 2008 An exceedence of the annual mean objective for NO2 in London Street 
(A1065) in Swaffham was recorded.  

Updating and Screening 
Assessment 2009 

No exceedences of any objectives were recorded.  It was noted that NO2 
levels at London Street (A1065) in Swaffham were close to the objective 
levels.  

Progress Report 2010 
No exceedences of any objectives were recorded.  It was noted that NO2 
levels at London Street and Station Street (A1065) in Swaffham were 
close to the objective levels. 

Progress Report 2011 One exceedence as well as a number of results close to the objective 
levels were recorded along London Street and Station Street (A1065).   

Updating and Screening 
Assessment 2012 

One exceedence as well as a number of results close to the objective 
levels were recorded along London Street and Station Street (A1065).  
Recommended proceed to Detailed Assessment for Station Street. 

Detailed Assessment 
2012 

A detailed assessment was completed to assess the requirement for an 
AQMA due to monitored NO2 exceedences within Swaffham. It was 
concluded that an AQMA wasn’t required as the exceedence was small, 
monitoring was to continue to assess the effects of proposed 
developments. 

Progress Report 
2013 

No exceedences of any objective likely. It was noted that the NO2 

concentration in Station Road and London Street, Swaffham were close 
to the annual mean objective level.  

Progress Report 
2014 

An exceedence of the annual mean objective for NO2 was again 
experienced within Swaffham. It was concluded that a second Detailed 
Assessment should be produced to further investigate NO2 concentration 
in Swaffham. 

Updating and Screening 
Assessment 2015 

No exceedences of the annual mean objective for NO2 were experienced 
within Swaffham. A feasibility study has been completed assessing road 
layout to be used to inform the DA. 

3.2. Review of Air Quality Monitoring 

3.2.1 Automatic Monitoring data 

NO2 automatic monitoring is currently undertaken by the Council at two locations: the Rural 
Background site off Thetford Road, Wretham, and the Roadside site on London Street, Swaffham. 
The continuous monitor located at Wretham is located 21km from Swaffham to the south east and 
therefore is not considered within this report. The continuous monitor located in Swaffham is co-
located with diffusion tubes and a bias adjustment factor for the area is calculated using the 
results. 

 

 

43



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 6 

Table 3.2 – Swaffham Continuous Monitor Details 

Site 
Name 

Site 
Type OS Grid Pollutants 

Monitored 
In 

AQMA? 
Method 

Used 
Relevant 

Exposure? 

Distance to 
kerb of nearest 

road 

S3 Roadside 
582093, 
308469 NO2 N 

Chemilumine-
scence Yes 2m 

Details of the automatic monitoring site S3 are provided in Table 3.2. Recent monitoring results for 
the automatic monitoring site within Swaffham are shown in Table 3.3 and Table 3.4. 

Table 3.3 – Swaffham Continuous Monitoring Annual M ean Results 

Site 
Name 

Valid Data 
Capture for 
period of 

monitoring %  

Valid Data 
Capture 
2014 % 

Annual Mean Concentration ( µµµµg/m3) 

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

S3 99.9 99.9 32 35 31 31 33 33 29 

Table 3.4 – Swaffham Continuous Monitoring Hourly E xceedence Results 

Site 
Name 

Valid Data 
Capture for 
period of 

monitoring %  

Valid Data 
Capture 
2014 % 

Number of Exceedences of Hourly Mean (200 µµµµg/m 3) 

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

S3 99.9 99.9 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 

Results for 2015 indicate that both the annual mean objective and the 1-hour objective for NO2 

were met at the Swaffham S3 continuous monitoring location.  

3.2.2 Nitrogen Dioxide Diffusion Tube Data 

In 2015 the Council undertook passive diffusion tube monitoring of NO2 at 26 locations throughout 
the District. Table 3.5 provides details of the 7 diffusion tube monitoring sites located close to the 
modelled road area, with recorded concentrations given for years 2010 to 2015. The locations of 
the diffusion tube monitoring locations relative to the modelled road network are illustrated in 
Figure 3.1. 

The NO2 annual mean concentration at S8 has been observed to be above the 40µg/m3 Air 
Quality Strategy (AQS) objective for four out of the past six years. Concentrations have been 
relatively consistent over the past six years with a range of 3.9µg/m3 and an average of 39.8µg/m3 
over the period.  

S8 is located on the A1065 Station Street where traffic queues are apparent from the junction with 
Mangate Street/Lynn Street. S7, S11 and S12 are also located on Station Street and recorded 
concentrations between 31.4µg/m3 and 34.8µg/m3 in 2015. During the past six years there have 
not been any exceedences of the annual mean AQS objective at these locations. 

  

44



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 7 

Table 3.5 – LAQM Diffusion Tube Monitoring undertak en within the modelled area 

Site 
ID 

Site 
Type OS Grid Ref In 

AQMA 

Distance 
to Road 

(m) 

Annual Mean NO 2 Concentration (µg/m 3) 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

S1 UC 581986, 309031 N 5 27.8 25.3 25.5 25.9 25.3 22.6 
S7 RS 581999, 309143 N 7 38.7 35.1 36.0 36.4 34.9 34.8 
S8 RS 581980, 309143 N 5 40.0 40.4 38.8 41.6 40.4 37.7 
S9 RS 581949, 309055 N 4 - 25.1 28.6 30.7 28.2 26.4 

S10 RS 581977, 308970 N 3 - 22.9 28.1 28.0 25.9 24.7 
S11 RS 581942, 309162 N 3 - 36.0 35.2 36.7 35.6 34.0 
S12 RS 581987, 309136 N 3 - 36.6 35.2 35.7 34.4 31.4 
In bold , exceedence of the NO2 annual mean AQS objective of 40 µg/m3 
RS = Roadside, UC – Urban Centre 

45



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 8 

Figure 3.1 – Diffusion Tube Locations within Modell ed Road Area 

 

 

Contains Ordnance Survey Data Crown Copyright 
and Database Right [2016] 

 

Air Quality 
Bureau Veritas 
5th Floor 
66 Prescott Street 
London, E1 8HG 

Location  

Swaffham, Norfolk 

Title  

Diffusion Tube Locations within 
Modelled Road Area  

By Approved  

PB JC 

Scale Job Ref  

As shown 6355043 

Date Figure No.  

September 2016 3.1 

46



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 9 

3.3. Background Concentrations used in the Assessme nt 

Defra maintains a nationwide model of existing and future background air quality concentrations at 
a 1km grid square resolution. The data sets include annual average concentration estimates for 
NOx, NO2, PM10 and PM2.5, using a base year of 2013. The model used is semi-empirical in 
nature; it uses the national atmospheric emissions inventory (NAEI) emissions to model-predict 
the concentrations of pollutants at the centroid of each 1km grid square, but then calibrates these 
concentrations in relation to actual monitoring data. 

Annual mean background concentrations have been obtained from the Defra published 
background maps8, based on the 1km grid squares which cover the modelled area and the 
affected road network. The Defra mapped background concentrations for 2015 are presented in 
Table 3.6. 

Table 3.6 – Background Pollutant Concentrations (De fra Background Maps) 

Grid Square (E,N) 
2015 Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m 3) 

NOx NO2 

581500, 309500 14.6 10.7 

581500, 308500 13.0 9.6 

582500, 309500 13.5 10.0 

AQS objective - 40 

These mapped background levels are below the respective annual mean AQS objectives.  

The predicted annual mean road contributions are added to the relevant annual mean background 
concentration in order to predict the total pollutant concentration at each receptor location. The 
total pollutant concentration can then be compared against the relevant AQS objectives to 
determine the event of an exceedence. 

 

                                                      
8 Defra Background Maps (2014). http://laqm.defra.gov.uk/review-and-assessment/tools/background-maps.html  

47



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 10 

4 Assessment Methodology 

The approach used in this assessment has been based on the following:  

� Prediction of ambient NO2 concentrations using the existing road network, to which 
existing receptors may be exposed and comparison with the relevant AQS objectives; 

� Determination of the geographical extent of any potential exceedence; 

� Prediction of ambient NO2 concentrations using the proposed option 1 road network, to 
which existing receptors may be exposed and comparison with the relevant AQS 
objectives; and 

� Assessing the change in NO2 concentrations between the two modelled scenarios. 

4.1. Traffic Assessment 

Emissions from road traffic have been predicted using version 7.0 of the Emissions Factor 
Toolkit9. Road-NOx contributions at receptor locations were modelled using the ADMS-Roads 
(Version 4.0.1) atmospheric dispersion model developed by Cambridge Environmental Research 
Consultants (CERC). 

4.1.1 Model Inputs 

The ADMS-Roads assessment incorporates numbers of road traffic vehicles, vehicle speeds on 
the local roads and the composition of the traffic fleet. The traffic data for this assessment has 
been provided by Traffic Survey Partners in conjunction with Norfolk County Council10. A traffic 
turning count was completed on Tuesday the 24th of March 2015 where all turning points were 
surveyed over a 12-hour period. A factor was provided by Ian Parkes of Norfolk County Council to 
factor the 12-hour data up to 24-hour Average Annual Daily Traffic (AADT), the factor provided 
was 1.208. 

Traffic speed data was estimated and confirmed with Breckland District Council to be 
representable of existing conditions on the modelled road links. Where appropriate, the speeds 
have been reduced to simulate queues at junctions and traffic lights. Traffic data used within this 
assessment is outlined in Table 4.1. 

Table 4.1 – Traffic Data used in the Detailed Asses sment 

Link a Link Total (24-hour) % Car % LGV % HGV % Bus and Coach % Motocycle  

A – A 10 50% 50% - - - 

A – B 600 87.93% 11.07% 0.20% 0.20% 0.60% 

A – C 2919 82.77% 12.74% 3.63% 0.41% 0.45% 

A – D 753 77.37% 8.83% 5.62% 7.54% 0.64% 

B – A 539 84.53% 15.02% 0.22% - 0.22% 

B – B 0 - - - - - 

B – C 914 84.81% 12.29% 2.64% 0.26% - 

B – D 1099 85.6% 10.22% 1.87% 1.98% 0.33% 

C – A 3138 83.22% 12.25% 4.04% 0.38% 0.12% 

C – B 437 80.39% 11.05% 6.63% 1.93% - 

                                                      
9 EFT_v7.0 available at - http://laqm.defra.gov.uk/review-and-assessment/tools/emissions-factors-toolkit.html   
10 Traffic Survey Partners (2015). Swaffham Manual Classified Traffic Count (TSP12144), 24th March 2015, 07:00 – 19:00. 

48



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 11 

Link a Link Total (24-hour) % Car % LGV % HGV % Bus and Coach % Motocycle  

C – C 0 - - - - - 

C – D 182 82.78% 11.92% - 4.64% 0.66% 

D – A 1138 80.15% 10.30% 3.61% 5.41% 0.53% 

D – B 1053 86.81% 11.47% 0.46% 0.8% 0.46% 

D – C 310 81.71% 17.90% - - 0.39% 

D – D 0 - - - - - 
a Links: A – A1065 Station Street, B – Mangate Street, C – Lynn Street, D – A1065 

The assessment has assumed traffic flows and background monitoring data for the year 2015. 

Background pollutant concentrations have been taken from the estimated background 
concentrations compiled by Defra8, as discussed previously in Section 3.3. Background 
concentrations used in the assessment of road traffic emissions are shown in Table 3.6. 

The receptors considered in the assessment of emissions from road traffic are shown in Table 4.2 
and their location illustrated in Figure 4.1. NO2 concentrations were also modelled across a 
regular gridded area of 550x400m with receptors spaced every 4 metres. Additional receptor 
points were added close to the modelled road links, using the intelligent gridding tool in ADMS 
Roads. 

Table 4.2 – Swaffham Receptor Locations 

ID Receptors 
Coordinates 

Height (m) 
X Y 

1 26 Station Street 581969 309237 1.5 

2 20-24 Station Street 581971 309190 1.5 

3 21 Station Street 581992 309186 1.5 

4 16-20 Station Street 581972 309171 1.5 

5 15 Station Street 581991 309166 1.5 

6 12 Station Street 581975 309146 1.5 

7 7 Station Street 581998 309126 1.5 

8 10 Station Street 581976 309125 1.5 

9 8 Station Street 581980 309108 1.5 

10 1 Station Street 582008 309094 1.5 

11 17 Mangate Street 582049 309077 1.5 

12 57 Lynn Street 581976 309070 1.5 

13 42 Market Place 581934 309055 1.5 

14 31-33 Market Place 581889 309048 1.5 

15 61 Market Place 581987 309047 1.5 

16 69 Market Place 581986 309011 1.5 

17 77/81 Market Place 581986 308987 1.5 

18 87 Market Place 581999 308934 1.5 

19 91 Market Place 581997 308912 1.5 

20 Market Place 581962 308911 1.5 

21 13 Market Place 581951 308974 1.5 

22 10 Market Place 581939 308999 1.5 

23 5 Market Place 581929 309028 1.5 

24 5a Market Place 581913 309024 1.5 

The road layout for the Option 1 scenario has been taken from the Norfolk County Council 
Technical Note2 which has been identified as the best performing of 4 road layout options in 

49



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 12 

relation to % reduction of NOx emissions. Option 1 includes the removal of all traffic signal 
junctions from the intersection replacing them with two major/minor priority junctions and 
uncontrolled pedestrian crossings with a central refuge across all four approaches. The Option 1 
modelled road network, including receptor locations is presented in Figure 4.2. 

Meteorological data from a representative station is required by the dispersion model. 2015 
meteorological data from Marham weather station has been used in this assessment. A wind rose 
for this site for the year 2015 is shown in Figure 4.3. Most dispersion models do not use 
meteorological data if they relate to calm winds conditions, as dispersion of air pollutants is more 
difficult to calculate in these circumstances. ADMS-Roads treats calm wind conditions by setting 
the minimum wind speed to 0.75m/s. It is recommended in LAQM.TG(16) that the meteorological 
data file be tested within a dispersion model and the relevant output log file checked, to confirm 
the number of missing hours and calm hours that cannot be used by the dispersion model. This is 
important when considering predictions of high percentiles and the number of exceedences. 
LAQM.TG(16) recommends that meteorological data should only be used if the percentage of 
usable hours is greater than 75%, and preferably 90%. 2015 meteorological data from Marham 
includes 8,744 lines of usable hourly data out of the total 8,760 for the year, i.e. 99.82% usable 
data, this is therefore suitable for the dispersion modelling exercise. 

4.1.2 Model Outputs 

The background pollutant values available from Defra8 have been used in the ADMS-Roads 
model to calculate predicted total annual mean concentrations of NOx and NO2. These background 
pollutant concentrations are based upon all of the sources of air pollutants in the 1km grid square 
and any air pollutants from adjacent grid squares which may be of relevance.  

For the prediction of annual mean NO2 concentrations for the modelled scenario, the output of the 
ADMS-Roads model for NOx has been converted to NO2 following the methodology in 
LAQM.TG(16)1 and using the NOx to NO2 conversion tool developed on behalf of Defra. This tool 
also utilises the total background NOx and NO2 concentrations. This assessment has utilised 
version 5.1 (June 2016) of the NOx to NO2 conversion tool. The road contribution is then added to 
the appropriate NO2 background concentration value to obtain an overall total NO2 concentration.  

For the prediction of short term NO2 impacts, LAQM.TG(16) advises that it is valid to assume that 
exceedences of the 1-hour mean AQS objective for NO2 are only likely to occur where the annual 
mean NO2 concentration is 60µg/m3 or greater. This approach has thus been adopted for the 
purposes of this assessment.  

Verification of the ADMS assessment has been undertaken using the local authority monitoring 
locations which are located adjacent to the affected road network. All NO2 results presented in the 
assessment are those calculated following the process of model verification, using a factor of 
3.734 for all receptors. Appendix 2 – ADMS Model Verification provides full details of the model 
verification process. 

 

 

50



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 13 

Figure 4.1 – Modelled Receptor Locations – Existing  Road Network 

 

 

Contains Ordnance Survey Data Crown Copyright 
and Database Right [2016] 

 

Air Quality 
Bureau Veritas 
5th Floor 
66 Prescott Street 
London, E1 8HG 

Location  

Swaffham, Norfolk 

Title  

Modelled Receptor Locations  

By Approved  
PB JC 
Scale Job Ref  

As shown 6355043 

Date Figure No.  

September 2016 4.1 

51



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 14 

Figure 4.2 – Modelled Receptor Locations – Option 1  Road Network 

 

 

Contains Ordnance Survey Data Crown Copyright 
and Database Right [2016] 

 

Air Quality 
Bureau Veritas 
5th Floor 
66 Prescott Street 
London, E1 8HG 

Location  

Swaffham, Norfolk 

Title  

Modelled Receptor Locations – 
Option 1 Road Network  

By Approved  
PB JC 
Scale Job Ref  

As shown 6355043 

Date Figure No.  
September 2016 4.2 

52



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 15 

Figure 4.3 – Wind rose for Marham Meteorological Da ta 2015 

 

 

Contains Ordnance Survey Data Crown Copyright 
and Database Right [2016] 

Air Quality 
Bureau Veritas 
5th Floor 
66 Prescott Street 
London, E1 8HG 

Location  

Swaffham, Norfolk 

Title  

Wind Rose for Marham 
Meteorological Data 2015  

By Approved  

PB JC 

Scale Job Ref  

As shown 6355043 

Date Figure  No. 

September 2016 4.3 

0

0

3

1.5

6

3.1

10

5.1

16

8.2

(knots)

(m/s)

Wind speed

0° 10°
20°

30°

40°

50°

60°

70°

80°

90°

100°

110°

120°

130°

140°

150°
160°

170°180°190°
200°

210°

220°

230°

240°

250°

260°

270°

280°

290°

300°

310°

320°

330°
340°

350°

100

200

300

400

500

600

53



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 16 

5 Results 

This assessment has considered emissions of NOx from road traffic and the resultant NO2 
concentrations at existing receptor locations. The results of the dispersion modelling are provided 
below, for those receptor locations detailed and illustrated in Table 5.1, Figure 5.1, and Figure 5.2 
respectively. 

Table 5.1 presents the annual mean NO2 concentrations predicted at existing residential receptor 
locations for 2015 for both the Existing and Option 1 road networks modelled scenarios, and the 
% reduction in concentration between the two scenarios. 

The model suggests that the 40µg/m3 annual mean AQS objective is observed to be met at all 
receptor locations, with three receptors within the Existing scenario (21 Station Street, 15 Station 
Street and 57 Lynn Street) being within 10% of the objective. The maximum annual mean NO2 
concentration for both modelled scenarios was predicted at receptor 3 – 21 Station Street, with 
predicted concentrations of 36.7µg/m3 and 33.9µg/m3 respectively. 

The empirical relationship given in LAQM.TG(16)1 states that exceedences of the 1-hour mean 
objective for NO2 are only likely to occur where annual mean concentrations are 60µg/m3 or 
above. Annual mean NO2 concentrations at all receptor locations are below this limit, and 
therefore short-term NO2 exposure from road traffic emissions at the assessed receptor locations 
is not considered to be significant. 

Table 5.1 – Predicted Annual Mean NO 2 Concentrations for 2015 

ID Height 
(m) 

AQS 
objective  
(µg/m 3) 

Existing  
2015 

(µg/m 3) 

% of AQS 
Objective 

Option 1  
2015 

(µg/m 3) 

% of AQS 
Objective 

% Reduction 
between Existing 

and Option 1 

1 1.5 40 23.5 58.63 21.2 52.95 9.68 

2 1.5 40 27.4 68.55 25.4 63.45 7.44 

3 1.5 40 36.7 91.75 33.9 84.68 7.71 

4 1.5 40 26.9 67.18 25.0 62.40 7.11 

5 1.5 40 36.4 90.98 33.6 83.88 7.80 

6 1.5 40 27.3 68.25 25.4 63.53 6.92 

7 1.5 40 31.5 78.63 30.0 74.90 4.74 

8 1.5 40 28.5 71.13 26.9 67.35 5.31 

9 1.5 40 30.8 76.98 29.3 73.25 4.84 

10 1.5 40 26.5 66.25 24.4 61.08 7.81 

11 1.5 40 21.5 53.70 18.7 46.63 13.18 

12 1.5 40 36.2 90.58 31.8 79.45 12.28 

13 1.5 40 23.9 59.75 20.7 51.80 13.31 

14 1.5 40 19.8 49.60 17.2 42.93 13.46 

15 1.5 40 31.1 77.80 27.8 69.53 10.64 

16 1.5 40 25.5 63.70 22.1 55.25 13.27 

17 1.5 40 23.6 58.90 19.6 49.00 16.81 

18 1.5 40 16.8 42.03 14.6 36.53 13.09 

19 1.5 40 15.3 38.20 13.6 33.90 11.26 

20 1.5 40 22.6 56.45 18.7 46.63 17.40 

21 1.5 40 19.7 49.35 16.9 42.13 14.64 

22 1.5 40 17.1 42.70 15.2 38.03 10.95 

23 1.5 40 21.5 53.63 18.7 46.70 12.91 

24 1.5 40 20.8 52.03 18.0 44.93 13.65 

In bold , exceedence of the NO2 annual mean AQS objective of 40 µg/m3 
Underlined, result within 10% of annual mean NO2 objective of 40 µg/m3 

54



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 17 

From Table 5.1 it can be seen that NO2 concentrations are reduced at all modelled receptors 
when comparing the Existing scenario with the Option 1 scenario. The range of reduction is 
12.66% and the highest reduction of 17.40% was experienced at receptor 20 (Market Place). 

Annual mean NO2 concentrations were also predicted at gridded receptor locations within a grid 
with a minimum spatial resolution of 4m, covering the modelled area for the purposes of 
generating concentration isopleths.  

Figure 5.1 and Figure 5.2 illustrate the annual mean NO2 concentration isopleths for both the 
Existing road network and the Option 1 road network modelled scenarios. To mitigate against the 
uncertainty of the modelled results, 40µg/m3 and 36µg/m3 concentration isopleths (i.e. ±10% of 
the AQS objective) are presented.  

The difference in modelled concentrations can be seen between Figure 5.1 and Figure 5.2, with a 
slight reduction in the area predicted to be above the annual mean AQS objective of 40µg/m3 
apparent in the Option 1 scenario. The second isopleth of 36µg/m3 can be seen to remain largely 
constant on Station Street between both scenarios with slight reductions of area on the other 
junction links. 

Given the modelled results and that there is exposure of relevant receptors to concentrations 
within 10% of the AQS objective, coupled with the uncertainties associated with the model outputs 
and continual development in and around Swaffham, it is recommended that an AQMA should be 
designated for the area. The proposed extent of the AQMA area is presented in Figure 5.3. 

 

55



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 18 

Figure 5.1 – Annual Mean NO 2 Concentration Isopleths (µg/m 3) Existing Road Network 

 

Contains Ordnance Survey Data Crown Copyright 
and Database Right [2016] 

 

Air Quality 
Bureau Veritas 
5th Floor 
66 Prescott Street 
London, E1 8HG 

Location  

Swaffham, Norfolk 

Title  

Annual Mean NO 2 Concentration 
Isopleths (µg/m 3) Existing Road 
Network  

By Approved  
PB JC 
Scale Job Ref  

As shown 6355043 

Date Figure No.  
September 2016 5.1 

 
  

56



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 19 

Figure 5.2 – Annual Mean NO2 Concentration Isopleth s (µg/m3) Option 1 Road Network 

 

Contains Ordnance Survey Data Crown Copyright 
and Database Right [2016] 

 

Air Quality 
Bureau Veritas 
5th Floor 
66 Prescott Street 
London, E1 8HG 

Location  

Swaffham, Norfolk 

Title  

Annual Mean NO 2 Concentration 
Isopleths (µg/m 3) Option 1 Road 
Network  

By Approved  
PB JC 
Scale Job Ref  

As shown 6355043 

Date Figure No.  
September 2016 5.2 

  

57



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 20 

Figure 5.3 – Proposed AQMA Boundary 

 

Contains Ordnance Survey Data Crown Copyright 
and Database Right [2016] 

 

Air Quality 
Bureau Veritas 
5th Floor 
66 Prescott Street 
London, E1 8HG 

Location  

Swaffham, Norfolk 

Title  

Proposed AQMA Boundary  

By Approved  
PB JC 
Scale Job Ref  

As shown 6355043 

Date Figure No.  
September 2016 5.3 

 

58



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 21 

6 Conclusions and Recommendations 

Bureau Veritas UK Ltd, on behalf of Breckland District Council, has produced a Detailed 
Assessment of nitrogen dioxide (NO2) concentrations at the cross junction at the centre of 
Swaffham where the A1065 forms a junction with Lynn Street and Mangate Street. The following 
section provides the conclusions of this assessment. 

6.1. Predicted Concentrations 

The ADMS-Roads dispersion model (version 4.0.1) has been used to determine the likely NO2 
concentrations at existing receptor locations. Two separate scenarios were modelled; the first 
based on the existing road layout of the A1062 junction, and the second an alternative road layout 
(Option 1) based upon a study on reducing NOx concentrations at the junction completed by 
Norfolk County Council2. 

Assessed locations included 24 existing receptors around the main roads of concern, 
representative of worst-case exposure. The main area of concern was highlighted as Station 
Street where a diffusion tube monitoring site had exceeded the NO2 annual mean AQS objective 
of 40µg/m3 in previous years monitoring results. Annual mean NO2 concentrations were found to 
be below the annual mean AQS objective at all receptors for both modelling scenarios. Three 
receptors (21 Station Street, 15 Station Street and 57 Lynn Street) were found to be within 10% of 
the objective for the Existing scenario, no receptors were above 10% of the objective for the 
Option 1 scenario. The highest modelled concentration was at receptor 3 – 21 Station Street for 
both modelling scenarios, with a predicted annual mean NO2 concentration of 36.7µg/m3 and 
33.9µg/m3. 

With respect to the hourly NO2 objective, all modelled concentrations were below the 60µg/m3, 
above which exceedences of the short-term NO2 AQS objective are considered possible, and thus 
exceedences of the 1-hour mean AQS objective are considered unlikely at any receptors. 

The gridded output of the model demonstrates that the geographical extent of the exceedence 
covers the area along the A1062 from south of the junction with Sporle Road, incorporating the 
central junction with Lynn Street and Mangate Street, and reaching south to the junction with 
Market Place. The extent of the exceedence is reduced slightly in the Option 1 scenario compared 
to the Existing scenario where the road layout has been adapted to match studies completed by 
Norfolk County Council2. 

Although no exceedences were predicted at receptor locations for either modelled scenario, NO2 
concentrations at three residential receptor locations for the Existing scenario were found to be 
within 10% of the annual mean AQS objective. The concentrations at these receptor locations fell 
below within 10% of the AQS objective when the road layout was changed for the Option 1 
scenario. Due to changes in the road layout not being confirmed the Council should look to 
declare an AQMA incorporating all locations where annual mean concentrations of NO2 within the 
assessment area are exceeding, or are within 10% of the annual mean AQS objective. 

An additional scenario (Option 1) was modelled based on a study completed by Norfolk County 
Council comparing predicted reductions of NOx within the assessment area2. The road layout of 
the model was changed to match the Option 1 scenario presented in the report to assess possible 
reductions of NO2 concentrations from changing the existing road layout. A reduction was 
experienced at all modelled receptors for the Option 1 scenario, and also the geographical extent 
of the areas in exceedence of the annual mean AQS objective or within 10% of the objective was 
reduced. The scenario assumed that traffic through the central junction was more free flowing due 
to the removal of all traffic signals and introducing two major/minor priority junctions. Although a 
reduction was recorded in the Option 1 scenario, it is recommended that further investigation work 
be completed in the Option 1 road layout to assess the possibility of queuing traffic where vehicles 
would have to wait to complete manoeuvres across oncoming traffic. 

59



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 22 

In conclusion, this assessment has demonstrated that in the area of the A1062 from the junction 
with Sporle Road to the junction with Market Place, including the central junction with Lynn Street 
and Mangate Street, local NO2 concentrations are in breach of the 40µg/m3 annual mean AQS 
objective with the current road network in place. Although concentrations are below the objective 
at residential receptor locations, they are receptors exposed to levels within 10% of the objective 
limit. Given the uncertainties associated with the model outputs and continual development 
planned in around Swaffham, it is therefore recommended that an AQMA be declared. The 
proposed extent of the AQMA is illustrated in Figure 5.3. 

6.2. Future Recommendations 

Following the above conclusions, the following recommendations are made: 

� That an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) be declared in the assessment area, the 
extent of which is proposed in Figure 5.3. 

� Continuation of diffusion tube monitoring in the area of the proposed AQMA, particularly 
at sites S1, S7, S8, S11 and S12 to confirm existing concentrations in the modelled 
exceedence area, and to continue diffusion tube monitoring further south down on London 
Street to assess concentrations south of the recommended AQMA boundary. 

� An Air Quality Action Plan is drawn up to determine the best policies and intervention 
measures to put in place in order to reduce local NO2 concentrations. 

� Additional traffic surveys are undertaken in the vicinity of the proposed AQMAs. This will 
minimise the manipulation of traffic data inputs required for future dispersion modelling 
studies, thereby reducing the associated uncertainties of model outputs. 

� Further assessment of the changes to the road network proposed in the Option 1 scenario 
in respect to potential queuing traffic. 

  

60



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 23 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendices 
 

61



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 24 

Appendix 1 – Background to Air Quality 

Emissions from road traffic contribute significantly to ambient pollutant concentrations in urban 
areas. The main constituents of vehicle exhaust emissions, produced by fuel combustion are 
carbon dioxide (CO2) and water vapour (H2O). However, combustion engines are not 100% 
efficient and partial combustion of fuel results in emissions of a number of other pollutants, 
including carbon monoxide (CO), particulate matter (PM), Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs) 
and hydrocarbons (HC). For HC, the pollutants of most concern are 1,3 - butadiene (C4H6) and 
benzene (C6H6). In addition, some of the nitrogen (N) in the air is oxidised under the high 
temperature and pressure during combustion; resulting in emissions of oxides of nitrogen (NOx). 
NOx emissions from vehicles predominately consist of nitrogen oxide (NO), but also contain 
nitrogen dioxide (NO2). Once emitted, NO can be oxidised in the atmosphere to produce further 
NO2. 

The quantities of each pollutant emitted depend upon a number of parameters; including the type 
and quantity of fuel used, the engine size, the vehicle speed, and the type of emissions abatement 
equipment fitted. Once emitted, these pollutants disperse in the air. Where there is no additional 
source of emission, pollutant concentrations generally decrease with distance from roads, until 
concentrations reach those of the background. 

This air quality assessment focuses on NO2 as this pollutant is unlikely to meet respective Air 
Quality Strategy (AQS) objectives near roads. This has been confirmed over recent years by the 
outcome of the Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) regime. The most recent statistics11 
regarding Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) show that, 601 AQMAs were declared in the 
UK, of which 562 include NO2 and 99 include PM10 (a number of AQMAs have been declared for 
both pollutants). The majority (92%) of existing AQMAs have been declared in relation to road 
traffic emissions. 

In line with these results, the reports produced by the Council under the LAQM regime have 
confirmed that road traffic within their administrative area is the main issue in relation to air quality. 

An overview of NO2, describing briefly the sources and processes influencing ambient 
concentrations, is presented below. 

Nitrogen Oxides (NO x) 

NO and NO2, collectively known as NOx, are produced during the high temperature combustion 
processes involving the oxidation of N. Initially, NOx are mainly emitted as NO, which then 
undergoes further oxidation in the atmosphere, particularly with ozone (O3), to produce secondary 
NO2. Production of secondary NO2 could also be favoured due to a class of compounds, VOCs, 
typically present in urban environments, and under certain meteorological conditions, such as hot 
sunny days and stagnant anti-cyclonic winter conditions. 

Of NOx, it is NO2 that is associated with health impacts. Exposure to NO2 can bring about 
reversible effects on lung function and airway responsiveness. It may also increase reactivity to 
natural allergens, and exposure to NO2 puts children at increased risk of respiratory infection and 
may lead to poorer lung function in later life. 

In the UK, emissions of NOx have decreased by 62% between 1990 and 2010. For 2010, NOx (as 
NO2) emissions were estimated to be 1,106kt. The transport sector remained the largest source of 
NOx emissions with road transport contribution 34% to NOx emissions in 2010. 

                                                      
11 Statistics from the UK AQMA website available at http://aqma.defra.gov.uk –  Figures as of January 2013 

62



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 25 

Appendix 2 – ADMS Model Verification 

The ADMS-Roads dispersion model has been widely validated for this type of assessment and is 
specifically listed in the Defra’s LAQM.TG(16)1 guidance as an accepted dispersion model. 

Model validation undertaken by the software developer (CERC) will not have included validation in 
the vicinity of the proposed development site. It is therefore necessary to perform a comparison of 
modelled results with local monitoring data at relevant locations. This process of verification 
attempts to minimise modelling uncertainty and systematic error by correcting modelled results by 
an adjustment factor to gain greater confidence in the final results.  

The predicted results from a dispersion model may differ from measured concentrations for a 
large number of reasons, including uncertainties associated with:  

� Background concentration estimates;  

� Source activity data such as traffic flows and emissions factors;  

� Monitoring data, including locations; and 

� Overall model limitations. 

Model verification is the process by which these and other uncertainties are investigated and 
where possible minimised. In reality, the differences between modelled and monitored results are 
likely to be a combination of all of these aspects.  

Model setup parameters and input data were checked prior to running the models in order to 
reduce these uncertainties. The following were checked to the extent possible to ensure accuracy:  

� Traffic data;  

� Distance between sources and monitoring as represented in the model;  

� Speed estimates on roads;  

� Background monitoring and background estimates; and 

� Monitoring data. 

The traffic data for this assessment has been collated from a Traffic Count Survey completed by 
Traffic Survey Partners for Norfolk County Council on the 14th March 201510. Traffic speed data 
have been estimated and agreed with the Council to be representative of the separate road links 
that have been modelled. Where appropriate, the speeds have been reduced to simulate queues 
at junctions and traffic lights. 

Breckland District Council undertakes passive monitoring as part of its LAQM commitments at 30 
locations (2 automatic, 28 passive), 7 of which are located in the modelled area and have been 
used for the purpose of model verification.  

Details of the 7 LAQM monitoring sites considered for the purposes of model verification are 
presented in Table A1.  

  

63



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 26 

Table A1 – Local Monitoring Data Suitable for Model  Verification 

Site ID Location OS Grid Reference a Data Capture 
for 2015 

2015 Annual 
Mean NO2 

(µg/m 3) 

S1 Simpsons Butchers, 73 Market Place 581986, 309031 100% 22.6 

S7 Station Street 581999, 309099 100% 34.8 

S8 Station Street 581979, 309162 91.7% 37.7 

S9 Anglia Computer Solutions, 53 Market Place 581959, 309057 100% 26.4 

S10 Kev’s Tackle, 2 Mangate Street 582007, 309058 100% 24.7 

S11 13 Station Street 581990, 309145 100% 34.0 

S12 Glaisedale Lamp Post, Station Street 581978, 283336 100% 31.4 

In bold , exceedence of the NO2 annual mean AQS objective of 40 µg/m3 

Verification calculations 

The verification of the modelling output was performed in accordance with the methodology 
provided in Chapter 7 of LAQM.TG(16)1. 

For the verification and adjustment of NOx/NO2, the LAQM diffusion tube monitoring data was 
used as detailed above. The data capture for 2015 at the 7 sites was above 75% so there were no 
sites requiring annualisation. Table A2 below shows an initial comparison of the monitored and 
unverified modelled NO2 results for the year 2015, in order to determine if verification and 
adjustment was required.  

Table A2 – Comparison of Unverified Modelled and Mo nitored NO 2 Concentrations 

Site ID Site Type 
Background 

NO2 
Monitored total NO 2 

(µg/m 3) 
Modelled total NO 2 

(µg/m 3) 
% Difference (modelled 

vs. monitored) 

S1 Urban Centre 10.7 22.6 24.50 8.36 

S7 Roadside 10.7 34.8 33.24 -4.57 

S8 Roadside 10.7 37.7 36.08 -4.25 

S9 Roadside 10.0 26.4 26.61 0.83 

S10 Roadside 10.7 24.7 24.37 -1.18 

S11 Roadside 10.7 34.0 34.19 0.44 

S12 Roadside 10.7 31.4 33.72 7.42 

The model was found to be under-predicting at 3 locations and over-predicting at 4 locations, no 
further improvement of the modelled results could be obtained on this occasion. The relevant data 
was gathered to allow an adjustment factor to be calculated. 

Model adjustment needs to be undertaken based on NOx and not NO2. For the diffusion tube 
monitoring results that have been used in the calculation of the model adjustment, NOx 
concentrations have been derived from NO2 concentrations; these calculations were undertaken 
using the NOx to NO2 Calculator tool available from the LAQM website12. Table A3 provides the 
relevant data required to calculate the model adjustment based on regression of the modelled and 
monitored road source contribution to NOx. 

 

 

                                                      
12 http://laqm.defra.gov.uk/review-and-assessment/tools/background-maps.html#NOxNO2calc 

64



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 27 

Table A3 – Data Required for Adjustment Factor Calc ulation 

Site ID 
Monitored 
total NO 2 
(µg/m 3) 

Monitored 
total NO x 
(µg/m 3) 

Background 
NO2 (µg/m 3) 

Background 
NOx (µg/m 3) 

Monitored 
road 

contribution 
NO2 (total - 

background) 
(µg/m 3) 

Monitored 
road 

contribution 
NOx (total - 

background) 
(µg/m 3) 

Modelled 
road 

contribution 
NOx (excludes 
background) 

(µg/m 3) 

S1 22.6 37.9 10.7 14.6 11.9 23.3 7.3 
S7 34.8 65.0 10.7 14.6 24.1 50.4 12.5 
S8 37.7 71.9 10.7 14.6 27.0 57.3 14.3 
S9 26.4 47.4 10.0 14.6 16.4 32.8 8.9 
S10 24.7 41.2 10.7 13.5 14.0 27.6 7.2 
S11 34.0 63.2 10.7 14.6 23.3 48.6 13.1 
S12 31.4 57.0 10.7 14.6 20.7 42.4 12.8 

Figure A1 provides a comparison of the Monitored Road NOx Contribution versus the Unverified 
Modelled Road NOx and the equation of the trend line based on linear regression through zero. 
The Total Monitored NOx concentration has been derived by back-calculating NOx from the 
NOx/NO2 empirical relationship using the spreadsheet tool available from Defra’s website12. The 
equation of the trend lines presented in Figure A1 gives an adjustment factor for the modelled 
results of 3.734. 

 

65



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 28 

Figure A1 – Comparison of the Modelled Road Contrib ution NO x versus Monitored Road Contribution NO x 

 

 

Contains Ordnance Survey Data Crown Copyright 
and Database Right [2016] 

Air Quality 
Bureau Veritas 
5th Floor 
66 Prescott Street 
London, E1 8HG 

Location  

Swaffham, Norfolk 

Title  

Comparison of Modelled Road NO x 
versus Monitored Road NO x 

By Approved  

PB JC 

Scale Job Ref  

As shown 6355043 

Date Figure No.  

September 2016 A1 

 

y = 3.7343x R2 = 0.995

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140

M
o

n
it

o
re

d
 R

o
a

d
 N

O
x

C
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n

Unverified Modelled Road NOx Contribution

Series1

y=x

y=x-25%

y=x+25%

y=x+10%

y=x-10%

y = 3.7343x

66



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 29 

Figure A1 and Table A4 show the ratios between monitored and modelled NO2 for each 
monitoring location. LAQM.TG(16)1 states that In order to provide more confidence in the model 
predictions, the majority of results should be within 25%, ideally within 10% of the monitored. The 
sites show an acceptable level of agreement, consequently a factor of 3.734 can therefore be 
used for verification. 

Table A4 – Adjustment Factor and Comparison of Veri fied Results Against Monitoring 
Results 

Site ID 

Ratio of 
monitored 

road 
contribution 

NOx / modelled 
road 

contribution 
NOx 

Adjustment 
factor for 

modelled road 
contribution 

NOx 

Adjusted 
modelled road 
contribution 
NOx (µg/m 3) 

Adjusted 
modelled total 
NOx (including 

background 
NOx) (µg/m 3) 

Modelled total 
NO2 (based 

upon empi rical 
NOx / NO2 

relationship) 
(µg/m 3) 

Monitored 
total NO 2 
(µg/m 3) 

% 
Difference 
(adjusted 
modelled 
NO2 vs. 

monitored 
NO2) 

S1 3.19 

3.734 

27.30 41.90 24.50 22.61 8.36 

S7 4.03 46.68 61.28 33.24 34.83 -4.57 

S8 4.00 53.40 68.01 36.08 37.68 -4.25 

S9 3.68 33.27 47.88 26.61 26.39 0.83 

S10 3.82 27.04 40.57 24.37 24.66 -1.18 

S11 3.71 48.92 63.52 34.19 34.04 0.44 

S12 3.31 47.80 62.40 33.72 31.39 7.42 

Table A4 and Figure A2 show the ratios between monitored and modelled NO2 for each 
monitoring location. The sites show acceptable agreement between the ratios of monitored and 
modelled NO2, being within ±25%. A verification factor of 3.734 was therefore used to adjust the 
model results. A factor of 3.734 reduces the Root Mean Square Error (RMSE) from a value of 
11.445 to 9.737. 

The verification factor was applied to the road contribution NOx contribution predicted by the 
model to arrive at the final NO2 concentrations. NO2 results presented and discussed herein for all 
receptors are those calculated following the process of model verification using the calculated 
adjustment factor of 3.734. 

 

67



Breckland District Council - Swaffham 
Detailed Assessment 
 
 
 

Bureau Veritas  
AIR6355043 30 

Figure A2 – Comparison of the Modelled NO 2 versus Monitored NO 2 in Verification Zone A 

 

 

Contains Ordnance Survey Data Crown Copyright 
and Database Right [2016] 

Air Quality 
Bureau Veritas 
5th Floor 
66 Prescott Street 
London, E1 8HG 

Location  

Swaffham, Norfolk 

Title  

Comparison of Modelled NO 2 
versus Monitored NO 2 

By Approved  

PB JC 

Scale Job Ref  

As shown 6355043 

Date Figure No.  

September 2016 A2 

   

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

M
o

n
it

o
re

d
  N

O
2

Verified Modelled Total NO2

Series1

y=x

y=x-25%

y=x+25%

y=x+10%

y=x-10%

68



Borough Council of 
King’s Lynn & West 
Norfolk 

 
Air Quality Action Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
Making King’s Lynn a cleaner, more 
environmentally friendly place to live,  
work and visit 

 

 
 

 

 

2015 

Version 10 

 

69



 

 - ii - 
 

 
 
 
Title Air Quality Action Plan for the King’s Lynn Town Centre & Gaywood Clock 

Air Quality Management Areas 

 
Authority The Borough Council of King’s Lynn and West Norfolk 

 

 
 
Authors Name David Robson & Fabia Pollard 

 
Approved by Name Dave Robson 

 
 Signature  

 

 Date 2015 

Reference number Version 10 

70



 

 - iii - 
 

 

Executive summary 

The Environment Act 1995 requires all local authorities to review air quality within their districts. If it 
appears that any air quality ‘Objective’ prescribed in the regulations and in the National Air Quality 
Strategy (NAQS) is unlikely to be achieved then the local authority must designate the affected area 
as Air Quality Management Area (AQMA). The Act then requires that an Air Quality Action Plan 
(AQAP) be produced for any area designated as an AQMA, setting out the actions that the Borough 
Council intend to take to achieve the NAQS. 
 
This local AQAP sets out a work programme to improve air quality in and around the King’s Lynn 
Town Centre and Gaywood AQMAs, declared due to exceedences of the NAQS annual mean 
objectives for nitrogen dioxide (NO2). This report has been prepared by King’s Lynn & West Norfolk 
Borough Council (hereafter referred to as the Borough Council) in partnership with Norfolk County 
Council (the local transport authority and hereafter referred to as the County Council). This document 
is for consultation with the public and other statutory consultees in advance of a final plan being 
submitted to central Government and the Councils for approval, and subsequently implemented. 
 
The AQAP identifies that the likely dominant source of NO2 in both AQMAs is from road transport, and 
in particular from cars and buses. Background levels also contribute significantly.  
 
Based upon 2007 figures used in the 2008 Detailed Assessment of Air Quality In the Kings Lynn 
AQMA a 20% reduction in traffic emissions of nitrogen oxides (or NOX, which is a precursor to NO2) is 
necessary to achieve the annual mean air quality objective for NO2. This is equivalent to a 24μg/m

3
 

reduction in ambient concentrations of NOX, and approximately equivalent to a 6μg/m
3
 (12%) 

reduction in NO2.  
 
In the Gaywood AQMA evidence suggests that a 26% reduction in traffic emissions of oxides of 
nitrogen (or NOX, which is a precursor to NO2) is necessary to achieve the annual mean air quality 
objective for NO2, based upon 2007-2009 figures used in the ‘2010 Further Assessment of the 
Gaywood AQMA’. This is equivalent to a 29.5μg/m

3
 reduction in ambient concentrations of NOX, and 

approximately equivalent to an 8.2μg/m
3
 (17%) reduction in NO2. 

 
Consequently, the formulation of the AQAP aims to reduce the levels of NOx/NO2 in the AQMAs by 
the above amounts. The AQAP considers options to improve air quality and recommends 20 of these 
for implementation. The AQAP also sets out the partnership working which has been used to develop 
the options and how they will be progressed and monitored. 
 
The plan aims to reduce transport emissions in the AQMAs by around 9% by 2015. It is anticipated 
that a reduction of this scale will lead to the achievement of the annual mean NO2 air quality objective 
(40μg/m

3
) at sensitive receptors in the AQMAs in future years. It is acknowledged that the AQAP is a 

continuously evolving document involving numerous groups and Authorities, and the Borough Council 
will continue to review and assess air quality to monitor this situation, and to evaluate the success of 
the measures implemented using prescribed indicators. 
 
In compiling this AQAP, reference has been made to the Government Guidance, LAQM.PG (09), and 
the Review and Assessment reports produced by the Borough Council as part of the Local Air Quality 
Management (LAQM) assessment process. The Action Plan was subject to statutory and public 
consultation and amended accordingly prior to formal adoption by the Borough Council.   
 
For further information concerning this report, please contact:  Mr D Robson, Borough Council of 
King’s Lynn & West Norfolk, King’s Court, Chapel Street, King’s Lynn, Norfolk, PE30 1EX. Tel 01553 
616302 

71



 

 - iv - 
 

Table A: Summary of action plan measures for King’s Lynn Town Centre & Gaywood Clock AQMA’s. 

No Measure Focus Lead Planning 
phase 

Implementation 
phase 

Indicator Target 
NO2 
reduction 
impact 
(µg/m

3
) 

 POLICY ACTIONS  

1 Consideration of Air Quality 
Impacts when providing 
comments on planning 
applications within an AQMA or 
where an AQMA could be 
impacted or created. 

Comment on pre-application 
discussions, advise planners on 
significance of impacts, agree 
conditions and S106 agreements 

Borough Council 
(LPA &  
Env Quality 
Team) 

ongoing ongoing Number of pre 
application 
discussions 
and  planning 
applications 
responded to 

Up to 1 

2 With regard to National Planning 
Policy Framework, include air 
quality considerations in the Local 
Plans and adopt an air quality 
Development Management 
Policy. 

Give appropriate weight to air quality in 
the decision making process 

Borough Council 
(LPA &  
Env Quality 
Team) 

Completed 2014 Production of 
documents 

Up to 1 

3 With regard to National Planning 
Policy Framework, adopt Norfolk 
Technical Guidance on Air 
Quality and provide pre-
application advice on planning 
applications 

Raise air quality concerns early in the 
decision making process and provide a 
technical framework 

Borough Council 
(LPA &  
Env Quality 
Team) 

2014 2015 Production of 
documents 

Up to 1 

4 Develop Parking Management 
Plan 
(linked to 9, 10, 11 & 12) 

Smooth out traffic flow over the course 
of the day 
Increase car park usage within Town 
Review car parking provision within 
King’s Lynn layout, type and location 
Improve traffic flow through AQMA and 
reduce congestion 

County Council/ 
Borough Council 

2014 ongoing Publication of 
and 
implementation 
of plan 

Up to 2 

72



 

 - v - 
 

 

 ROAD TRAFFIC ACTIONS  

5 New access road from Wisbech 
Road through Friars to Boal 
Street.   

Removal of some traffic from London 
Road/ Railway Road. Removal of 
buses, and potential reduction in car 
movements. 
Consider use of route by Taxi’s & PHV. 

County Council/ 
Borough Council 

2010 December 
2011 

Continued air quality 
monitoring.   
Bus flow counts on 
London Road and 
new route 
 

2-3
 

6 Incentivise the use of public 
transport. 

Removal of some traffic from London 
Road, Railway Road and Gaywood 
Clock area.  
Potential reduction in car movements. 

County Council 2014 2015 Continued air quality 
monitoring.   
Bus usage figures 
 

Up to 1 

7 Implementation of Urban Traffic 
Control system (UTC)  at 
principal junctions within AQMA 
and adjacent to AQMA 
 

Reduction of emissions within the 
AQMA from stop/start driving. 
Improve traffic flow and reduce 
congestion 

County Council 2010 December 
2011 

Continued air quality 
monitoring. 
Queue length at 
junctions at peak 
times 
 

2-5
 

8 Installation of selective vehicle 
detection (SVD) system 

Reduction of emissions within the 
AQMA from stop/start driving.  
Improve flow of public transport 
vehicles 

County Council 2011 2012 Number of vehicles 
fitted with SVD 
Annual average daily 
traffic numbers 

Up to 1
 

9 Decriminalisation of parking. 
Review of parking controls and 
enforcement in AQMAs and 
King’s Lynn Town Centre 
(Linked to 4, 10, 11 & 12) 

Improve traffic flow through AQMA and 
reduce congestion 
Smooth out traffic flow over the course 
of the day. 

Borough 
Council/ 
County 
Council 

December 
2010 
Option 
validation 
Jan-March 
2011 

ongoing Implementation of 
enforcement in 
AQMAs and Town 
Centre.  
Continued air quality 
monitoring. 
 

Up to 1
 

10 Variable car parking rates 
(Linked to 4, 9, 11 & 12) 

Vary rate for long and short term 
parking. Even out peak flows but 
encourage short term trips. 
Improve traffic flow through AQMA and 
reduce congestion 
Smooth out traffic flow over the course 
of the day 

Borough Council 2014 On going Continued air quality 
monitoring  
Car park usage 
Queue lengths 
 

Up to 1 

73



 

 - vi - 
 

11 Variable message signs 
(Linked to 4, 9, 10 & 12) 
 

Provide signage to direct drivers to 
available parking spaces 
Improve traffic flow through AQMA and 
reduce congestion 
Smooth out traffic flow over the course 
of the day 

Borough 
Council/County 
Council 

2014 2014 Peak hour parking 
usage 
Car park usage 
Continued air quality 
monitoring 
Queue lengths  
 

Up to 1 

12 Investigate potential for residents 
only parking in or close to 
AQMAs 
(Linked to 4, 9, 10 & 11) 
 

Develop residents only parking zones 
Improve traffic flow through AQMA and 
reduce congestion 
Smooth out traffic flow over the course 
of the day 
Increase car park usage within Town 

Borough Council 2014 2015 Peak hour parking 
usage 
Car park usage 
Continued air quality 
monitoring  
 

Up to 1 

13 Support the use of West Lynn 
ferry 

Encourage use of the ferry from West 
Lynn to the town centre 

Borough Council 2012 On going Number of 
passengers using 
ferry 

Up to 1 

14 Changes to the Road Layout 
within the King’s Lynn Gyratory 
as proposed by KLATS 

Smooth out traffic flow over the course 
of the day 
Increase car park usage within Town 
Improve traffic flow and reduce 
congestion in AQMAs 

County Council 2011 
Linked to  
measure 3 

ongoing Continued air quality 
monitoring. 
Daily traffic flow data 
and queue lengths 

2-10
 

15 Traffic Management at London 
Road and Southgates 

Investigate measures to displace 
queuing traffic 

County Council 2014 2015 Continued air quality 
monitoring. 
Queue length at 
junctions at peak 
times 
 

1-5 

16 Traffic Management at Gaywood 
clock 

Investigate measures to displace 
queuing traffic 

County Council 2014 2015 Continued air quality 
monitoring. 
Traffic que lengths 

1-5 

74



 

 - vii - 
 

17 Promotion of travel plans, school 
travel plans and promotion of car 
sharing  

Encourage alternatives to car use and 
to single car occupancy and reduce 
need to travel for work. Particularly at 
large employers 

County  
Council/ 
Borough Council 

2014 Ongoing Continued air quality 
monitoring. 
Number of travel 
plans 
 

Up to 1
 

18 Improved cycling and walking 
provision  

Improvement of space for walking and 
cycling such as cycle lanes and 
pavements. Promotion of Sustrans 
maps and bicycle user groups 

County  
Council/ 
Borough Council 

2014 ongoing Cycle usage 
and walking 
provision. 
Number of cycle/foot 
path improvements 

Up to 1
 

 EMISSIONS ACTIONS  

19 Investigate feasibility and if 
viable, provide Electric vehicle 
charging points in car parks and 
in new developments 

Encourage the use of  electric vehicles 
within the town centre 

Borough Council 2014 On going Number & use of EV 
charging points 
installed 

Up to 1 

20 Quality Bus Partnerships and 
contracts 
 

Contract between the Council and bus 
operators that include type of bus, level 
of service and vehicle emissions 

County 
Council 

2014 ongoing Continued air quality 
monitoring. 
% buses Euro 3 or 
better 
Installation of SVD 
 

Up to 1 

 
.

75



 

 - viii - 
 

 

Table of contents 

1 Introduction 1 

1.1 Introduction 1 

1.2 Benefits 1 

1.3 Recent Developments 1 

2 Regulatory context and role of the action plan 3 

2.1 Health effects of poor air quality 3 

2.2 The legislative framework for air quality 4 

3 Air Quality in King’s Lynn & West Norfolk Borough 5 

3.1 King’s Lynn Town Centre AQMA 5 

3.1.3 Source apportionment 7 

3.2.4 NOx / NO2 Required Reduction 13 

3.3 Summary of actions taken to improve air quality 15 

3.4 Conclusions 15 

4.2 Air Quality Action Plan Steering Group 16 

4.3 Assessment of options 17 

4.4 Transport Strategy Options 17 

4.5 Assessment methods 21 

 4.6 Consultation   21 

5 Actions Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Appendix 1: UK National Air Quality Standards and Objectives 24 

Appendix 2: Assessment Methods 26 

Appendix 3: Air Quality Action Plan Assessment of Options 30 

 

 

 

76



 

 - 1 - 
 

1 Introduction 

1.1 Introduction 

This document is the Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) to address the air quality problems identified in 
the Town Centre Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and Gaywood Clock AQMA which have been 
declared in the Borough of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk (hereafter referred to as the Borough Council).  
It is the statutory duty of the Borough Council to develop an AQAP which must be appraised and 
accepted by DEFRA as being fit for purpose before its final adoption and implementation. 
 
This document has been put together using currently available best evidence and guidance, through 
discussion within the King’s Lynn Area Transport Strategy Group (KLATS) and stakeholders, to draw 
up measures that will be introduced to make progress in improving air quality in both AQMAs.   
 
A draft AQAP was published for consultation. Comments received during the consultation process 
have been addressed and, where appropriate, amendments made to the AQAP. This final version of 
the AQAP has been submitted to DEFRA for appraisal, and has been approved. This document has 
been adopted as a formal authority plan and will be implemented via the efforts of the Borough and 
County Councils. 
 

1.2 Benefits 

Air Quality is a serious health issue, but the potential solutions presented in the AQAP can be seen as 
benefitting the town in a wider sense than just health. These include: 
 

 Reduction in greenhouse gases which can contribute to climate change 

 Reduction in noise, dust and other pollutants 

 An improved environment, making the town centre more attractive 

 A smoother flow of traffic making the town centre a more appealing place to live work or visit 

 The AQAP takes a more holistic view of related issues such as traffic congestion, parking 
availability and appeal of urban areas 
 

Rather than bringing more restrictions to traffic and transport there are positive benefits to be gained. 
 

  

1.3 Recent Developments 

Since the commencement of action planning two major supermarket developments have been 
proposed and air quality assessments have been submitted and reviewed. However, several large 
scale regeneration projects within King’s Lynn, which would potentially have had implications for air 
quality e.g. a large residential and commercial brownfield development in the Nar Ouse Regeneration 
Area (NORA) and the Riverside Regeneration Project, have been adversely affected by the economic 
recession.  Development of the NORA site has thus far seen some piecemeal development and the 
Waterfront Regeneration Project has been put on hold at present with no planning permissions 
currently being sought.   
 
Some works designed to ease road traffic congestion and hence contribute towards air quality 
improvements have been carried out. For example, a new ‘buses only’ access road from Wisbech 
Road to Boal Street opened in spring 2011.  Also a Selective Vehicle Detection (SVD) System has 
been introduced at four locations within King’s Lynn town centre, which will gives priority to buses at 
four junctions within the AQMA This will have the effect of reducing emissions from stop/start driving 
within the AQMA and may provide an incentive for people to use bus services.  The system was 
brought into use in 2010.   
 

77



 

 - 2 - 
 

Similarly, signalling and lane improvements to the Southgates roundabout have been completed and 
are having an effect on traffic flow at the southern end of the AQMA. Additionally improvements were 
completed in May 2013 to Hardwick Road which will assist in reducing congestion along Hardwick 
Road and thus help with traffic flow through the Southgate Roundabout and along London Road. 
 
 

78



 

 - 3 - 
 

2 Regulatory context and role of the action 
plan 

This chapter sets out local authority duties in relation to Local Air Quality Management (LAQM). These 
are the tasks that the Borough Council must undertake as a statutory duty. 

2.1 Health effects of poor air quality 

In the UK, air pollution is currently estimated to reduce the life expectancy of every person by an 
average of 7-8 months with estimated equivalent health costs of up to £20 billion each year. Air 
pollution also has a detrimental effect on our ecosystems and vegetation. There are significant 
benefits to be gained from further improvements. 
 
There are various sources of air pollution in the UK. These can include transport (mainly road 
transport), the use and production of energy, commercial / industrial premises and natural sources. 
The Government has identified 8 key pollutants for which health-based limit values / targets are 
defined in the National Air Quality Strategy (NAQS), as shown in (Appendix 1):  
 

 Nitrogen Dioxide;  

 PM10 particulates; 

 Benzene;  

 1,3 – butadiene;  

 Lead;  

 Sulphur Dioxide;  

 Carbon Monoxide; and  

 Ozone.  
 
Whilst this Air Quality Action Plan is primarily aimed at reducing NO2, the initiatives within it will have a 
positive effect on the reduction of other air pollutants, especially particulates. The health implications 
of the two main transport emissions types are as follows: 

2.1.1 Nitrogen Oxides (NOX)  

Nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and nitric oxide (NO) are oxides of nitrogen, collectively known as nitrogen 
oxides (NOX).  All combustion processes produce NOX, primarily in the form of NO, which is then 
converted to NO2, mainly due to reaction with ozone present in the atmosphere. Road transport is 
responsible for approximately 50% of the emissions of NOX in Britain, whilst NO2 has been identified 
as having various adverse health effects particularly on the respiratory system in both asthmatics and 
non-asthmatics. Short term exposure to this pollutant can increase the likelihood of reaction to 
allergens such as pollen and has been known to increase asthma in some people. Sensitive 
individuals exposed to this pollutant may have increased risk of respiratory infections.  

2.1.2 Particulates  

Particles can be produced directly from combustion and other processes, as well as from natural 
activities. They can also be generated by chemical reaction in the air. Particulate matter with an 
aerodynamic diameter of 10µm or less, commonly referred to as PM10.  
 
Particles sized with an aerodynamic diameter of 2.5µm are referred to as PM2.5 and particles sized 
15µm are referred to as PM1 or nanoparticles. These can enter deep in to the lung tissue and may 
pass through the lung wall in to the blood stream. 
 
Particles can cause inflammation of the respiratory system and a deterioration of the condition of 
people with heart and lung diseases.  
 

 

  

79



 

 - 4 - 
 

2.2 The legislative framework for air quality 

To protect the health of the population, the Government has set out a National Air Quality Strategy 
which includes statutory objectives (standards) for some key pollutants.  The objectives are expressed 
as a maximum ambient concentration not to be exceeded, either without exception or with a permitted 
number of exceedences within a specified timescale (Appendix 1). The objectives have been set 
throughout the UK and European Union at levels that aim to protect the vulnerable in society from the 
harmful effects of breathing pollution. 
 
In response, a number of measures have been introduced at an international level (including the UK) 
to reduce this impact. They include: 

 Incremental reductions in emissions from vehicles and industry; 

 Climate change programme policies; and 

 Local Air Quality Management. 
 
The UK government recognises the important role that local authorities have and continue to play in 
helping deliver the air quality objectives. “Action taken at the local level can be an effective way of 
tackling localised air quality problems leading to an overall improvement of air quality.” 

2.2.1 Local Air Quality Management  

The Environment Act 1995 gives local authorities duties and responsibilities that are designed to 
secure improvements in air quality, particularly at the local level. These include the review and 
assessment of key pollutants in their area in a series of reports which alternate every three years. If it 
appears that any of the air quality objectives set by government are unlikely to be achieved and 
members of the public are being exposed to the pollution, the local authority must by order designate 
any part of its area so affected, as an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA). They must then prepare 
and implement a remedial Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) of measures to reduce air pollution levels in 
that AQMA. A Review and Assessment round of reports consists of local authorities initially 
undertaking an Updating and Screening Assessment (USA) and then carrying out the following stages 
if any objectives are found to be exceeded:  
 

 Detailed Assessment of those areas identified in the USA as potential AQMAs; 

 Designation of AQMA; 

 Further Assessment of air pollution in the AQMA; 

 Amendment if necessary of AQMA boundaries; 

 Action Plan ; and 

 Annual Action Plan Progress Reports. 
 
Chapter 3 includes an outline of the main findings of previous rounds of the LAQM Review and 
Assessment process. 

80



 

 - 5 - 
 

3 Air Quality in King’s Lynn & West Norfolk 
Borough 

3.1 King’s Lynn Town Centre AQMA 

The King’s Lynn town centre AQMA was originally declared for exceedences of the nitrogen dioxide 
(NO2) Air Quality Strategy (AQS) objectives on Railway Road in November 2003, following the findings 
of the first round of the Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) Review and Assessment of air quality.  
 
The 2005 Detailed Assessment modelling and updated monitoring data led to the extension of the 
AQMA in February 2007, to include the one-way system in the town centre (Railway Road, Austin 
Street and Blackfriars Road), as well as St. James’ Road and London Road to the South Gates 
roundabout.  
 
The 2008 Further Assessment of air quality in the King’s Lynn town centre AQMA assessed updated 
monitoring data and the results of a detailed dispersion modelling study of the area. The analysis 
confirmed the continuing need for the extended AQMA, and showed that the annual mean objective 
for NO2 was likely to be breached at the façades of residential properties. 
 
The boundaries of the town centre AQMA are shown in Figure 1 with road names and the one-way 
system identified. The figure has been adapted from the King’s Lynn and West Norfolk Borough 
Council website

1
.  

 
 

                                                      
1
 King’s Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council website; http://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/  

81

http://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/


 

 - 6 - 
 

Figure 1: King’s Lynn town centre AQMA  

 

London Road 

St James Road 

Railway Road 
Blackfriars Road 

Austin Street 

82



 

 - 7 - 
 

 

3.1.2 Monitoring data 
 
A National Automatic Monitoring Calibration Club air quality continuous monitoring station was 
situated at a roadside location, within the town centre AQMA on Railway Road (2002-8).  The 
monitoring equipment was relocated to Southgates Park, London Road in June 2008, still within the 
town centre AQMA.  Replacement monitoring equipment was installed at Southgates Park in April 
2011. NOX and NO2 are recorded at the site using a chemiluminescent NOX/NO2 automatic analyser, 
co-located with diffusion tubes which are present in triplicate.  Data taken from the 2012 Progress 
Report for the Borough

2
 are presented in Table 1 below. Concentrations presented for 2008 at the two 

sites were ‘annualised’ based upon the 3 closest background Automatic Urban and Rural Network 
(AURN) monitoring sites. 
 
Table 1: Continuous monitoring of NO2 in the Borough of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk 

  
Note: 

a
 Data annualised based upon the 3 closest background AURN monitoring sites (Wicken Fen, 

Northampton and Market Harborough). 
 

The hourly and annual mean objectives for NO2 were met in 2006 - 2012 with measured 
concentrations below, the annual mean objective of 40μg/m

3
.  Concentrations of NO2 recorded at 

locations representative of personal exposure within the AQMA using passive diffusion tubes, 
however, have consistently exceed the annual mean objective of 40μg/m

3
.  Monitored concentrations 

at selected diffusion tube locations are presented in Table 2. 
 

3.1.3 Source apportionment 

Dispersion modelling for the 2008 Further Assessment
3
 predicted annual mean NO2 concentrations for 

2007 and 2010 at locations around the town centre AQMA, including diffusion tube monitoring sites, of 
which 27 receptors could be considered ‘sensitive’, and representative of public exposure e.g. at the 
façades of residential properties. Of these sites, exceedences of the annual mean AQS objective of 
40μg/m

3
 were predicted at 12 sites in 2007 and at 6 sites in 2010.  

 
Table 2 gives the locations of the 12 sensitive receptors at which exceedences of the NO2 annual 
mean objective were predicted to occur in 2007, together with observed concentrations for the period 
2007-8, and 2007 and 2010 predicted annual mean concentrations. The locations of the sensitive 
receptors are shown in figure 2. It should be noted that whilst the observed and modelled 
concentrations are presented in Table 2 are not in exact agreement, the modelling study was verified 
by comparing modelled and monitored results from far more sites than presented in Table 3. 
Reference should be made to the 2008 Detailed and Further Assessment for detailed information.  
 
A source apportionment study was undertaken as part of the 2008 Detailed and Further Assessment 
in order to identify the dominant sources of NO2 at the sensitive receptors. The following road vehicle 
classifications were disaggregated in the source apportionment study: 

 Cars; 

 Light goods vehicles (LGVs); 

 Heavy goods vehicles (HGVs); and 

 Buses and coaches. 
 

                                                      
2
 2009 King’s Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council Updating and Screening Assessment of Air Quality 

3
 2008 King’s Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council Detailed and Further Assessment of Air Quality 

Site location 

Annual mean NO2 concentration / μg/m
3
  

(NO2 Hourly Mean > 200 μg/m
3
) 

2006 2007 2008
a  

2009 2010 2011 2012 

Railway Road 32.0 (0) 31.1 (3) 32.1 (0) n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Southgates n/a n/a 27.2 (0)
 

30.4 (0) 26.5 (0) 23.0 (0) 25.0 (0) 

83



 

 - 8 - 
 

 

Table 2: Observed and modelled annual mean NO2 (μg/m
3
) at sensitive receptors 

  

Sensitive 
receptor 

(Tube 
number: 
location) 

OS coordinates Annual mean NO2 (μg/m
3
) 

X (m) Y (m) 

Observed Modelled 

2007 2008 2007 2010 

Tube 
number 32: 
Blackfriars 

Road  

562253 320016 33.7 33.9 46.2 43.0 

Tube 
number 17: 
Southgates 

562190 319102 47.1 42.1 45.7 42.6 

Tube 
number 14: 

London 
Road 

562243 319452 39.2 38.5 45.2 42.3 

Tube 
number 16: 

London 
Road 

562226 319263 42.3 39.1 44.1 41.1 

Tube 
number 22: 

London 
Road 

562244 319261 35.2 32.2 43.6 40.7 

Tube 
number 3: 
Railway 
Road 

562117 320095 50.4 46.8 43.2 40.3 

Tube 
number 23: 

London 
Road 

562267 319327 39.9 34.6 42.1 39.0 

Tube 
number 35: 

Railway 
Road 

562129 320132 39.2 36.8 41.2 38.6 

Tube 
number 12: 

London 
Road 

562101 319679 44.6 41.1 41.0 38.3 

Tube 
number 15: 

London 
Road 

562264 319375 40.5 36.0 41.0 38.0 

Tube 
number 38: 
Blackfriars 

Road 

562244 320129 40.4 35.4 40.7 38.4 

Tube 
number 30: 

Railway 
Road 

562131 319996 44.4 40.7 40.5 38.0 

 
Note: Shading denotes exceedences of the Air Quality Strategy NO2 annual mean objective. 

 
 

 

84



 

 - 9 - 
 

Table 3 gives the details of the source apportionment study at those sensitive receptors where 
exceedences of the annual mean objective were predicted in 2007 in the King’s Lynn town centre 
AQMA.  Figure 3 shows the average source apportionment of NOX in the town centre AQMA at 
sensitive receptors where the annual mean NO2 objective is exceeded. 
 
Table 3 shows the modelled NOX and NO2 annual mean concentrations at the 12 receptors, with the 
percentage contribution to the annual mean NOX concentration from background, cars, LGVs, HGVs 
and buses. The table also shows the quantity by which the modelled concentration would need to be 
decreased to achieve the annual mean NO2 objective of 40μg/m

3
, and the corresponding percentage 

of the total modelled
4
.  

 
Table 3: Results from 2008 Detailed Assessment source apportionment study 
 

Site 

Modelled 
annual mean 
2007 (μg/m

3
) 

Estimated contribution to 2007 NOX annual 
mean (%) 

Reduction in 
NO2 required to 
meet objective 

NOX NO2 Background Cars LGV 
HDV 

HGVs Buses µg/m
3
 % 

Tube number 
32: Blackfriars 

Road  
124.6 46.2 24% 28% 11% 15% 22% 6.2 13% 

Tube number 
17: 

Southgates 
122.3 45.7 24% 26% 12% 19% 19% 5.7 12% 

Tube number 
14: London 

Road 
120.3 45.2 25% 26% 11% 18% 19% 5.2 12% 

Tube number 
16: London 

Road 
115.1 44.1 26% 26% 11% 18% 19% 4.1 9% 

Tube number 
22: London 

Road 
112.9 43.6 26% 26% 11% 18% 18% 3.6 8% 

Tube number 
3: Railway 

Road 
111.2 43.2 27% 20% 8% 21% 25% 3.2 7% 

Tube number 
23: London 

Road 
106.7 42.1 28% 27% 13% 16% 16% 2.1 5% 

Tube number 
35: Railway 

Road 
102.9 41.2 29% 19% 7% 20% 24% 1.2 3% 

Tube number 
12: London 

Road 
102.0 41.0 29% 25% 10% 19% 17% 1.0 2% 

Tube number 
15: London 

Road 
101.9 41.0 29% 27% 12% 15% 16% 1.0 2% 

Tube number 
38: Blackfriars 

Road 
101.0 40.7 30% 24% 8% 16% 22% 0.7 2% 

Tube number 
30: 

Railway Road 
100.0 40.5 30% 19% 7% 21% 23% 0.5 1% 

Note: LGV = light goods vehicles; HGV = heavy goods vehicles; HDV = heavy duty vehicles 

 
 

                                                      
4
 The relationship between oxides of nitrogen (NOX) and one of its components, nitrogen dioxide (NO2) is complex and non-linear. Essentially a 

greater than proportionate reduction in NOX is required to achieve a given percentage reduction in NO2. For example, if a 10% reduction in NO2 
concentration is needed at a given location, the local emissions of NOX must be reduced by more than 10% in order to achieve this. 

85



 

 - 10 - 
 

The highest NO2 concentration was modelled at receptor 32 (46.2μg/m
3
), at the junction of St John’s 

Terrace and Blackfriars. Here, emissions from cars were the dominant source of NOX from road traffic, 
accounting for 28% of the annual mean. At the majority of sites, and following assessment of all 
modelled concentrations within King’s Lynn town centre AQMA, cars are the dominant source of NOX 
from road traffic, accounting for > 20% of the annual mean NOX concentrations.  
 
Whilst buses and HGVs contribute approximately 20% each to the annual mean NOX concentration, a 
large contribution is from the background NOX concentration, > 25%, as can be seen in Figure 3.  
 
The greatest reduction in NO2 required at a modelled sensitive receptor to comply with the Air Quality 
Strategy objective in the town centre AQMA is approximately 6μg/m

3 
(equivalent to a 13% reduction in 

NO2). Measures formulated in the AQAP therefore aim to reduce levels of NO2 within the town centre 
the AQMA by this amount, principally aiming at the dominant contributor (cars). 

Figure 3: Source of NOX emissions at sensitive receptors in the town centre AQMA, where the annual 
mean NO2 objective is exceeded 

 
 
 
 

86



 

 - 11 - 
 

3.2.1 Gaywood Clock AQMA 

A Detailed Assessment of air quality was undertaken in 2008 for the Gaywood Clock area of King’s 
Lynn, following recorded exceedences of the AQS nitrogen dioxide annual mean objective.  The 
detailed dispersion modelling study concluded that a new AQMA was required, as both updated 
monitoring data and predicted NO2 concentrations confirmed that the AQS objectives were likely to be 
exceeded.  
 
The Gaywood Clock AQMA was declared in April 2009, for an area encompassing properties at the 
junction of Wootton Road, Gayton Road and Lynn Road, due east of the town centre AQMA shown in 
Figure 2.  
 
 
Figure 2: Gaywood Air Quality Management Area 
 

 
 

 

87



 

 - 12 - 
 

3.2.2 Monitoring Data 

The Borough Council installed a continuous automatic monitoring station at Gaywood Clock which has 
been collecting data since January 2012. 
 
Data from the Gaywood clock monitoring station from January to December 2012 indicates a 
maximum hourly mean of 147μg/m

3
 NO2 and an average concentration of 33 μg/m

3
. No exceedences 

of the hourly or annual mean were recorded in 2012. 

 
Eight roadside diffusion tube sites are also used to monitor NO2 within or near the Gaywood Clock 
AQMA. A bias adjustment factor has been applied to the data. Adjustment factors are derived by using 
national bias adjustment factors, or in years of sufficient data capture, from the triplicate diffusion tube 
results co-located with the continuous monitoring site in King’s Lynn Southgates. 
 
Data capture was good at all sites, with a minimum of 10-month worth of data; therefore it was not 
necessary to annualise the results. Bias adjusted monitoring results for the past 5 years for the sites 
located within or near the Gaywood Clock AQMA are provided in Table 4 
 
Only one diffusion tube (site 41 Wootton Road 2) has regularly recorded annual mean concentrations 
which exceed the 40μg/m³ objective. This tube is located within the AQMA on Wootton Road. Two 
other sites within the AQMA (sites 40: The Swan, Gayton Road, and 44: Lynn Road 2) have been 
close to the objective (within 38 - 39μg/m

3
). 

 
The annual mean at site Lynn Road 3 was also close to the objective in 2009 (37μg/m

3
). This site is 

located 30m further west of the AQMA. Results at site 45 on Lynn Road, Gaywood, and 51 on 
Wootton Road, both outside the AQMA, are regularly well below the AQS objective, which confirms 
that NO2 levels drop off away from the A148 / A1076 junction. 
 
With regard to the NO2 short term objective; there is a potential risk of exceedence where the annual 
mean concentration is greater than 60μg/m³. There are no monitoring locations which recorded such 
concentrations and therefore it is expected that the short-term objective of 200μg/m³ is being met. This 
is supported by the provisional monitoring data from the continuous monitoring station. 
 
During 2012 an additional tube has been installed and some tubes have been moved to an elevated 
position to better reflect exposure, particularly where residential accommodation is at first floor height. 
 
Table 4 - NO2 Monitoring Results near Gaywood Clock AQMA – 2007- 2012 
 

Site 
ID 

Name Within 
AQMA
? 

Annual 
mean 
μg/m

3
  

2007 

Annual 
mean 
μg/m

3
  

2008 

Annual 
mean 
μg/m

3
  

2009 

Annual 
mean 
μg/m

3
  

2010 

Annual 
mean 
μg/m

3
  

2011 

Annual 
mean 
μg/m

3
  

2012 

40 Swan, Gayton Rd Y 36.9 36.6 39.0 33.7 35.7 33 

41 Wootton Rd 2 Y 45.1 40.4 45.1 42.4 38.8 33 

42 Wootton Rd 1 Y 35.2 31.6 35.4 31.2 30.6 31 

43 Lynn Rd 1 Y 34.6 30.0 32.7 32.0 29.4 30 

44 Lynn Rd 2 Y 39.8 34.1 38.6 35.8 35.5 33 

45 Gaywood 3 N 34.0 30.8 33.3 34.4 31.5 29 

51 Wootton Rd 3 N 22.3 21.4 23.6 20.5 20.7 19 

52 Lynn Rd 3 N 33.2 30.7 37.0 32.1 29.6 29 

bias    0.89 0.88 0.97 0.88 0.89 0.86 

 

88



 

 - 13 - 
 

 

Site ID Name OS NGR 

40 Swan, Gayton Rd 563480 320470 

41 Wootton Rd 2 563478 320515 

42 Wootton Rd 1 563480 320582 

43 Lynn Rd 1 563412 320477 

44 Lynn Rd 2 563377 320484 

45 Gaywood 3 563202 320488 

51 Wootton Rd 3 563515 320628 

52 Lynn Rd 3 563288 320499 

bias   

 
3.2.3 Source Apportionment 
 
 
A source apportionment study was undertaken as part of the 2010 Further Assessment in order to 
identify the dominant sources of NO2 at the sensitive receptors. The breakdown of vehicle 
classification was taken into account in the model set-up. This allows the calculation of NOx source 
apportionment at specific (worst case) receptors, where exceedences were predicted. The source 
apportionment was carried out for the following vehicle classes: 
 cars, 
 light goods vehicles (LGVs), 
 buses/coaches, 
 heavy goods vehicles (HGVs), and 
 motorcycles. 
 
The break down of NOx background concentrations by source as provided in the national background 
maps, combined with the actual background NOx used for the assessment have been used to 
estimate the contribution of each background component to the total background NOx in the 
assessment area. The 1 x 1km grid square relevant to the assessment is x= 563500, y= 320500. 
Table 5 summarises the results at the worst case receptor representing public exposure in the 
exceedence area. The source apportionment indicates that, at the worst case receptor: 
 Road traffic emissions are the main contributor to NOx, as they account for 75% of the 
 total NOx concentration; 
 Of the road traffic sources, cars and buses are the most significant contributors, as they 

account for respectively 35% and 24% of the total NOx concentration. The contribution of 
buses to the total NOx concentration is quite significant especially if compared to the 
proportion of the vehicle fleet they represent (1-2% of overall traffic); 

 Light goods vehicles (LGVs) contribute around 10% to the total NOx concentration; 
 Heavy-goods vehicles (HGVs) contribute around 6% to the total NOx concentration; 
 Background concentrations account for nearly 25% of the total NOx concentration, 

including 10% due to the “regional” background concentration outside the local authority’s 
influence; 

 Similar to NOx, the source apportionment of NO2 indicates road traffic emissions to be the 
most significant source, contributing 63% to overall NO2 concentration at the worst-case 
receptor. Of these, cars and buses are the biggest contributors, accounting for respectively 
about 30% and 20% of the overall NO2 concentration. 

 

3.2.4 NOx / NO2 Required Reduction 

A requirement of the Further Assessment is to determine the amount of NO2 reduction required at the 
worst-case receptors within the exceedence areas. This approach highlights the maximum reduction 
in NO2 required (as NOx, in μg/m3) to comply with the AQS objective, and assumes that other 
receptors will require less of a reduction. For the current assessment, the approach to estimate the 
required NO2 reduction was to determine the levels of NOx for the highest concentrations predicted at 
sensitive receptors relevant of public exposure. The results are shown in Table 6. 
 

89



 

 - 14 - 
 

In order to determine the required reduction in NOx, the NO2 annual mean AQS objective of 40μg/m3 
was calculated to be equivalent to 84.7μg/m3 NOx concentration (based on local background NOx 
and the NOx/NO2 conversion calculator). 
 
The maximum predicted NOx reduction required within the Gaywood Clock AQMA to comply with the 
NO2 AQS objective is 29.5μg/m3 (equivalent to 26% decrease in NOx). This equates to an 8.2μg/m3 
reduction in NO2 (equivalent to a 17% decrease in NO2). This is at the worst-case location in the 
AQMA at the junction of Wootton Road/Lynn Road and Gayton Road. Consequently, the formulation 
of the Action Plan should aim to reduce the levels of NOx/NO2 in the AQMA by these amounts. 
 
Table 5 - Source Apportionment of NO2 Concentrations at Worst-Case Receptor 
 

Receptor (Maximum Modelled Concentration) (μg/m3)  WoottonRd1 

Total NO2 2009 (Total Background + Local Road Source)  48.2 

NO2 Total Background (Local + Regional)  17.9 

 NO2 Local Background  10.3

 NO2 Regional Background  7.6

Local Road Source Contributions (LDV + HDV)  30.3 

 NO2 CAR  14.0

 NO2 LGV  4.2

 NO2 HGV  2.5

 NO2 BUS  9.5

 NO2 MOTORCYCLE  0.1

Contribution as Percentage of Total NO2 Concentration  

% Total Background (Local + Regional)  37.1% 

% Local background  21.4%

% Regional background  15.7%

% Road traffic  62.9% 

 % due to CAR traffic  29.0%

 % due to LGV traffic  8.7%

 % due to HGV traffic  5.3%

 % due to BUS traffic  19.7%

 % due to MOTORCYCLE traffic  0.2%

 % CAR contribution of total road traffic  46.1%

 % LGV contribution of total road traffic  13.8%

 % HGV contribution of total road traffic  8.4%

 % BUS contribution of total road traffic  31.3%

 % MOTORCYCLE contribution of total road traffic  0.3%

 
 
Table 6 - Required NOx and NO2 Reduction to Comply with AQS Objective 
 
Receptor 
ID 
 

Modelled 
NOx 2009 
(mg/m3) 
 

Equivalent 
NOx 
Objective 
(μg/m3) 
 

NOx 
Reduction 
Required 
(μg/m3) 
 

NOx % 
Reduction 
Required 
 

Modelled 
NO2 
(μg/m3) 
 

NO2 
AQS 
objective 
(μg/m3) 
 

NO2 
Reduction 
Required 
(μg/m3) 
 

NO2 % 
Reduction 
Required 
 

Wootton 
Rd1 

114.2 84.7 29.5 25.8% 48.2 40 8.2 17.0% 
 

 

90



 

 - 15 - 
 

3.3 Summary of actions taken to improve air quality 

The King’s Lynn & West Norfolk Borough Council has already started to take measures to address 
exceedences of the Air Quality Strategy annual mean NO2 objective in the AQMA. These include: 

 
1. Adoption of a Green Travel Plan with the following objectives: 
 
o Reduce the need for single occupancy private car travel for commuting and council 

business; 
o Increase the travel choices available for staff, members and visitors to the council offices 

with the help of Norfolk County Council; 
o Promote and encourage the use of greener, sustainable and healthy travel choices to 

staff, members, visitors and local businesses;  
o Minimise the environmental impact of the Borough Council’s staff commuting and 

business travel; 
2. Modification of the Borough Council’s Car Lease Scheme to preclude large engine sizes and 

high CO2 emissions, including a ‘Green Fleet Review’; 
3. Policy of hiring more efficient cars for journeys over 150 miles; 
4. Adoption of an Environmental Statement, including support for monitoring and improvement 

of air quality across the Borough; 
5. Material consideration of air quality when dealing with planning applications within the AQMA 

or where the AQMA may be affected from outside; 
6. Recommendation of air quality improvement measures for inclusion within the Community 

Infrastructure Fund bid successfully mounted by the County Council;  
7. Consultation and liaising with the County Council with regard to the King’s Lynn Area 

Transport Strategy (KLATS);  
8. Setting up a corporate air quality steering group to follow on from KLATS work; 
9. Inclusion of air quality issues within the County Council Local Transport Plan; 
10. Drafting of a Development Management Policy for inclusion in the Local Development 

Framework.  
 

3.4 Conclusions 

Past rounds of the LAQM Review and Assessment process have identified two areas in the Borough 
of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk where the AQS annual mean NO2 objective has been exceeded (King’s 
Lynn Town Centre and Gaywood Clock areas), and have subsequently been declared AQMAs. This 
AQAP outlines measures to be taken with regard to both AQMAs. 
 
Assessment of monitoring data and modelled concentrations in the 2008 Detailed Assessment of Air 
Quality has indicated that exceedences of the annual mean NO2 objective of 40μg/m

3
 are predicted at 

locations where members of the public spend a considerable amount of time, and are hence  
considered to be ‘sensitive’ e.g. façades of residential properties. Data from diffusion tube monitoring 
sites indicate that exceedences of the annual mean NO2 objective are still being measured within the 
AQMAs. Using results from a source apportionment study, emissions from road traffic, in particular 
cars have been identified as the dominant contributor to these exceedences. The contribution of buses 
is significant given their low proportion within the overall vehicle fleet. 
 
The Borough Council has already started to undertake measures to combat poor air quality in the 
Borough, including the requirement to consider the impact upon air quality of developments within the 
AQMA, and the adoption of a Green Travel Plan.  
 
The greatest exceedence of the NO2 annual mean objective in the Town Centre AQMA and Gaywood 
clock AQMA is estimated to by around 6μg/m

3
 and 8 μg/m

3
 respectively. Hence this AQAP aims to 

identify measures which will contribute to the reduction of ambient concentrations by these amounts in 
their respective AQMAs.  It should be noted that background concentrations of NO2 are also a 
significant contributor to the NO2 annual mean in the Borough. Therefore, measures taken on a wider 
scale to reduce emissions of NOX are also likely to have an impact upon the exceedences of the 
annual mean concentrations.  

91



 

 - 16 - 
 

 
 

4 Air Quality Action Plan options and their 
assessment 
 
4.1 Introduction 
 
The Air Quality Action Plan must include: 

 Quantification of the source contributions to the predicted exceedences of the objectives, 
allowing the Action Plan measures to be effectively targeted; 

 Evidence that all available options have been considered on the grounds of cost-effectiveness 
and feasibility; 

 How the local authority will use its powers and also work in conjunction with other 
organisations in pursuit of the air quality objectives; 

 Clear timescales in which the Borough Council and other organisations and agencies propose 
to implement the measures within the plan; 

 Quantification of the expected impacts of the proposed measures and where possible an 
indication as to whether the measures will be sufficient to meet the air quality objectives; and 

 How the local authority intends to fund, monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of the plan. 
 

4.2 Air Quality Action Plan Steering Group 

The King’s Lynn Area Transport Strategy Group (KLATS) was set up in order to investigate and 
promote methods of dealing with road traffic congestion within the King’s Lynn urban area.   
 
This was deemed to be necessary as there were large scale regeneration projects due to be instigated 
including. the Nar Ouse Regeneration Area (NORA) - a large area to be redeveloped for housing and 
commercial uses on a former fertilizer works site; a new marina comprising of domestic and 
commercial properties; the provision of 12,000 new homes in the Borough following a successful 
Growth Point status bid; town centre redevelopment etc. It was evident that there were existing traffic 
congestion problems within King’s Lynn and that the proposed new developments could aggravate 
these.  Furthermore prospective new businesses could themselves be adversely affected by transport 
difficulties.     
 
As the breach of the Air Quality Objective for Nitrogen Dioxide was linked to traffic congestion it was 
considered that KLATS would be the ideal forum for bringing about the necessary improvements in air 
quality.  In effect KLATS became the Steering Group comprising of representatives from the Borough 
Council’s Environmental Health and Housing, Planning and Regeneration Departments, Norfolk 
County Council’s Planning and Transportation Department together with their consultants Mott 
McDonald, a local bus operator and the Highways Agency.   
 
KLATS initially considered a full range of relevant options to change traffic flow in the town centre 
AQMA in order to improve air quality in the area. The process was one of narrowing down a range of 
potential options to those that are specifically focussed on the problem, feasible and also cost-
effective compared with others.   
 
Following production of the KLATS report

5
 the Borough Council has agreed to set up an Air Quality 

Steering Group (AQSG) to finalise options and implement this action plan. 

                                                      
5
 King's Lynn Area Transportation and Land Use Study Stage 1 Final Report, March 2009, Norfolk County Council 

92



 

 - 17 - 
 

 

4.3 Assessment of options 

Measures put forward for consideration can be considered to come under certain ‘types’ of measure, 
including: 

 Strategic actions; 

 Movement of receptors away from the AQMA; 

 Movement of sources away from the AQMA; 

 Optimisation of emissions source movement through the AQMA; 

 Reduction of emissions from sources by technical means; and 

 Reduction of emissions from sources through reduction in demand for travel, or achieving 
better travel choices. 

 
KLATS considered selected options in further detail against Local Transport Plan Service Output 
Objectives; Service Output Objective Number 1 being the need to improve air quality in declared 
areas.  Although some of the options may not relate to measures to be taken within the AQMA they 
were considered to have possible benefits to traffic flows within it.   
 
KLATS provided an initial assessment of the feasibility and applicability of the types of options. A 
decision was reached for each option; either to eliminate it from further consideration, or to consider 
the option in greater detail. The decisions were made with reference to: 
  

1. Conclusions drawn from the Detailed Assessment of air quality in the Railway Road AQMA 
(see Chapter 3); 

2. Comments received from the KLATS group; and  
3. Additional comments from King’s Lynn & West Norfolk Borough Council’s consultant, based 

upon experience of previous assessments.  
 
The methodology used to assess options is set out in Appendix 2. A wide range of options to reduce 
emissions from road transport was put forward for consideration. These options are listed in Appendix 
3. It should be noted that the Borough and County Councils do not necessarily have the power to 
implement all options directly. However the Councils may potentially have a role in attempting to 
influence those bodies or individuals that could implement them. Therefore, it was considered 
appropriate to initially consider all options. 
 
 

4.4 Transport Strategy Options 

 
The Detailed Assessment of air quality in the town centre AQMA, undertaken in 2008 and summarised 
in Chapter 3, identified road transport as the dominant contributor to the high annual mean 
concentrations of NO2 recorded within the AQMA.  
 
A feasibility study of the possible measures for reducing NO2 levels within the King’s Lynn town centre 
AQMA has been carried out, as outlined in Section 4.3. As mentioned above, the possible measures 
were specifically targeted at emissions of NOX from road transport, since this source was found to be 
the dominant contributor to exceedences of the annual mean NO2 objective of 40μg/m

3
.  

 
A summary of the available transport strategy options and their feasibility for mitigating NOX emissions 
from road transport in the King’s Lynn town centre AQMA is presented below. A more detailed 
description and discussion of the strategy options is presented in Appendix 3 and Appendix 4.   
 

4.4.1 Partnership between the Council and the Local Transport Authority 

Norfolk County Council is responsible for overall transport strategy in Norfolk.  As the Town Centre 
AQMA is dominated by emissions from road transport, a partnership arrangement between the 
Borough and County Councils for the development of the AQAP is advisable.   

93



 

 - 18 - 
 

 
The Local Transport Plan system is a transport strategy at a local level whereby Local Transport 
Authorities are required to submit a Local Transport Plan (LTP) for their area that sets objectives and 
targets for transport, and strategies for achieving them. The plans must cover all forms of transport 
and establish strategies to tackle congestion and poor air quality. The LTP provides the basis for 
allocating resources to the Local Transport Authority in order for them to implement their plans. The 
Local Transport Authority for Norfolk is the County Council. 
 
The most recent LTP issued by Norfolk County Council (LTP3) “Connecting Norfolk 2011-2026” aims 
to reduce the negative impacts of road traffic and reduce delays in the County, especially where they 
affect public transport or result in poor air quality. The LTP recognises that the King’s Lynn Town 
Centre AQMA stems from the one-way system that is in place, which requires general traffic and bus 
services to circulate the town centre.  The County Council has, and is currently working with the 
Borough Council in the development of the Action Plan to improve air quality within the AQMA. This is 
also linked with the Community Infrastructure Fund work that the County Council is developing for 
King's Lynn. Once the plan has been developed, a proxy transport indicator will be adopted in the 
LTP.  It is expected that the implementation of the LTP will contribute towards improvement in air 
quality by reducing background concentrations of pollutants as emissions will be reduced on a 
regional scale. 
 

4.4.2 Borough Council Partnerships  

The planning system plays a key role in protecting and improving the environment.  Land use planning 
and development control can become an effective tool to improve air quality by first locating 
developments in such a way as to reduce emissions overall, and secondly reducing the direct impacts 
of those developments.  Although the presence of an AQMA makes consideration of the air quality 
impacts of a proposed development more important, there is still a need to regard air quality as a 
material factor in determining planning applications in any location. This is particularly important where 
the proposed development is not physically within the AQMA, but could have adverse impacts on air 
quality within it, or where air quality in that given area is close to exceeding guideline objectives itself. 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework states that ‘Planning policies should sustain compliance with 
and contribute towards EU limit values or national objectives for pollutants, taking into account the 
presence of Air Quality Management Areas and the cumulative impacts on air quality from individual 
sites in local areas. Planning decisions should ensure that any new development in Air Quality 
Management Areas is consistent with the local air quality action plan.’  
 
The National Air Quality Strategy reiterates that the government strongly believes that air quality 
issues should be dealt with in a holistic and multi-disciplinary way. In developing an Air Quality Action 
Plan, Environmental Health will engage with Borough Council Development Services and County 
Planning and Transportation to ensure the actions are supported by all parts of the administration.  
 
Environmental Health are consulted on applications within the AQMA or on major applications in the 
King’s Lynn urban area. The weekly planning application list is reviewed to take account of any 
development in or nearby the AQMA. Pre-application discussions may highlight the need for an 
application for planning consent to be accompanied by an air quality impact assessment. Small scale 
developments may require mitigation measures. 
 

4.4.3 Community Infrastructure Fund 

A new public transport route running from Wisbech Road in the south to Boal Street in the north has 
been built using Community Infrastructure Fund monies.  The route is linked to the existing highway 
network with a new junction at each end of its length. Air Quality Assessment has concluded that due 
to the resultant reduction of vehicles travelling along London Road, which is within the AQMA, annual 
average NO2 levels in that part of the AQMA will improve by up to 2.5ug/m

3
.  Provision for bus only 

lanes in Millfleet and Littleport Street has also been made.   
 

94



 

 - 19 - 
 

4.4.4 Urban Traffic Control 

Urban Traffic Control (UTC) is typically used to co-ordinate traffic signals to get traffic flowing through 
junctions as swiftly as possible. This action will be used to improve the timing of traffic signals in a 
systematic way to improve traffic flows and reduce idling, both of which contribute significantly to poor 
air quality in this area. 

4.4.5 Road Layout Changes 

Work is currently being undertaken to identify possible road layout changes in the town centre that 
would lead to improvements in air quality as part of the King’s Lynn Area Transport Strategy Group 
(KLATS). A change in the way traffic flows around the one way system area could improve traffic flows 
and reduce congestion, which could then lead to substantial reductions in emissions from transport in 
this area or provision of new roads could help reduce congestion. 

4.4.6 Low Emission Zone 

A Low Emission Zone (LEZ) on Railway Road would restrict certain types of vehicle entering the zone, 
and would require that those vehicles would comply with set emissions standards or fuel type. LEZs 
are typically based around Euro IV emissions standards, which can reduce NOx emissions by 15-50%.  

4.4.7 Quality Bus Partnerships and Contracts 

Contracts can be drawn up between Norfolk County Council and local bus operators stipulating the 
standards required for buses operating within the Council's remit. Quality Bus Partnerships can be 
used to set emissions standards on bus fleets for local operators in order to assist in compliance with 
a future LEZ. 

4.4.8 Car Parking Strategy  

Car parking provision and charging can help to create a modal shift from car usage to public transport 
or park & ride schemes.  The number, type and location of car parks needs to be assessed and 
consolidated as required. A car parking strategy could examine options such as variable message 
signs, on street vending, electric vehicle charging points and variable car parking rates. The feasibility 
of a park and ride scheme for King’s Lynn and associated car parking policy has yet to be 
implemented. Such a measure may have benefits in reducing emissions within the AQMA.   
 

4.4.9 Low Emissions Strategy 

Individual council and Joint Transport Emissions groups have either adopted Low Emission Strategies 
(LES) or are investigating their application. A LES provides a package of measures to help mitigate 
the transport impacts of development. The primary aim is to accelerate the uptake of low emission 
fuels and technologies. 

Low emission strategies complement other design and mitigation options, such as travel planning and 
the provision of public transport infrastructure.  

Strategies are often secured through a combination of planning conditions and legal obligations. They 
may incorporate policy measures and/or require financial investments in and contributions to the 
delivery of low emission transport projects and plans, including strategic monitoring and assessment 
activities. 

A LES can include measures such as: 

 Low emission planning agreements, such as securing EV charging points 
 Public Transport fleet improvements  
 Fleet reviews 
 Taxi emission standards  

95



 

 - 20 - 
 

 Specification for public charging in car parks or parking allocation for low emission vehicles  
 EV recharging points for Hotels, Superstores and Industrial Estates 
 Low emission vehicle demonstration days. 
 Low emission procurement strategies 
 Creation of low emission zones 

 

4.4.10 Smarter Choices 

Smarter choices promote education and awareness in an attempt to induce modal shift. The following 
measures will be used to this end: 
 
 Signage - to raise awareness that people are entering an AQMA; 
 Travelwise - an initiative which seeks to make people aware of the travel choices that are 

available to them and encourages people to use more sustainable modes of transport such as 
walking, cycling, and buses where it is reasonable and practicable to do so;  

 Travel Plans - a package of practical measures for the workplace or schools to encourage those 
people travelling to such organisations to choose alternatives to single-occupancy car-use; and 

 Carsharing - when two or more people share a car and travel together. It allows people to benefit 
from the convenience of the car, whilst alleviating the associated problems of congestion and 
pollution. 

4.4.11 Alternative Fuels 

To support and encourage the uptake of alternative fuel vehicles the Borough Council will disseminate 
information about grants available for converting existing vehicles or purchasing alternative fuel 
vehicles. 

 
 

4.4.12 Leading by Example 
 
The Borough Council will lead by example by undertaking the following actions: 
 Examining the use of Low Sulphur Diesel in its fleet of diesel powered vehicles; 
 Continuing to encourage employees to join the Carsharing scheme;  
 Use of hire cars on journeys more than 150 miles; 
 Adoption and implementation of Green Travel Plan;  
 Continuing to limit the engine size and CO2 emissions of leased cars made available to council 

employees; 
 Public space vehicles have had a telematic tracking system installed which enables the fleet to be 

monitored and deploy vehicles more efficiently;  
 Eco-driving training and best practice is being rolled out to drivers within the public spaces team. 
 An Environmental Statement has been produced and adopted, including support for monitoring 

and improvement of air quality across the Borough  
 

96



 

 - 21 - 
 

4.5 Assessment methods 

 
In accordance with the principle that air quality issues should be dealt with in a holistic and multi- 
disciplinary way the options outlined in 4.3 were initially assessed against 10 key objectives; these 
were that they should : 
 

1  Improve air quality in declared areas; 
2 Design public transport and car parking strategies to deliver regeneration and growth; 
3 Reduce the need to travel and promote low carbon options through better planning; 
4  Reduce short inter- urban journeys; 
5  Target capacity improvements where growth impacts on existing network; 
6  Improve access to strategic transport network; 
7  Provide infrastructure for growth adaptable to climate change and minimise environmental 

impact; 
8  Ensure that growth supports road safety; 
9  Enhance access to jobs, leisure and social activities; 
10  Develop a safe, secure public realm. 

 
Each of the options was given a score which defined the extent to which the above 10 objectives 
would be affected. 

 
Options were assessed taking into account: 
 

 Potential air quality impact 

 Cost effectiveness 

 Potential co-environmental benefits 

 Potential risk factors 

 Potential social impacts 

 Potential economic impacts 

 Feasibility based on cost and air quality impact 
 
Appendix 2 provides more detail on the assessment methods and cost-effectiveness scoring. 
 
 
Appendix 3 sets out the assessment of specific options. Some options were discounted due to 
prohibitive cost implications and/or unfeasibility. The most cost-effective options were selected for 
inclusion in the action plan measures. 
 
 
 

4.6 Consultation 
 
 
Consultation on the Air Quality Action Plan took place with a wide range of stakeholders including: 

 Secretary of State (DEFRA) 

 King’s Lynn Area Consultative Committee 

 King’s Lynn Chamber of Commerce 

 Elected Members 

 Environment Agency 

 Norfolk County Council including Highways 

 Bus operating companies 

 Neighbouring district local authorities 

 Members of the public  

 Interest groups (Bicycle Users Group, Community and Voluntary Action groups, 
Health Watch, Clinical Commissioning Group, Community transport) 

 

97



 

 - 22 - 
 

Drop in sessions were held at Gaywood and King’s Lynn libraries during August and September. A 
leaflet drop was carried out to properties within the air quality management areas to let them know 
about the consultation.  
 
An Air Quality Action Plan webpage was set up on the Borough Council’s web site with a link to an 
electronic survey and an email address for specific comments. Stakeholders and interest groups were 
contacted by email and directed to the website for more information. Taxi and Private Hire operators 
were contacted by letter for comments. Items also appeared in the local press to inform the local 
community that the consultation was taking place.  
 
A separate report is available on the AQAP webpage setting out the results of the consultation. The 
general consensus of opinion was that the measures in the AQAP were supported. 
 
 
 

5.1 Measures 
 
 
Following consideration of all the options in section 4, twenty measures have been selected to be 
carried forward in this Action Plan. The plan is summarised in Table A at the front of this report. 
 

5.2 Implementation and Monitoring 
 
The Borough Council of King’s Lynn and West Norfolk will jointly work on the Action Plan measures 
with relevant partners and stakeholders. To secure the necessary air quality improvements there must 
be involvement by all local stakeholders to achieve the Action Plan’s goals. 
 
The implementation and effectiveness of this Action Plan will be carefully monitored through 
monitoring of NO2 at relevant receptors within the AQMA. In addition traffic flow changes on key routes 
will be assessed through the review and assessment process. 
 
There will be regular review and assessment of the Action Plan proposals to evaluate progress and 
this will be reported annually as part of the LAQM Action Plan Progress Report. 
 

5.3 Future Actions 
 
The AQAP includes the measures that the Air Quality Action Plan Steering Group considers to be the 
most appropriate to make progress towards the air quality objectives in the Town Centre and 
Gaywood AQMAs at this time.  
 
The final action plan has been approved by the Borough Council of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk 
Cabinet and by DEFRA before becoming a fully adopted policy. Now adopted and integrated into the 
Norfolk Local Transport Plan, the Borough and County Councils will collaborate to implement the 
measures in the AQAP and in monitor their progress. This information will be reported annually to the 
Secretary of State in a statutory progress report. 

 

98



 

 - 23 - 
 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1: UK National Air Quality Standards and Objectives 

Appendix 2: Assessment Methods 

Appendix 3: Air Quality Action Plan Assessment of Options 

 

 

99



 

 - 24 - 
 

Appendix 1: UK National Air Quality Standards 
and Objectives 

Objectives included in the Air Quality Regulations 2000 and (Amendment) Regulations 2002 for 
the purpose of Local Air Quality Management 
 

Pollutant 
 

Air Quality Objective Date to be 
achieved by Concentration Measured as 

Benzene 
All authorities 

 

16.25 g/m
3
 

 
Running annual mean 

 
31.12.2003 

Authorities in England and 
Wales only 

5.00 g/m
3
 Annual mean 31.12.2010 

Authorities in open areas and 
coastal areas should be 
cleaner as air changes more 
frequently and Northern Ireland 
only 

3.25 g/m
3
 Running annual mean 31.12.2010 

1,3-Butadiene 2.25 g/m3 running annual mean 31.12.2003 

Carbon monoxide 
Authorities in England, Wales 
and Northern Ireland only 

 
10.0 mg/m3 

maximum daily running 8-
hour mean 

31.12.2003 

Authorities in Scotland only 10.0 mg/m3 running 8-hour mean 31.12.2003 

Lead 0.5 g/m3 

0.25 g/m3 

annual mean 
annual mean 

31.12.2004 
31.12.2008 

Nitrogen dioxideb 200 g/m3 not to be 
exceeded more than 18 
times a year 

40 g/m3 

1 hour mean 
 
 
Annual mean 

31.12.2005 
 
 
31.12.2005 

Particles (PM10) 
(gravimetric)c 
All authorities 

50 g/m3 not to be 
exceeded more than 35 
times a year 

40 g/m3 

24 hour mean 
 
 
Annual mean 

31.12.2004 
 
 
31.12.2004 

Authorities in Scotland onlyd 50 g/m3 not to be 
exceeded more than 7 
times a year 

18 g/m3 

24 hour mean 
 
 
Annual mean 

31.12.2010 
 
 
31.12.2010 

Sulphur dioxide 350 g/m3 not to be 
exceeded more than 24 
times a year 

125 g/m3 not to be 
exceeded more than 3 
times a year 

266 g/m3 not to be 
exceeded more than 35 
times a year 

1 hour mean 
 
 
24 hour mean 
 
 
15 minute mean 

31.12.2004 
 
 
31.12.2004 
 
 
31.12.2005 

b. The objectives for nitrogen dioxide are provisional. 
c. Measured using the European gravimetric transfer standard sampler or equivalent. 
d. These 2010 Air Quality Objectives for PM10 apply in Scotland only, as set out in the Air Quality (Scotland) 
Amendment Regulations 2002. 
 

Additional national particles objectives for England, Wales and Greater London (see table below) are 
not currently included in Regulations for the purpose of LAQM.  The Government and the Welsh 
Assembly Government however intends that the new particles objectives will be included in 
Regulations as soon as practicable after the review of the EU's first air quality daughter directive.  
Whilst authorities have no obligation to review and assess against them, they may find it helpful to do 
so, in order to assist with longer-term planning, and the assessment of development proposals in their 
local areas. 

100



 

 - 25 - 
 

 
Proposed new particles objectives for England, Wales and Greater London (not included in 
Regulations) 
 

Region 
 

Air Quality Objective Date to be 
achieved by Concentration Measured as 

London 
50 g/m

3
 not to be exceeded 

more than 10 times a year 
24 hour mean 31.12.2010 

London 23 g/m
3
 annual mean 31.12.2010 

London 20 g/m
3
 annual mean 31.12.2015 

Rest of England and Wales 
50 g/m

3
 not to be exceeded 

more than 7 times a year 
24 hour mean 31.12.2010 

Rest of England and Wales 20 g/m
3
 annual mean 31.12.2010 

 
Efforts to achieve these objectives should be focussed on locations where members of the public are 
likely to be exposed over the averaging period of the objective.  The table below summarises the 
locations where these objectives should and should not apply. 

Typical locations where the objectives should and should not apply 

Averaging 
Period 

Pollutants Objectives should apply at … Objectives should not generally 
apply at … 

Annual mean 1,3 
Butadiene 
Benzene 
Lead 
Nitrogen 
dioxide 
PM10 

All background locations where 
members of the public might be 
regularly exposed. 

Building facades of offices or other places 
of work where members of the public do 
not have regular access. 

  Building facades of residential 
properties, schools, hospitals, 
libraries etc. 

Gardens of residential properties. 

   Kerbside sites (as opposed to locations at 
the building facade), or any other location 
where public exposure is expected to be 
short term 

24 hour 
mean and 
8-hour mean 

Carbon 
monoxide 
PM10 
Sulphur 
dioxide 

All locations where the annual 
mean objective would apply. 

Kerbside sites (as opposed to locations at 
the building facade), or any other location 
where public exposure is expected to be 
short term. 

  Gardens of residential properties.  

1 hour mean Nitrogen 
dioxide 
Sulphur 
dioxide 

All locations where the annual 
mean and 24 and 8-hour mean 
objectives apply. 

Kerbside sites where the public would not 
be expected to have regular access. 

  Kerbside sites (e.g. pavements of 
busy shopping streets). 

 

  Those parts of car parks and 
railway stations etc. which are not 
fully enclosed. 

 

  Any outdoor locations to which the 
public might reasonably be 
expected to have access. 

 

15 minute 
mean 

Sulphur 
dioxide 

All locations where members of the 
public might reasonably be 
exposed for a period of 15 minutes 
or longer. 

 

 
 
 

101



 

 - 26 - 
 

Appendix 2: Assessment Methods 

The KLATS/ Air Quality Action Plan Steering Group have identified a wide range of options during the 
initial assessment. These have been assessed in more detail against a range of criteria in order to 
determine which ones to include within the Action Plan. The following paragraphs outline how the 
assessment has been made.   

What is the option? 

The KLATS/ AQAPSG have listed the potential options and made comments on the potential effects, 
pros and cons associated with the option. The information given here along with the source 
apportionment information in chapter 3 is the basis of the assessment. 

What is being proposed? 

The options are defined in specific terms where possible. For the detailed assessment each option 
has been defined in sufficient detail to understand the change, from the current situation, that is being 
proposed. 
 
Typically the proposal is either to change the traffic in the AQMAs or traffic more generally across 
King’s Lynn. The effects on traffic in these locations are defined as ‘fewer vehicles’ or ‘fewer vehicles 
queuing’ or ‘lower emitting vehicles’. In other cases the focus is considered to be ‘strategic’ i.e. 
developing those options may not have direct impacts on the problem but improve the Borough 
Councils’ capacity to make the correct decision on managing air quality in the AQMA and across 
King’s Lynn. 

Potential air quality impact 

This is a key assessment in that the Air Quality Action Plan must focus on prioritising options that 
improve air quality most effectively. The assessment is complex in that the detailed assessment of any 
given option could normally be subject to a study of its own requiring significant resources. 
 
Ideally, a traffic model for King’s Lynn town centre and Gaywood would be developed to a stage 
where it would be possible to quantitatively assess the potential air quality impacts of any given 
options. However, this is not currently the case. Therefore, a semi-quantitative assessment relying on 
a level of judgement has been adopted. The method used is described below: 
 
1 What proportion of emissions would be affected by the option? 
The option description, comments, focus of the option and source apportionment have been used to 
define how much of the contribution to the air quality issue in King’s Lynn town centre and Gaywood 
that this option potentially addresses. 
 
2 Realistically how much of the traffic would change due to the option? 
Beyond the potential influence there must be consideration of the realistic impact of the proposed 
option. Road closure would obviously remove all traffic emissions and hence realistically remove 
100% of all local road transport emissions. However, this may only be acceptable in very few cases. 
Options listed for King’s Lynn are more modest in ambition. Non-regulatory interventions are likely to 
have limited impact since the junction-users will still be left to decide whether to use the junction or 
not. 
 
The level of realistic change has been defined as being: 

o Neutral – basically changing no traffic 
o Very small – changing around 1-2% of traffic 
o Small – changing 2-5% of traffic 
o Moderate – changing 5-10% of traffic 
o Large – changing more than 10% of traffic 

 

102



 

 - 27 - 
 

3 Therefore what level of reduction in emissions might result from the option? 
The proportion of emissions potentially affected by the option and the view on how far they could be 
changed by the option (steps 1 and 2 above) are combined to express an overall assessment of the 
amount of local transport emissions in King’s Lynn town centre and Gaywood that may realistically be 
reduced by the option. 
 
4 How significant might the air quality improvement be as a result? 
The source apportionment and review and assessment information presented in this report indicates 
that a 6µg/m

3
 (13%) reduction in NO2 concentrations in the King’s Lynn town centre AQMA is required 

based upon 2007 modelling, to achieve the air quality standard. An 8 µg/m
3
 (17%) reduction is 

required at Gaywood.  
 
For the purpose of the air quality assessment the result of the realistic intervention has been assessed 
as having a potentially: 

o Neutral local air quality benefit if the realistic intervention is 0% or worse 
o Low local air quality benefit if the realistic intervention is 1% 
o Medium local air quality benefit if the realistic intervention is 2-5% 
o Large local air quality benefit if the realistic intervention is >5% 

 
The result of the assessment is to define the potential air quality benefit of an option (in terms of 
making progress towards the air quality standard in the AQMA) as ranging from neutral to relatively 
large. 

Cost-effectiveness assessment 

Implementation costs 
The potential implementation costs of each option are assessed as follows: 

 Cost neutral; 

 Low costs (up to £20k annually e.g. for small surveys or campaigns or other options using 
current resources) 

 Medium costs (up to £200k annually e.g. for small traffic management schemes) 

 High costs (above £200k annually e.g. for new infrastructure) 
 
The assessed costs attempt to include the costs to vehicle operators as well as to the Councils.   
 
The effectiveness of each measure in improving air quality is compared to the implementation costs in 
the matrix provided in Table a below. 
 
In this matrix the assessed implementation costs and potential air quality impacts have been given a 
weighted score. The product of the weighted scores for each option is calculated. The results can be 
interpreted as follows: 

 If the product is high (8 or more) then the measure is more cost-effective (significant impacts 
for the cost involved) and perhaps favourably cost-effective; 

 If the product is medium (between 3-7) then the measure is in the medium range of cost-
effectiveness; and 

 If the product is low (2 or less) then the measure is less cost-effective (small impacts for the 
cost involved) and perhaps unacceptably poor in cost-effectiveness terms. 

 
The final cost-effectiveness value is sensitive to changes in the assumptions of how effective a 
measure might be in reducing emissions and how costly it is. 
 
Note that a score of 4 for one option and a score of 8 for another does not necessarily mean that the 
former option is exactly two times more cost-effective. This method only estimates the relative cost-
effectiveness of options rather than their absolute values. The method is useful during discussions of 
the relative priority of different options. 

103



 

 - 28 - 
 

Table a: Level and magnitude of cost and air quality impact indicators 

AQ benefit 
 
 
 
Cost 

R
a
tin

g
 

N
e
u
tra

l 

L
o
w

 

M
e
d

iu
m

 

H
ig

h
 

Rating  0 1 2 3 

Neutral 4 0 4 8 12 

Low 3 0 3 6 9 

Medium 2 0 2 4 6 

High 1 0 1 2 3 

 
 
Within Table 7 located in Appendix 3, indicators for cost and air quality impact are given to enable the 
comparison between options and their potential feasibility.  Approximate values have been assigned 
for the indicators, as shown in Table b. The measure of cost is given in pounds sterling (£), whilst the 
measure of air quality impact is given in the predicted change in NO2 concentration, μg/m

3
. The 

definition of such indicators also allows for the assessment of the effectiveness of the measure/option, 
should it be put in place. 
 

Table b: Level and magnitude of cost and air quality impact indicators* 

Indicator Level Magnitude 

Cost 

Low < £20,000 

Medium £10,000 - £200,000 

High >£200,000 

AQ Impact 

Negative < 0μg/m
3
 

Low 0 - 1μg/m
3
 

Medium 1- 3μg/m
3
 

High > 3μg/m
3
 

*Costs already allocated or spent are not included in this assessment and would therefore be 
described as ‘neutral’. 

Potential co-environmental benefits 

In this assessment other environmental benefits are highlighted. 

 Other pollutants: The likely effect on local PM10 concentration is assessed as being an overall 
reduction or a local reduction perhaps with emissions being relocated elsewhere;  

 Greenhouse gases: The likely effect on greenhouse gas emissions is assessed as being an 
overall reduction or a local reduction perhaps with emissions being relocated elsewhere in the 
District. 

 
Without detailed information on the true impacts of the options these assessments rely on judgement 
and therefore any issues have been raised within the `comments’ column in the assessment results in 
Table 7. 

Potential risk factors  

In this assessment risk factors are highlighted. These may be looked at more closely within a Strategic 
Environmental Assessment of any option implemented. At this stage it is simply highlighted whether it 
is likely that the option: 

o may relocate emissions and hence lead to worsening air quality elsewhere 
o may require a change in land use 
o may place limits on pace of development or their costs 

 
Without detailed information on the true impacts of the options these assessments rely on judgement 
and therefore any issues have been raised within the `comments’ column in the assessment results in 
Table 7. 

104



 

 - 29 - 
 

Potential social impacts 

Potential social impacts are highlighted. These may need to be examined more closely when 
developing the options further. At this stage it is simply highlighted whether it is likely that the option 
would potentially: 

o Provide health benefits in terms of lower exposure to pollutants or increased mobility 
o Increase road safety 
o Improve accessibility 

 
Without detailed information on the true impacts of the options these assessments rely on judgement 
and therefore any issues have been raised within the `comments’ column in the assessment results in 
Table 7. 

Potential economic impacts 

Potential economic impacts are highlighted. These may need to be examined more closely when 
developing the options further. At this stage it is simply highlighted whether it is likely that the option 
would potentially: 
 

o Provide environmental improvements to property 
o Make the town more appealing to live or work 
o Attract more visitors or shoppers to the town centre 
o Improve sustainable development or accessibility in King’s Lynn 
o Reduce or increase overall travel time 
o Impact on deliveries to King’s Lynn 
o Impact on operator costs and potentially pass these through to passengers or clients 
o Require significant re-adjustment to the scheme 

 
Without detailed information on the true impacts of the options these assessments rely on judgement 
and therefore any issues have been raised within the `comments’ column in the assessment results in 
Table 7. 

Who is the appropriate authority for implementing an option? 

A single authority would be responsible for leading on developing and implementing Action Plan 
measures or in attempting to influence other agencies to take such action. Each option has been 
identified as being within the responsibility of the following authorities: 
1. King’s Lynn & West Norfolk Borough Council; and 
2. Norfolk County Council. 

How feasible or acceptable is it to implement the option? 

Comments on feasibility and acceptability are included where appropriate in Appendix 3. 
 

105



 

 - 30 - 
 

Appendix 3: Air Quality Action Plan 
Assessment of Options 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

106



 

  

Table 7: Available options and feasibility 

Strategy Measure Description 
Traffic/ 
AQ Impact 

Ancillary Effects Cost 

Cost 
effective

ness 
(see 

table a 
above) 

Comments 

Action 

Move 
receptors 
away from 
AQMA 

Relocation of 
receptors 

Remove homes and 
businesses from AQMA 
Compulsory purchase of 
some or all affected 
properties 

Large. Would 
remove 
receptors from 
source area 

Large social and 
environmental 
impact 

High 3 

Not feasible, due to high 
number of residential and 
commercial properties 
within the AQMA. 

None 

Move 
sources 
away from 
AQMA 

Bypass 
[i.e. a new route 
or road to re-
direct some of 
the traffic that 
traverses the 
AQMAs] 
 

Possible new routes: 
 
1) Road through Friars to 
Boal Quay which will take 
some traffic from London 
Road/ Railway Road. 
 
2) Road bridge over the 
River Great Ouse from 
West Lynn which will act 
as a bypass to London 
Road/ Saddlebow Road/ 
Wisbech Road 
 
3) Gaywood Link Road, 
to connect Gaywood 
Road to Hardwick Road, 
which will remove some 
traffic from Kings Lynn 
AQMA. 
 
4) By pass linking North  
Lynn to West Lynn 
 
5) New link road to 
Lynnsport 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1), 2), 3) 4) & 
5) Medium 

Large 
environmental 
impact 

 
 
 
1) Neutral 
 
 
 
 
 
2), 3), 4) 
High 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5) 
Potentially 
neutral  

 
 
 

1) 8 
 
 
 
 
 

2), 3), 4) 
2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5)  8 
 

 
 
1) CIF funded bus only 
route built to transport 
buses from Southgates to 
Boal Quay area 
 
2) Requires NCC 
Highways support/input to 
progress.  Very expensive 
with technical difficulties re 
shipping access and 
space requirements. 
 
3) Requires NCC 
Highways support/input to 
progress.  Very expensive 
with technical difficulties 
 
 
4) An aspiration rather 
than a deliverable option 
 
5) Could remove some 
traffic from Gaywood 
AQMA 

 
 
1) Included in Action Plan 
measures 
 

 
 
2) Not pursued, cost 
effectiveness low 
 
 
 
 
 
3) Not pursued, cost 
effectiveness low 
 
 
 
 
4) Not pursued, cost benefit 
low 
 
5) Tentative funding 
streams 

107



 

  

Strategy Measure Description 
Traffic/ 
AQ Impact 

Ancillary Effects Cost 

Cost 
effective

ness 
(see 

table a 
above) 

Comments 

Action 

 
Control access 
for freight 
 

1) 24-hour or timed ban 
on freight access through 
the AQMAs  
2) Parkway, south of A47 
in order to transfer 
incoming freight into low 
emission vehicles for 
transhipment of goods to 
Town Centre. 

Medium 

Main sources of 
NO2 emission are 
cars or buses not 
HGV’s 

High 2 

Requires purchase of land 
Expensive and NCC funds 
not available at present.  
Possibly many likely areas 
have been ear-marked for 
other purposes already. 

1) None 
 
2) None 

 

Control access 
for cars 

24-hour or timed ban on 
car access through the 
AQMAs 

Large/High 

Environmental 
improvement for 
residents, visitors 
and workers 

High 3 

Not feasible due to lack of 
alternative routes within 
the town centre 

None 

 
Control access 
for buses 
 

1) 24-hour or timed ban 
on bus access through 
the AQMAs: Inbound 
contra flow bus lane on 
Railway Road (AM and 
PM peaks) 
 
2) Outbound bus gate on 
Norfolk Street (PM peak) 
 
3) Inbound bus lane on 
Littleport Street  (AM and 
PM peak) 
 
4) Community 
Infrastructure Fund (CIF) 
bid includes proposed 
new bus route 

1), 2), 3) & 4) 
Medium 

Improved journey 
times, 
encouragement to 
use public 
transport 

 
 
 
 
 
 

1), 2), & 3) 
High 
 
 
 
 
4) Neutral 

 
 
 
 
 
 

1), 2), & 
3)   2 

 
 
 
 

4) 8 

Requires NCC buy in. 
 

Main sources of NO2 
emission are cars. 

 
CIF funding available 

1) None 
 
2) None 
 
3) None  
 
4) Progress CIF bid for bus 
route. Include in action 
plan measures 

108



 

  

Strategy Measure Description 
Traffic/ 
AQ Impact 

Ancillary Effects Cost 

Cost 
effective

ness 
(see 

table a 
above) 

Comments 

Action 

 
Lobby Central 
Government 
Departments 

Lobby the Highways 
Agency and the regional 
development agency  
for long-term policies to 
manage traffic volumes 
 

Low 
Improvements 
away from AQMA 

Low 3 

 
Trunk roads are not 
directly contributing 
towards air quality within 
the AQMA and therefore 
this measure is not 
considered effective.   

None 

Zoning 
Measures 

20 mph zones Residential traffic zones 

Low  
Emissions 
from transport 
are related to 
fuel efficiency, 
and at 20 mph, 
fuel efficiency 
is lower than 
higher speeds, 
leading to 
increased 
emissions. 

Reduction in noise 
level, potential 
traffic 
displacement, 
improvement in 
overall local 
environment and 
quality of life. 

Medium  2 

Only practical if sufficient 
enforcement is provided. 
 
AQMAs are not wholly 
residential. 20-mph zones 
would lead to an increase 
in emissions of NOx from 
traffic.  
 
Speed limit is 30mph 
within AQMA 

None 

 
Traffic free 
residential areas 

The complete removal of 
traffic through access 
restrictions from specific 
residential areas, 
although such areas 
usually remain accessible 
to traffic from residents. 

Large/ medium 
Would lead to 
a reduction in 
emissions 
from traffic 
within the 
traffic free 
zone, although 
traffic is most 
likely to be 
displaced 
elsewhere. 

High. Would lead 
to a reduction in 
emissions from 
traffic within the 
zone, although 
traffic is most 
likely to be 
displaced 
elsewhere. 

Medium 4 

AQMAs are not wholly 
residential in nature 
 
Lack of alternative routes 

None  

109



 

  

Strategy Measure Description 
Traffic/ 
AQ Impact 

Ancillary Effects Cost 

Cost 
effective

ness 
(see 

table a 
above) 

Comments 

Action 

 
Low Emissions 
Zones (LEZ) 

An LEZ is an area which 
seeks to reduce 
emissions from road 
vehicles by encouraging 
the use of cleaner fuels, 
more efficient vehicles, or 
reducing the number of 
vehicles overall. This is 
typically done by 
restricting access to 
certain areas from 
vehicles that do not meet 
the minimum set 
emissions standards.  
 
An LEZ can be 
introduced through 
voluntary agreements, 
partnerships, and 
licensing arrangements, 
such as bus quality 
partnerships or taxi 
licensing. 

Medium  
LEZs are 
typically based 
around 
Euro IV 
standards, 
which reduce 
emissions of 
NOx by 15% 
from Euro III 
vehicles and 
50% from 
Euro I 
vehicles. 

Displacement of 
traffic could lead 
to increased 
congestion 
elsewhere. 
Possibility of lost 
trade for 
businesses within 
the LEZ. 

Medium 4 

An LEZ is a feasible option 
for buses, taxis, and 
delivery vehicles only. LEZ 
status would take this 
restriction one step further 
by setting emissions 
standards for those 
vehicles.  
As cars have been 
identified as the main 
pollution source on some 
routes, maybe feasible for 
certain areas where buses 
have greater contribution. 
e.g. Gaywood, Railway 
Road. 

Investigate within Low 
Emission Strategy? 

 Clear Zones 

Designed to encourage 
solutions to traffic 
problems in towns and 
cities whilst ensuring 
town centres retain their 
accessibility, vitality, and 
economic viability. 
Usually involves the 
removal of traffic or 
access restrictions and 
improved pedestrian and 
cycling facilities within the 
Clear Zone. 

High.  
The reduction 
of traffic within 
the Clear Zone 
would most 
likely have 
significant 
benefits to air 
quality within 
the immediate 
area. 

Possible loss of 
trade to 
businesses 
although the 
improved 
atmosphere of 
Clear Zones may 
lead to increased 
trade in the longer 
term. 

High 3 

May move traffic 
elsewhere 

None  

110



 

  

Strategy Measure Description 
Traffic/ 
AQ Impact 

Ancillary Effects Cost 

Cost 
effective

ness 
(see 

table a 
above) 

Comments 

Action 

 Vehicle Bans 
The banning of certain 
types of vehicles from 
specific places or roads 

Low 
HGVs have 
higher 
emissions but 
are not the 
main source of 
NO2 in AQMA 

Could displace 
HGV traffic to 
more residential 
areas which are 
less suited to 
accommodate 
HGVs. Possibility 
of lost trade for 
businesses. 

Low 3 

An HGV vehicle ban could 
lead to reduction in NO2 
concentrations and other 
road transport emissions, 
where there is a high 
proportion of HGV traffic 
on those roads. 

None 

Public 
Transport 
Measures 

Park and Ride 

Buses pick up 
commuters and shoppers 
from a car park on the 
outskirts of a town and 
take passengers directly 
to the town centre without 
stopping. 
1) Situated at South 
Fairstead with: 
Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) 
to Central Kings Lynn 
using ‘Sandline’; or rail 
connection e.g. Parry 
People Mover using 
same route. 
 
2) Situated at a new Lynn 
South Parkway- rail 
based using existing rail 
line. 
 
3) Development of 
Watlington Rail Station 
as a Parkway. 
 

Low - Medium.  
Increased 
proportions of 
the population 
using public 
transport could 
lead to a 
reduction in 
NO2 
concentrations 
and other 
emissions 
from transport. 

Reductions in 
traffic congestion. 
Usually only 
benefits car-
owners and 
requires land.  
Needs to be 
linked to car 
parking strategy.   

High 1-2 

Needs co-operation of 
Network Rail, land 
acquisition and 
infrastructure built.  Bus 
operator required.  
Possible increased 
congestion in some areas 
Needs buy in from 
Network Rail and Local 
train operators). 
 
Land availability for Park 
and Ride? 
  
Could be implemented by 
the Borough Council.   
 
Could reduce NOx 
emissions at peak hours 
 
Considered by KLATS 

None 

111



 

  

Strategy Measure Description 
Traffic/ 
AQ Impact 

Ancillary Effects Cost 

Cost 
effective

ness 
(see 

table a 
above) 

Comments 

Action 

 
Light rail or tram 
system 

The introduction of a light 
rail or tram system will 
provide an alternative to 
the existing bus system. 
It is more efficient in 
energy terms than buses 
and produces 
substantially lower 
emissions. 

Low - Medium.  
Light rail and 
trams, if 
utilised, would 
lead to 
significant 
reductions of 
emissions by 
transporting a 
larger number 
of people on a 
cleaner mode 
of transport 
than the 
private car or 
bus. 

Could have 
detrimental 
environmental 
effects associated 
with construction. 

High 1-2 

The potential to use the 
‘Sand Line’ freight railway 
line between Leziate and 
King’s Lynn has been 
considered  for a park & 
rail system operating light 
rail system. 

None 

 
Subsidised 
Public Transport 

Subsidisation of public 
transport fares on urban 
services to make the 
service less expensive 
and encourage more 
people to use. Fare 
subsidisation can be 
used on a temporary or 
longer-term basis to 
attract patronage and 
encourage a modal shift 
away from the private car 
to public transport where 
feasible. 

Low 
Encouraging a 
modal shift 
away from the 
private car to 
public 
transport will 
typically lead 
to reductions 
in NOX 
emissions 
from transport. 

Modal shift to 
public transport 
from the car would 
help to reduce 
congestion. 

Low - High 1-3 

 
 
 
Funding of this could 
divert resources from 
other initiatives in local 
transport plan 
 
Many journeys in AQMAs 
are part of rural services to 
King’s Lynn 

None 

112



 

  

Strategy Measure Description 
Traffic/ 
AQ Impact 

Ancillary Effects Cost 

Cost 
effective

ness 
(see 

table a 
above) 

Comments 

Action 

 
Quality Bus 
Partnerships and 
contracts 

Contracts between the 
council and local bus 
operators that include 
standards for buses used 
in the area, such as type 
of bus, level of service, 
and standards for vehicle 
emissions. 

High. 
Improved 
emissions 
standards 
would 
guarantee 
significant 
reductions in 
NOX and other 
emissions 
from buses. 

May encourage 
modal shift to 
public transport, 
as pollution 
produced by 
buses is a 
common 
complaint by bus 
users. 

Low 9 

Improve/reduce emissions 
from PSV fleet  
Incorporate emissions 
standards into Quality Bus 
Partnerships and 
Contracts, particularly on 
routes operating through 
AQMAs  
 
NCC/ LTP required  
 

Include in Action plan 
measures 

 

On Street Ticket 
Vending 
Machines (TVM) 
for buses 

Roadside TVMs with 
networked 
communications links to 
remote monitoring and 
revenue management 
systems.  These systems 
offer the full range of 
tickets for travel within a 
zone. 

Low.  
Encouraging a 
modal shift 
away from the 
private car to 
public 
transport will 
typically lead 
to reductions 
in NOX 
emissions 
from transport. 

Modal shift to 
public transport 
from the car would 
help to reduce 
congestion and 
enhance 
passengers 
travelling 
experience. 

Medium 2 

TVMs could be placed 
initially at Bus and Railway 
Stations and near key bus 
stop interchange points. 
 

None 

Fiscal 
Measures 

Congestion 
charging/ tolls 

Part III of the Transport 
Act 2000 provides local 
authorities with powers to 
introduce road user 
charging where these will 
help reduce road 
congestion and pollution. 
Typically, motorists are 
charged to enter the city 
by car. 

Large.  
On 17 May, 
2003 London 
introduced a 
congestion-
charging 
scheme and 
results to date 
show that 
there has been 
a 25% 
reduction in 
overall traffic 
since it began.   

Charging typically 
leads to a modal 
shift and a 
substantial overall 
reduction in traffic 
congestion. 

High  2 

Considered but may not 
be feasible in King’s Lynn. 

None 

113



 

  

Strategy Measure Description 
Traffic/ 
AQ Impact 

Ancillary Effects Cost 

Cost 
effective

ness 
(see 

table a 
above) 

Comments 

Action 

 
Workplace 
Parking Levy 

The workplace-parking 
levy is a charge for 
private, non-residential 
spaces, like those used 
by businesses for their 
workers. 

Low.  
Workplace 
parking levies 
could 
potentially 
increase car 
sharing 
amongst 
employees 
and also 
encourage a 
modal shift 
towards 
alternative 
transport 
options.  

Reduced 
congestion, 
journey time and 
possible 
reductions in other 
harmful 
atmospheric 
pollutants 
generated from 
transport. May 
displace parking 
onto nearby 
residential streets 
that are not 
currently covered 
under permit 
parking. 

Low 3 

Generally a less 
acceptable option with the 
public.  
 
Could considered as part 
of car parking strategy or 
LES 

None, 
 

 Parking Charges 

Encourage use of car 
parks outside AQMA by 
applying reduced 
charges 

Medium 
Cars parking 
outside AQMA 
will not pass 
through 
congested 
streets. Lower 
emissions 

Could have 
beneficial effects 
on retail and local 
business if public 
walk from car to 
destination. 

Low 6 

Currently c20 surface car 
parks with large number in 
town centre; these could 
be replaced with new multi 
storey car parks, situated 
at areas accessible 
without necessarily 
passing through AQMA 
streets 

Examine car parking 
charging as part of overall 
car parking strategy for 
King’s Lynn. Include in 
action plan measures 

 
Roadside 
Emissions 
Testing 

A uniformed police officer 
stops vehicles at the 
roadside and a qualified 
vehicle tester will test 
their emissions levels, 
and if it fails set limits, the 
vehicle owner may be 
issued with a fixed 
penalty notice. 

Low.  
Although 
raises 
awareness of 
emissions 
from transport. 

Raises awareness 
of the impact of 
road traffic. 
May increase 
congestion if 
conducted on 
narrow roads. 

Medium 2 

NCC/ Police resources 
needed. High cost ET 
Scanner and Automatic 
Number Plate recognition 

None 

114



 

  

Strategy Measure Description 
Traffic/ 
AQ Impact 

Ancillary Effects Cost 

Cost 
effective

ness 
(see 

table a 
above) 

Comments 

Action 

 
Variable Parking 
Rates 

A system of financial 
incentives towards low 
emission vehicles.  A 
pricing and permit 
structure by providing 
benefits to those who 
choose smaller, more 
efficient or alternative fuel 
vehicles. 

Medium 
Reduces the 
number of 
highly polluting 
vehicles and 
contributes to 
a reduction in 
harmful 
pollutants. 

Only benefits car 
users.  May 
displace parking 
into other areas 
where restrictions 
are not found. 

Low 6 

Introduce a pricing and 
permit structure to 
encourage low emission 
vehicles. May penalise 
those who are less well 
off.   

Include in action plan 
measures 

 
Support the use 
of West Lynn 
Ferry 

Seek funding for parking 
improvements at West 
Lynn and for ferry 

Low 
Reduction of 
traffic between 
West Lynn and 
AQMA 

Improvement in 
journey time for 
passengers 

Low - 
medium 

2-3 

Funding by NCC 
withdrawn 

Include in action plan 
measures 

 
Vehicle idling 
regulations 

Encourage the practice of 
switching off idling 
engines 

Low 
Reduces 
emissions in 
areas of 
queuing and 
stationary 
traffic 

Environmental 
benefits, reduction 
in noise 

Low 3 

 
Stationary traffic may not 
be in AQMA 
 
Requires a change of 
habit for drivers 
 
Could be enforced as part 
of enforcement of 
decriminalisation of 
parking 

Pursue through NEPG sub 
group 

115



 

  

Strategy Measure Description 
Traffic/ 
AQ Impact 

Ancillary Effects Cost 

Cost 
effective

ness 
(see 

table a 
above) 

Comments 

Action 

Alternative 
Fuel 
Utilisation 
Incentives 

Financial 
Incentives 

The following incentives 
have been used 
successfully by other 
local authorities to 
encourage alternative 
fuels: 
1) Council Tax rebates/ 
reductions for purchase 
of alternative 
fuel/conversion/ Euro IV 
standard vehicle 
purchase; 
2) Reduction in taxi 
licence fee for alternative 
fuel use, and/ or grant 
assistance for conversion 
from Council and EST; 
3) Council tax incentives 
for non-car owning 
households: travel 
discounts, cycle 
discounts, council tax 
rebates, etc.; 
4) Priority and/or 
free/discounted parking 
in city centre for 
alternative fuel/ Euro IV 
vehicles 

Low.  
Alternative 
Fuel Vehicles 
would have an 
impact on 
lowering 
emissions 
from transport. 

None 

Variable, 
dependent 
upon how 
far 
reaching 
incentives 
are. 

1-4 

Measures could be 
implemented as part of 
low emission strategy 

Investigate within Low 
Emission Strategy? 

Smarter 
choices; 
Promotion, 
education, 
awareness 

Signage 
Erect signage to raise 
awareness that people 
are entering an AQMA. 

Low 
May be seen as a 
visual disruption. 

Low 0 

May not convey a 
meaningful message to 
car-users None 

116



 

  

Strategy Measure Description 
Traffic/ 
AQ Impact 

Ancillary Effects Cost 

Cost 
effective

ness 
(see 

table a 
above) 

Comments 

Action 

 Travelwise 

To encourage the use of 
alternatives to  
the car and provide safe 
and attractive  
facilities,  awareness  
campaigns  are  required  
to encourage  a  change  
in  attitude  towards  
travel. 
NCC and a number of 
other local authorities 
adopted a campaign 
using 
the trademark 
‘TravelWise’.  
 

Low 

Modal shift to 
walking and 
cycling could bring 
about health 
benefits.  

Low 3 

Norfolk  County  Council  
included a policy in the 
now superseded Structure 
Plan to  develop  the 
TravelWise  campaign  to  
raise  public  awareness 
about the problems 
associated with 
traffic growth and car 
reliance. 
Due to current  financial 
constraints this initiative 
no longer has resources 
allocated directly 

Continue work begun with 
Travelwise initiative and 
disseminate information to 
the public and raising 
awareness about travel 
choice. 

 Travel Plans 

A travel plan is typically a 
package of practical 
measures to encourage 
staff to choose 
alternatives to single-
occupancy car use and to 
reduce the need to travel 
for work. 

Low.  
Travel plans 
have the 
potential to 
reduce single-
occupancy 
commuter car 
usage as well 
as business 
mileage, 
therefore 
mitigating 
emissions 
from transport. 

None Low 3 

Can be partially 
implemented through 
planning system  
 

Continue to encourage 
and support workplace 
travel plans with the 
Norfolk County Council. 

Include in action plan 
measures 

117



 

  

Strategy Measure Description 
Traffic/ 
AQ Impact 

Ancillary Effects Cost 

Cost 
effective

ness 
(see 

table a 
above) 

Comments 

Action 

 
Green travel 
plans 

For large businesses and 
institutions 
[i.e. targets for each 
commercial and 
institutional site above a 
given size threshold to 
introduce GTPs including 
manageable targets for 
the effects of the plans 

Low- Medium 
Can affect areas 
inside and outside 
AQMA 

Low 3-6 

Borough Council are 
currently introducing a 
Green Travel Plan  
 
Encourage through 
planning and development 
management policies 

Travel plans included in 
action plan measures 

 Car sharing 

Two or more people 
share a car and travel 
together. It allows people 
to benefit from the 
convenience of the car, 
whilst alleviating the 
associated problems of 
congestion and pollution. 

Low.  
Maximising 
occupancy in 
vehicles 
should lead to 
a reduced 
number of total 
trips overall, 
therefore 
reducing 
emissions 
from transport. 

Reductions in 
traffic congestion 
during peak times. 

Low 3 

Continue to support and 
encourage car sharing 
through the role of the 
Travel Plan Co-ordinator 
and as part of the 
Travelwise initiative. Included in action plan 

measures 

 Car Club 

The provision of a 
commercial car club to 
provide access to a car 
when necessary for 
longer journeys, while 
also encouraging 
walking, cycling and 
public transport for day to 
day travel. 

Low 
Removes cars 
from the area 
hence 
reducing 
harmful 
pollutants.   

A reduction in 
congestion.  
Encourages a 
modal shift from 
the car in shorter 
journeys. 

Low 3 

Locate a car club close by 
and in convenient location 
for the majority of potential 
occupants. 

Publicise car club 

 

Private Hire and 
Hackney 
Carriage policy 
 

An age limit on licensed 
taxis and public hire 
vehicles 
 

Low 
Replaces older 
cars in the taxi  
fleet 

Social benefit - 
Improvement in 
taxi service for 
customers 

Low 3 

New vehicles under 36 
months, 45,000 miles. 
10 years or younger for 
renewal; change vehicle 
after 10 years 

Already in place. 

118



 

  

Strategy Measure Description 
Traffic/ 
AQ Impact 

Ancillary Effects Cost 

Cost 
effective

ness 
(see 

table a 
above) 

Comments 

Action 

 
Freight quality 
partnerships 
 

Voluntary agreements 
with significant local fleet 
managers to achieve set 
emission standards for 
delivery HDVs 
 

Low 
Improve/reduc
e HDV 
emissions 

 Low 3 

HDV ban on some roads 
to prevent through traffic 
to Docks i.e. John 
Kennedy Road near to 
‘Zoots’ 

None 

 
Infrastructure for 
cleaner fuels 
 

Creation of infrastructure 
for the delivery, storage 
and sale of non-
conventional fuels in 
order to encourage a 
switch towards 
alternative-fuelled 
vehicles in targeted fleets 
such as freight and or 
public transport 

Low  Low 3 

Need to review alternative 
fuel supply and use at 
some petrol filling stations 
(alternative fuels) 

Include in LES? 

 
Green 
procurement 
 

Improving the emissions 
performance of the 
council’s own fleet, the 
fleets of service providers 
via contract conditions or 
voluntary agreement 
 

Low Lead by example Low 3 

Green Travel Plan. 
Procurement policy. 

Include in LES? 

 
Eco-driving 
training 
 

Raising awareness of the 
techniques through which 
significant fuel savings 
can be achieved and 
hence to reduce 
emissions 
 

Low  Low 3 

Part of Smarter choices 
options package. 
Education/ advice  
 

Pilot in Green spaces 
department 

Include in LES? 

119



 

  

Strategy Measure Description 
Traffic/ 
AQ Impact 

Ancillary Effects Cost 

Cost 
effective

ness 
(see 

table a 
above) 

Comments 

Action 

Traffic 
Manageme
nt – 
Optimise 
how 
sources 
transit the 
AQMA 

Urban Traffic 
Control (UTC) 

Urban Traffic Control is 
typically used to co-
ordinate traffic signals to 
get traffic flowing through 
junctions as swiftly as 
possible. 

Medium.  
Intelligent use 
of signal timing 
could improve 
traffic flow and 
reducing 
idling, which 
contributes 
significantly to 
increased 
emissions. 

Possible 
reductions in 
congestion.  

Medium 4 

Requires NCC buy in 
 
Implemented in some 
locations 

Include in action plan 
measures 

 

Road layout and 
traffic 
management 
changes 

To change way traffic 
moves around a road 
network to improve traffic 
flows and reduce 
congestion. 

Low - High.  
Better 
movement and 
flow of traffic 
around the 
road network 
could lead to 
reductions in 
traffic 
congestion 
which would 
lower 
emissions 
from transport. 

Can be disruptive 
to implement. 
Improved road 
layout could 
reduce traffic 
congestion. 
 
Environmental 
improvements, 
noise reduction 

Medium -
High 

1-6 

Investigate and identify 
traffic management 
changes in the AQMA that 
could lead to 
improvements in air 
quality. 
 
Progress with NCC 

Include in action plan 
measures 

 
Speed control / 
regulation 

To reduce vehicle speeds 
through improved 
enforcement, lowering 
speed limits, or by 
introducing traffic calming 
measures. 

Neutral/Negati
ve.  
 

May reduce 
ambient noise 
levels and 
improve safety on 
a local level.  

Low 0 

Reductions in speed in 
general will lead to 
increased emissions from 
transport due to the loss of 
fuel economy at lower 
speeds. 

None. 

120



 

  

Strategy Measure Description 
Traffic/ 
AQ Impact 

Ancillary Effects Cost 

Cost 
effective

ness 
(see 

table a 
above) 

Comments 

Action 

 
High Occupancy 
Vehicle (HOV) 
Lanes 

HOV lanes are dedicated 
lanes that only allow 
utilisation by multiple 
occupancy vehicles, 
making it less congested 
and typically faster.  

Low.  
HOV lanes 
would 
encourage car 
sharing which 
could lead to a 
reduction in 
the total 
number of cars 
travelling at 
any given 
time. 

Often requires a 
significant amount 
of land. 

Medium 2 

HOV lanes have had 
considerable success in 
the USA at encouraging 
car sharing on motorways 
in California and 
Washington, D.C. 
The nature of the AQMAs 
declared is not conducive 
to HOV lanes. 

None.  

 
Congestion 
charging/ Tolls 

Installation of pay system 
for urban area at peak 
times 

Medium 

Can aid traffic 
management and 
improve 
environment for 
residents, visitors 
and workers 

High 2 

Has been successfully 
used in central London. 
Difficult and expensive to 
implement 

None 

 

Intelligent 
Transport 
Systems 
(Variable 
Message Signs - 
VMS) 

The introduction of 
variable message signs 
highlighting the number 
of available parking 
spaces and their location 
at strategic locations 
throughout.   

High 
Reduce the 
number of 
unnecessary 
vehicle 
movements 
and as a 
consequence 
reduce 
emissions. 

Reduced 
congestion and 
reduction in 
passenger journey 
time.  Only 
benefits car 
drivers. 

Medium 6 

Could be implemented. 
May need to be situated 
on County Council land so 
would need NCC buy in. 
No barriers currently at car 
park entrances so would 
need to be upgraded to 
enable vehicle counting. 

 Link to Borough Council’s 
Car Parking Policy. 
Include in action plan 
measures 

121



 

  

Strategy Measure Description 
Traffic/ 
AQ Impact 

Ancillary Effects Cost 

Cost 
effective

ness 
(see 

table a 
above) 

Comments 

Action 

 
Transhipment 
Centre 

Creation of a 
transhipment centre to 
consolidate freight 
deliveries and collections 
from businesses within 
King’s Lynn.  A low 
emission vehicle would 
then complete the 
deliveries from the depot 
to the shops. 

High. 
A 
transhipment 
centre has the 
potential to 
remove a large 
proportion of 
HGVs from the 
centre hence 
reducing 
harmful 
pollutants.   

A reduction in 
congestion and 
noise pollution.  
Will require land 
for construction of 
site. 

High 3 

A transhipment centre 
needs to be located in a 
strategically advantageous 
location on the outskirts of 
the town.  A centre would 
need to be situated close 
to other key interchange 
points such as a Park and 
Ride site. 

None 

Infrastruct
ure 
Improveme
nts 

Pedestrianisation 

Remove traffic entirely 
from a road or area and 
allow access to 
pedestrians and cyclists 
only. 

Low.  
Reduction in 
emissions 
generated 
from transport. 

Economic effects 
in pedestrian 
shopping areas 
can be either 
positive or 
negative. 

High 1 

Town centre part 
pedestrianised. May move 
traffic elsewhere 

None 

 
Improved cycling 
and walking 
provision 

The improvement of 
provision of space for 
walking and cycling such 
as cycle lanes and 
pavements. Provision of 
lighting to footpaths and 
cycleways 

Low.  
A modal shift 
towards 
cycling and 
walking will 
reduce harmful 
emissions 
from transport. 

Increases in 
cycling and 
walking could lead 
to health 
improvements. 

Low 3 

 

Include in action plan 
measures 

 Traffic Calming 

The installation of 
calming measures such 
as speed humps, to slow 
traffic down. 

Negative.  
Reduction in 
speed is less 
fuel efficiency, 
leading to 
increases in 
emissions. 

Traffic calming 
may have a 
positive effect on 
local safety. 

Medium 0 

 

None  

122



 

  

Strategy Measure Description 
Traffic/ 
AQ Impact 

Ancillary Effects Cost 

Cost 
effective

ness 
(see 

table a 
above) 

Comments 

Action 

 
Bypasses and 
road building 

A bypass or additional 
road may help reduce 
traffic flow through a 
particular area.  

Negative - 
Low.  
May lead to an 
overall 
increase in 
number of 
cars, as 
congestion 
may currently 
be 
suppressing 
demand, and a 
requisite 
increase in 
emissions. 

Possible reduction 
in congestion in 
and around King’s 
Lynn. 

High 0-1 

 

Consider schemes that may 
help reduce congestion 
around Town Centre as part 
of King’s Lynn ATS. 

 
New North South 
route 

Route joining the 
northern bypass with 
Lynnsport/Wootton Road 
area  

Medium in 
Gaywood 
clock area 

Possible reduction 
in congestion in 
and around King’s 
Lynn. 

High 2 

Could move traffic to 
currently traffic free area 

With NCC - investigate 
funding/feasibility for new 
route 

 
New North South 
route (partial) 

Route joining the 
northern bypass with 
Lynnsport/Marsh Lane 
area  

Medium 

Possible reduction 
in congestion in 
and around King’s 
Lynn. 

High 2 

Could move traffic to 
currently traffic free area 

With NCC - investigate 
funding/feasibility for new 
route 

Planning 
Development 
Plans (Strategic 
and Local) 

Through the choice of 
site, the development 
plan process can affect 
the amount of traffic 
generated by a 
development and the 
number of people who 
will use alternatives to 
the car. 

Low.  
Better land 
use planning 
should lead to 
air quality 
improvements. 

Could potentially 
restrict 
development in 
appropriate areas. 

Low 3 
Continue to assess land 
use based on its impact on 
local air quality. 

Include considerations in 
LES? 
Develop Development 
Management (DM) Policy 
Include in action plan 
measures 

123



 

  

Strategy Measure Description 
Traffic/ 
AQ Impact 

Ancillary Effects Cost 

Cost 
effective

ness 
(see 

table a 
above) 

Comments 

Action 

 

Supplementary 
planning 
guidance 
 

Creation of planning 
guidance that a) triggers 
detailed air quality 
assessments b) 
considers the cumulative 
impacts of development 
and c) sets out site 
operation conditions with 
the aim of significantly 
mitigating the emissions 
impacts of larger 
commercial or residential 
developments 

Low 
Clearer guidance 
for developers 

Low 3 

 

Following publication of 
the National Planning 
Policy Framework 
(NPPF) DCLG are 
reviewing all their 
planning guidance, 
including the plan-
making manual.  

The EP team provide 
comments on planning 
applications 

NEPG are developing 
technical guidance. 

A LES could perform a 

similar function 

Include in LES? 
Produce technical 
guidance 
Include in action plan 
measures 

 
Car-free 
residential 
development 

Developments with a 
restriction on owners or 
tenants owning cars. 
Introduce deliberate 
formal Planning policy 
designed to limit 
residential parking within 
the AQMA. 

Low None Low 3 

. 
Probably not main source 
of NO2. 

none 

 
Residents only 
parking 

Introduce areas where 
on-street parking is 
restricted to residents 
only. 

Low 

Improvement in 
environment and 
ease  of parking 
for residents 

Low 3 

Reduce stop-start 
journeys by commuters 
looking for free parking 
places 

Include in action plan 
measures 

124



 

  

Strategy Measure Description 
Traffic/ 
AQ Impact 

Ancillary Effects Cost 

Cost 
effective

ness 
(see 

table a 
above) 

Comments 

Action 

 
Lobby to 
influence 
national policy 

If KL and local partners 
cannot achieve the air 
quality objectives alone 
then the government to 
consider additional 
national policies such as 
further controls on 
industrial and vehicle 
emissions 

Low None Low 3 

To be considered as part 
of overall package 

Pursue through NEPG sub-
group 

 
Integrate AQAP 
into the LTP 
 

Integrate the Action Plan 
into the Council 
strategy/plan with the 
greatest potential to 
influence the dominant 
pollution source in a 
beneficial way 

Low-Medium  Low 3 

 

Pursue with NCC 

 
Low Emission 
Strategy (LES) 

Link LES and mitigation 
directly into development 
applications with or 

without AQ assessments. 

Low-Medium 

Can help 
minimise 
emissions from 
all 
developments. 

Low 3-6 

DEFRA funding available 
for development of 
Strategy. Successful 
examples being developed 
elsewhere 

Include in action plan 
measures if supported by 
steering group 

 

Car Parking 
provision 
improvement 
strategy  

Review routes and 
access to car parking and 
location of short and 
long-term parking. 
Smooth out traffic flow, 
reduce congestion and 
stop start driving. 
 

Medium 

Improve 
conditions for 
commuters. 
Improvement to 
King’s Lynn 
‘destination’ and 
trade for local 
businesses 

Low 6 

Consider  
- Decriminalisation 

& civil parking 
enforcement 

- Car parking 
capacity/balance 

- Town centre 
regeneration 
needs 

 

Include in action plan 
measures 

 
 

125



 

  

 

126



Environment Act 1995 Part IV Section 83(1)

Breckland District Council

Air Quality Management Area Order

Breckland District Council, in exercise of the powers conferred upon it by Section 83(1) of the 
Environment Act 1995, hereby makes the following Order.

This Order may be referred to as the Breckland District Council Air Quality Management Area 
Number 2 Order 2017 and shall come into effect on 1st May 2017.

The area designated is shown outlined on the attached map (Reference SAQMA2) , centred on the 
junction of Station Street, Mangate Street, the A1065 Market Place and Lynn Street.  The area extends 
north as far as the junction with Spinners Lane and south as far as and including, the roundabout at the 
junction with London Street / Market Place.  This area described is hereby designated.

The map may be viewed online at www.breckland.gov.uk.

The area is designated in relation to breaches of the NO2 Annual Mean objective on Station Street as 
specified in the Air Quality (England) Regulations 2015.  This Order shall remain in force until it is 
varied or revoked by a subsequent Order.

The common seal of Breckland District Council was hereto affixed on

And signed on behalf of the said Council:-

127

http://www.breckland.gov.uk/


Reference SAQMA2

128



Swaffham Air Quality – Communications Plan

The declaration of an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) doesn’t mean a halt on development in 
that community.  The purpose is to improve air quality in a designated area, with a view to reducing 
potential impacts on human health and the environment.  This is a positive thing.  Improved air 
quality has a positive impact on the local environment within the AQMA itself, but can also have 
wider positive impacts on a local community through improving traffic flow, improved or more 
accessible public transport, improved or more accessible alternative transport options such as for 
cyclists and pedestrians, improved community engagement such as through schools and local 
businesses, to achieve positive outcomes for the community.  This may have wider positive impacts 
on the community as a place to live in, work in or visit.

Local issues, whist not severe compared to many locations on the major road networks and within 
cities and large towns, do need to be addressed to meet air quality objectives and to avoid any further 
reduction in air quality in the future.  New vehicles are getting cleaner, however numbers of vehicles 
continue to increase and whilst over time local air quality may improve due to improvements in 
technology and the type of vehicles on the road, early intervention is needed to help drive positive 
change. 

It does require that planning applications that relate to land or premises within the designated AQMA, 
or that might affect the AQMA, take account of the issues affecting the designated area.  Applicants 
will be asked to demonstrate that they’ve considered the impact of their development on the AQMA 
and where appropriate have considered and offered suitable mitigation measures to reduce the impact.  
In doing so they’ll need to take account of the air quality action plan for the designated area and any 
other relevant policies or plans relating to the area, which will include such as local transport plans.

An air quality action plan will be developed, in consultation with relevant stakeholders, during the 
first 12 months after declaration of an AQMA.  The action plan will detail measures to be considered, 
developed and implemented with the aim of improving air quality in a designated area.  This plan is 
submitted to the Department for the Environment, Food Rural Affairs, is published locally and results 
in further ongoing assessment to monitor progress against the action plan.

The declaration of an AQMA can, in certain circumstances, attract funding from central government 
on a case by case basis to assist the process.  Additionally, declaration of an AQMA requires relevant 
agencies to work together with a common goal of improving air quality, for example around transport 
planning.

The Council will communicate with the community regarding an AQMA through the following 
means:-

- Engagement with Elected Members through the approval process;
- Engagement with local Elected Members as appropriate outside of the approval process;
- By publishing relevant information on the air quality pages of the Council website, linked to 

the relevant planning web-pages;
- Engagement with local Town and Parish Councils as appropriate;
- Community information and engagement through publishing in local media, local meetings, 

focus groups and consultation in respect of an air quality action plan;
- The provision of information to schools and other organised community groups.

Throughout the process the focus will be on the positive benefits of and intended outcomes from, the 
AQMA process and a consistent message will be relayed across media platforms.

129



PROFORMA B

This appraisal is valid for 1 month from issue date
If there are changes to the original report it may invalidate this document & must be reviewed by Finance.

13/03/2017 Page 1 of 1
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\0\8\AI00025800\$c3

qdybt1.doc

BRECKLAND COUNCIL FINANCIAL COMMENTS & APPRAISAL

THIS DOCUMENT PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
 IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED REPORT

FROM: Mandy Chenery, Senior Accountant (Revenue & Projects)
REPORT: Air Quality Management
REPORT DATE: 25 January 2017

£ Year 1 £ Year 2 £ Year 3 £ Year 4
2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Revenue
Income

- - - -
Costs
Salary Costs 13,970 2,830 - -
Total Revenue 13,970 2,830 - -

Capital
Income
N/A (-) (-) (-)
Costs
N/A - - -
Total Capital - - -
Considered By: EMT
Date: 30-01-2017

Financial Services Comments
This report requests approval to employ 0.5 FTE to backfill the position that will carry out the Air 
Quality Management work required detailed in the report. 

The table above shows budgeted costs for a mid-point 0.5 FTE grade 8.  The position will 
overlap 2 financial years due to the start date being end of May 2017.

Financial Risk
This is a statutory requirement and the costs of the additional resource could be funded from 
the Organisational Development reserve (unallocated balance as at end of December 2017 
£1.210m) or the resource will become a budget pressure to the Council. 

130



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of: Paul Claussen, Executive Member Place and Rob Walker, Executive Director 

Place 
 
To: Cabinet  21 March 2017 
 
(Author: Steve James, Communities & Environmental Services Manager) 
 
Subject: The implementation of Public Space Protection Orders in the market towns 

of Breckland 
 
Purpose: To brief Members on the process to implement a Public Space Protection 

Order (PSPO) and seek approval to consult on the terms of PSPOs for the 
market towns of Breckland. 

 

 
Recommendation(s):  
 
1) That the Council proceed with the necessary consultation on the introduction of Public Space 

Protection Orders for the five market towns of Breckland. 
 
2) That the first round of consultation be in respect of Thetford town centre. 
 

 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 A PSPO is a provision created by the Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 

(The Act) which is intended to deal with a particular nuisance or problem in a defined area 
that is detrimental to the local community’s quality of life, by imposing conditions on the use 
of that area which will apply to everyone. The power to make a PSPO rests with the local 
authority in consultation with the Police, Police and Crime Commissioner and other relevant 
bodies or individuals who may be impacted. 

 
1.2 The aim of the power is to stop individuals or groups committing anti-social behaviour in 

public spaces.  Restrictions and requirements can be placed on an area where activities 
have or are likely to have a detrimental effect on the quality of life of local people, is 
persistent or continuing in nature and is unreasonable 
 

1.3 Enforcement can be undertaken by a Police Officer, a Police Community Support Officer, a 
designated Council Officer and employees of other designated organisations.  Breach of a 
requirement to desist in a particular prohibited activity is a criminal offence which can result 
in a Fixed Penalty Notice of up to £100, or a Level 3 fine of up to £1000 on prosecution. 
Being the enforcing authority the cost of prosecuting is with the Council. 

 
1.4 The potential use of a PSPO appears to be very broad and flexible to allow a Council to 

cover individual circumstances in its area.  A PSPO can also cover multiple restrictions so 
one order could for example prohibit such activities as the drinking of alcohol in a public 
place and urinating in a public place.  In regards to alcohol restrictions, it is not an offence 
to drink alcohol in a controlled drinking zone. However, it is an offence to fail to comply with 
a request to cease drinking or surrender alcohol in a controlled drinking zone. This is also 
liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 2 (£500) on the standard scale. If 
alcohol is confiscated, it can be disposed of by the person who confiscates it. 

 
1.5 The Council can make a PSPO on any public space within its own area.  The definition of 

131

Agenda Item 11



public space is wide and includes any place to which the public or any section of the public 
has access on payment or otherwise, as of right or by virtue of express or implied 
permission, for example a shopping precinct or public car parks.  The maximum length of a 
PSPO is three years, but it can be reviewed at any time. 
 

1.6 The legislation allows the PSPO to be framed in such a way that it does not necessarily 
apply in all circumstances and can be worded in such a way that it only applies at certain 
times of the day or over specific dates, or that it applies all times except specific times or 
dates (such as when a festival is on).  
 

1.7 Currently there is in existence, in the five market towns of Breckland, Designated Public 
Place Orders (DPPO), known locally as ‘alcohol exclusion zones’ which restrict the 
consumption of alcohol to premises covered by a licence under the Licencing Act. These 
orders enable a Police Officer to confiscate alcohol if they believe it is, or could be, a 
contributing factor in public disorder.  These orders have assisted with limiting anti-social 
behaviour linked to drinking in public. 
 

1.8 The Act requires a DPPO to be replaced by a PSPO within three years of their repeal in 
October 2014; at this point they will automatically transfer to a PSPO without the need for 
any additional action on the part of the Council.  Therefore, we consider it timely to review 
the current DPPOs with a view to enacting a new PSPO in each of the five market towns. 
 

1.9 We could simply replicate the existing alcohol prohibitions but it is a good opportunity to 
consider what other restrictions might be introduced to combat any other forms of anti-
social behaviour detrimental to the quality of life of residents and visitors and which is 
persistent and continuing in nature in the respective town centres. 
 

1.10 Norfolk Constabulary is supportive of the proposal to consult on the transfer of DPPOs to 
become PSPOs across the District ensuring that any amendments are evidenced and 
proportionate.  Their evidence indicates that Thetford should be the first area for 
consultation, with Watton being the second.  Further consultation in the remaining towns 
will be prioritised based on evidence of need. 

 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1 Do nothing. This will mean that the existing DPPOs in the market towns will remain in place 

until 20th October 2017.  At this point they will automatically transfer to a PSPO.  This is not 
a recommended option as the Council should demonstrate good practice and consider all 
available powers including its discretionary responsibility to respond to anti-social behaviour 
using the powers under the Act. 

 
2.2 Carry out the consultation process as required by statute to enable the Council to ascertain 

and understand the types of complaints and issues that are being experienced by residents 
and visitors to our market towns and to gather evidence to support any future 
implementation of PSPOs.  Best practice from other areas that have implemented PSPOs 
suggests that the consultation period should last for four weeks and allow online and written 
submissions. 

 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
3.1 The consultation exercise will assist the Council in considering: 
 

 If there are specific problems caused by particular ongoing activities, for example, 
street drinking, urination and defecation in the street. 

 What action needs to be taken by agencies to address the problem. 

132



 
3.2     As Thetford is the town with highest incidence of anti-social behaviour it is recommended 

that this be the first area for consultation.   
 
 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1 By going to consultation the Council will ascertain the type and frequency of anti-social 

behaviour that members of the public are experiencing in our town centres. 
 

4.2 Responding appropriately to the results of the consultation and investigating the issues 
raised will demonstrate the Council’s commitment to addressing the concerns around 
reducing and preventing crime and protecting the community and environment of our town 
centres.  

 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues 
 
5.1.1 The introduction of PSPO’s will help protect the natural environment which currently 

experience incidents of anti-social behaviour. 
 
5.2 Constitution & Legal 
 
5.2.1 In order that the Council can make a future decision about whether to proceed to a new 

PSPO, the Act states that ‘necessary consultation’ must be undertaken before a PSPO is 
introduced. 
 

5.2.2 The Act defines ‘necessary consultation’ as consulting with: 
 

 The Chief Officer of Police and the local Policing body, for the Police area that 
includes the restricted area; 

 Whatever community representations the local authority thinks it appropriate to 
consult; 

 The owner or occupier of land within the restricted area [as far as is practicable]. 
 
5.2.3   The purpose of the consultation is to ascertain and understand the types of complaints and 

anti-social behaviour issues that are being experienced. 
 

5.3 Contracts 
 
5.3.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 

 
5.4 Corporate Priorities 
 
5.4.1 The recommendations in this report contribute to the following Council Priorities and 

Objectives: 
 

 Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive 

 Work together with partners and local communities to make public spaces cleaner, 
greener and safer 

 Work with our partners to reduce and prevent crime and anti-social behaviour and 
protect the community and environment 

 

133



5.5 Crime and Disorder  
 
5.5.1 Anti-social behaviour covers a variety of unacceptable activities that affect community life 

and the life of individuals and families.  The introduction of PSPO’s across our market 
towns has the potential to deliver significant positive community impact if enforced to their 
full potential. 

 
5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights 
 
5.6.1 The formal consultation will evidence the requirement to prohibit activities that have a 

detrimental impact on the quality of life of the community and will be applied to all.  
Consideration will be given to what activities are prohibited, where the restrictions will apply 
and what times they will apply in order to ensure that the human rights of individuals are not 
breached. 
 

5.7 Financial  
 
5.7.1 To proceed with the consultation exercise required for a PSPO would have financial 

implications in both Officer time and media/publicity materials.  Should we implement 
PSPOs there would be financial implications in terms of signage but this will be funded from 
existing budgets.  

 
5.8 Health & Wellbeing 
 
5.8.1 The consultation will evidence the type and location of incidences of anti-social which would 

likely be having an impact on the health and wellbeing of individuals and the community.  
Prohibiting such activities would therefore improve this. 

 
5.9 Risk Management  
 
5.9.1 Ensuring that a comprehensive consultation exercise is undertaken would reduce the risk 

that the Council would face legal challenge should it look to implement PSPOs in the future. 
 

5.10 Safeguarding 
 
5.10.1 Those individuals who may be in breach of a PSPO may be ‘vulnerable’ with their own 

needs.  Additional support as well as enforcement may be needed on some occasions. 
 
5.11 Staffing 
 
5.11.1 It is likely that undertaking a formal consultation exercise will require Officer time to 

coordinate, it is anticipated that support will be required from Communications Team. 
  
5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales 
 
5.12.1 Details of the consultation as defined by the Act are contained within the report.  PSPOs 

that have been consulted on in other areas, such as North Norfolk District Council have 
used both on line and paper based options and have been open for a period of 4 weeks. 

 
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 The PSPO has the potential to affect a number of Wards in Thetford. 
 
 
 

134



7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1 Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 – The Act 

Public Space Protection Order – PSPO 
Designated Public Place Order – DPPO 

 
 
 

Background papers:-  

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:  Steve James, Communities & Environmental Services Manager 
Telephone Number: 01362 656306 
Email: Stephen.james@breckland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision:  No  
 
Exempt Decision: No 
 
This report refers to a Mandatory Service  
 
  
 

135



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Gordon Bambridge, Executive Member for Growth

To: Cabinet  21st March 2017

Author: Susan Heinrich, Neighbourhood Planning Co-Ordinator

Subject: Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan - examination, inspection and next steps 

Purpose: To update Members on the progress of the Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan 
examination, inspectors report and next steps 

Recommendation(s):

1. To note the content of this report for information.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Localism Act 2011 introduced the notion of Neighbourhood Planning.  This includes the 
option for Town and Parish Council’s to prepare statutory Neighbourhood Plan, which sets 
out a vision, objectives, policies and proposals to guide the future development of their local 
area.

1.2 When “made” (adopted) by Breckland Council as the Local Planning Authority, the 
Neighbourhood Plan has the status of “Development Plan”, and therefore will need to be 
taken into account when making decisions on planning applications in the local area.  The 
preparation of Neighbourhood Plans is subject to the provisions of the Localism Act and 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended).

Independent Examination of Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan

1.3 In November 2016, Breckland Council appointed Richard High BA MA MRTPI, with the 
agreement of Yaxham Parish Council, to commence an independent examination of the 
Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan.  This needed to consider the “basic conditions” and legal 
requirements in relation to the Neighbourhood plan by producing a report on their findings.

1.4 The “basic conditions” concern; the need to consider national policies and advice in 
guidance issued by the Secretary of State; whether the Neighbourhood Plan 
contributes to sustainable development and is “general conformity with the strategic 
policies contained in the development plan for the area of the authority”, and does not 
breach EU obligations.

1.5 The Examiner initially found that Consultation Statement “contains no information on the 
responses received and the reaction to them from local residents, either in full or in 
summary form.  In this respect it fails to meet the requirements of regulation 12 (2) (c) and 
(d).”   This requires that the statement “(c) summarises the main issues and concerns 
raised by the persons consulted; and (d) describes how these issues and concerns have 
been considered and where relevant, addressed in the proposed neighbourhood 
development plan”.

1.6 The Examiner requested that this information should be inserted into a revised Consultation 

136

Agenda Item 12



Statement and be publicised in accordance with regulation 16 for a period of 6 weeks.  This 
was carried out between 12th January 2017 and 22nd February 2017 

1.7 In addition to this he found that the proposed Strategic Gap policy (STRT1) was a “… far 
reaching policy which I concluded required a hearing to address the justification for both the 
concept and the detail of the three strategic gaps proposed.”  

1.8 A hearing was originally organised for the 17th January 2017 to discuss this matter, but due 
to the Examiner becoming ill, this was reorganised and was eventually held on the 21st 
February.  

1.9 His report on the examination was issued on the 8th March 2017 and concluded that a 
number of modifications were required to make the Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan meet the 
“basic conditions” (Section 8, schedule 4B, Town and Country Planning Act 1990) and 
proceed to a public referendum.

1.10 The most significant of these modifications was an amendment to policy STRT1.  The 
Strategic Gap (1) on the map (Appendix 4) has been considerably reduced to lie just 
between the north of Yaxham and south of Dereham, south of the River Tud.  For Strategic 
Gap 2 & 3 he found that the same approach be taken and have “a policy to maintain the 
separateness of the two settlements without the definition of a specific area”.  The Parish 
Council and other interested parties were able to participate in the hearing in relation to this 
matter.  The Examiner’s report in relation to this matter aligns with the discussion at the 
hearing. 

1.11 The Examiner recommends further amendments to 11 other policies to “ensure that the 
wording gives sufficient guidance to decision makers to enable them to apply the policies 
consistently”. 

Consideration of modifications and whether the Neighbourhood Plan meets the 
“basic conditions”

1.12 Breckland Council has considered each of the individual modifications, and the reasons for 
them.  It is considered that the changes are reasonable and proportionate, and therefore it 
is appropriate to make these modifications to the draft plan referred to Appendix A (The 
Examiners Report), as well as minor correcting errors, as permitted by the 1990 Town and 
Country Planning Act schedule 4B, section 12, para (6)(e).  These have been agreed as a 
Leaders decision.

1.13 In agreeing these changes, the decision considered that the Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan 
met the “basic conditions” as outlined by the Examiner (para 21 - 41) and required by the 
Regulations.

1.14 It was considered necessary to progress the consideration of the examiner’s report and 
assessment of the basic conditions as a Leader’s decision in order to ensure that the plan 
can proceed to the referendum stage at the earliest opportunity without delay. 

Next steps

1.15 As the plan is considered to meet the “basic conditions” as outlined above, the next steps 
are to make the arrangements to hold the referendum on the plan. 

1.16 The key milestones for the referendum are proposed the 22nd March 2017 for publishing 
the Information Statement and Specified Documents, 27th March for the publication of the 
Notice of Referendum and 4th May for the Day of Poll.

137



2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 There are no options for members to consider as the report is for information only.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 It is recommended that members note the contents of this report and are aware of the 
process and next steps.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Being aware of the next stages will enable Breckland Council to be sighted on the progress 
of the Neighbourhood Plan as it moves towards its final stages (referendum and ‘making’ 
the plan).

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 Whilst there are no direct legal implications arising from this report, the modifications for the 
Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan, have been recommended by an independent examiner 
under section 10, schedule 4B of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act.  These 
modifications have considered, and in light of them, are satisfied that they meet the “basic 
conditions” as required by section 12, schedule 4B of the 1990 Town and Country Planning 
Act and referendum must therefore be held.

5.3 Contracts

5.1.2  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 The Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan meets the following corporate priorities:
 Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive
 Developing the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth
 Enabling stronger, more independent communities.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

138



5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 This report has indirect financial implications in respect of arranging a referendum. 
However, the costs of these falls within existing service budgets, and can be retrospectively 
covered through the Communities and Local Government burdens funding arrangements.  

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.9 Risk Management 

5.9.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.10 Safeguarding

5.10.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.11 Staffing

5.11.1 There are no direct staffing implications as a result of this report. 

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1 The timescales for the publication of the next stages of the process (the referendum) are 
subject to separate legislation.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 Mattishall Ward (in respect of Yaxham Parish).

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Susan Heinrich, Neighbourhood Planning Co-Ordinator
Telephone Number: 01362 656841
Email: Susan.Heinrich@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A The Report by the Independent Examiner on Yaxham 

Neighbourhood Plan 

139

%5CBCF01Democratic%20ServicesCommitteeCommitteeReport%20Guide2014THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc

	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	8 Unsightly Sites Report
	9 Q3 Performance report
	Appendix A - Q3 Performance report

	10 Swaffham Air Quality Report
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix E

	11 Public Space Protection Orders
	12 Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan

